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T T A sie R arfder
CIPECET
2aYTETE, 20 9T, 2024

A ST A ik Rwm it (famratst & faifas, BT i Rea w ) R, 2024
w1, §. wr.at. & R /RAfRa/10/204/2024 —r stfafas, 1938 (1938 7 4) &t =T 1147
FT IT-GTT (2) F @e=T (W), (TH), (M), (AL0), (ArEHD), (AT2), (I2), (STE0), (L) A (FSTAT) o1
T 11, 13, 20, 27, 27T, 274, 27T, 2721, 28, 9T 29 FT IT-4TT (3) F G (1), &TT 49, 643T, ¥
64Tt wa i\ AfF=mmT e e arfaemr sfafaam, 1999 (1999 &1 41) Ft amTsl 14 #i¥ 26 T
gad Rl FT TART Fd g0, TTEHT0T, ST qATghie GH{d & q120 Al Fd % a7e, TH6 g0
Referfed At a7 8, st

FeATg-1
IR RED

Hfera T, TESIAT S TIA:

(1) ¥ fafRaw areda Srar B sie e srfesror (frarewatst & i, B siv e
wr) fafe=w, 2024 FzaTim|

(2) T AR g T | TE TR T T T qqET 1 s 2024 ¥, S AT 918 H
EEREAN

2226 G1/2024 1)
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(3) I FAfH=w THATT T I AT HAET § A gU S ATl Aigd, THT SrHTHATSA & 0
AN B, T o o seram AfAfEe 7 20

(4) == A=y o wehrarT Y aE ¥ T AF A9 g9 § gt qHiET i SToy, Se a9 o T
T, fAvEe srorar Hves v SAFeTHar TE Tgd 7 gl

2. 3Ige: =4 fAfFaHT F wer szey Mwtertea it gt =T g &

(1) fraifee, o siw Faer w7 F yarEt Aagr siv @y F oo qee s satrandie &
FT waTd AN 2Y, A arfeaat siv 3=arst w1 gearwd, fAfaamms R, ama fEaw,
STRT-Z7aT woe, AT, faer s Srfem-yee F & onfAe §, 95q S A el aF
Hfoa T2 2,

(2) fafRamms et dwrwat fi aifeafa w1 vF 92t siw Feaer e g +@ F orw anrp
AT, forgiat i A1t 3 srqam &= & 9 s giva i 9,

(3) TTfereTermTaht * 2ot =T dweror T ST qor

(4) FTAATT FIA T GIHAT I AT FATAT SATTY

3. gRTeTd:

1) == TATH==T #, ST T% 929 & w47 AUTeT 7 2
() “srfafRe & ar s, 1938 (1938 #7 4) afena 2;

(i) “dHITHF FAGR AWF T AAT S HHH GEATT FET AT (63 T AT & JATHH
v ARTaSfT Arew st €

(iii) “sfriews” 7 a7 ferfaae, 1938 # ey 2(1) & Femafrariig Hatws afm 2;

(iv) “stfarerzor & fiur AfFams s G arfesreor sifafaam, 1999 (1999 =1 41) #i
T 3 T IT-RT (1) F Nefi= wviog waredy S EfRemmE i FeEe e
AT T,

(v) “SUASH MeH-HAT AT | AT g

Siree STRat F " |, =4 AR F o ARy w=iwEar F qeEst F
eI, v sweferg et qor arferdtement T et it [Afeat & e |
Srfersh aTierelteTeaht 3 AaTeTant Hf Afert | Iuerse Arfeqat & qog &7 i,

AL [HTHRAT AT TAET ARGl & A 0, 34 [AFgEt F @ ARt

AT F wrest Aefi|, T Faret 99T arfere TRt T qETdTRt fir
faferat &t orex TIaren T wfgs oot s dEearewt v [fea § Sueey
ATTETAT 3 T T ATTEHT;

TATATHRAT & AT §, 34 At F satq Afafde wfiwmear F aeeet F o,
wford smefera fAfeay, aeatehr Taarett dur arferaaTenmt 1 ST IRt v
et & stfaes arferftameat =iz et f et § uersy sriFagi & qea 7
arferaT;

(Vi) “TEAT ITTERTEY | oo




[T Hl—&vs 4]

HILT T TSI AHTYTL 3

(vii)

(vii)

(xii)

(xii)

(xiv)

CIEEREEREN

(@) TAT QUiETTer® qEeT AT QOIS Gaedl l Vel FHfd 3T JTIEHr &1 (F)
THT(TF) AT ST B srewer % gy Fatha G s awar & (G s e
)

“TTYTLOT SATshar & fafaad & qRaTod 9 § aregmer 97 S99 FEaarl
EIGIETIE IR F i

“Straer SfrmTRar” T srfarfeay & afearoa 9 8§ Sfaw |11 s5aqm ™ S arer sarndr
AT &;

‘IO e Hfert” | Stad AT (TAS197) SFAGETT 6l Gt J7 Giaarst &
ST T IeTeh Hael H Iqo gearet aqaral (37 gs <aqrett a=r T arfer T & daer
H STHT 927 (9) ST F 3T gIAaTeAl aFqren 1 grehe, o grer @At
BT ALATS & OTH Feg (A STHT 61 SATAT &) T FaT FA & forg 29 fafqagat +
FE FaiRa sraem sty g, S9H S adt e & Yiaga = & o
O YT o §, U SAH AT 8 3T ST had el a@ HIHd dal & 9o 3T
FEAEAAT 3Y; ATH T2, 5519 I¢ S AF; TAT AT 6 JoFiawd | a7 797 F°le
LA IECIER

St et smefera [Afar (Hrem) & s fifeay sl Ffer 3 sfae arfa

setera fAfer s g, ST uET foRet weamerm it sqafa <qt g & s st
aetera Afer srawme stfew Y erafy F e B 73 2rat i) =53 7 9 F°7 F97
A o forT sty g,

“STOTerd STTerd-eTHaT |risie” & AT stterf==H, 1938 & &M<T 6 & FA(q aard T &
H g Ot & Tfer F aw = afaed F qdfiv vy ®v § == et i
FEAT-1 % 07 1 IT 907 1V 7 907V F siaiiq AT Aiae aiih & ST TOier sTrsa

&

“QTET-70aT AT F SAUTST QTA-87AT AT l ol | Sued SE-graaT
AT T ST ATHIT &5

“TEhdehl JFATY & AT ATHT (TASHT) FAEE AIaT Tareed J497 (A1)
FEATT i ATATEIT T AT % Fqd 7 390 Had H T gIare <aqrali il
FAL T & o0 = BRI F aqan Fyiia yEae gt § S fmitEs
AT & THT AT & TG (a=aadl & o1y [&afre Jraeme ot g;

“sreforg fREw aefera [fe” (dftem) & sifea A= & 39 9rr &1 FAstoa
FIAATAT AT ATHIT & ST ILAAT AGThed AATATT o HILOT g 3T 39 ATy &l

arafed it ATt
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(2) =7 fafR=st & we sfiw srafveiua, oiq SmT afaf=w, 1938 (1938 =1 4), sar T

AT s s srtareRor stfarfear, 1999 (1999 T 41) 3rJaET I+ Fefi a1 T
et et = Rt & afvarfoa asft ersdt i sifSrerfeat & sof =t 2 S wFmen: s+
srterfaaat, srerar et srerar fAfRat & s foro Ratha e )

reag-li

Frifers, e iz fAaer Ft * oo antesft R

4. drRater F Swifew, B i Raw w51 F 1 AR s@eae e

(1) wforfir sefera fAfaat sroem aadr 3amd, S| Rufy g, qae Swites Rgar
AT B,

2) FTHTHAT T TET-LTHAT HIFST 2% THT FF F FH7 =07 T2 92 giafsra G s,

3) faht= fEa=or dmmrar &t =i fufa &1 agr i Fower = AT ¢

4) Tofe=t 7 FRerer =&y foraT StTo o anfere et &t a7ane s ot 3 f, T & A7,

5) &iteRa, foer s fAerer & e & forw STl & 919 ST 3T 9I7H SETe 3T g

5. dHTRal i a8 srgeifeq dfaat

ArATRAT AT, & o7 Rerer Ft & &= F [t weaaret Afaat TR F57 S8 =GRSy
e faawer 294, srfeq-aaar vay, e siw Sifaw gag S [fgaq Heers e grr d9e@r
AT | TATT U 7@ & ATeqH | [T AT HaqT § a7 g5 faaeft F91 % ATl § a4 @
FATHRRT TATT F FIRT ATAIT Bl

6. ITIH  ATATEh, TATHAT A= T o T Hafad Suee F7 I &

(
(
(
(

(1) STTEA-: FHiTHS w1

(2) gEAT-Il: O

(3) - faser ek

(4) ATLA-IV: FAT FOfETT gRT =0 37 A
(5) ATEAT-V: faa ot &1 fAdreror sfiw smqfd



[(TT Hl—@TE 4] BIESEEIRISEE S SR 5

sreaT-ll
EIEL]

7. ofgs, fRemfAcer ik fMeer S w3 it af~e
e e quT-a9 9 == AfFaat & gefea oo, A siv Rer St < a96ar g,
T3 sraea gi, RBaw oA g uiq ST Fae Teai aF HIHd Jal g, @19 qreq (e writee) wfafa,
A Awies & "ag § A "ee, At qEdtaT g, fiwites e s arer F 9
TEqT o STaTe feawont & daer § YT 6 STt feeqa 9T, Stad ST, Sremr ST,
TATES AHT T qAAHT, ST @0 21, & "qag W fheel w7 srfaftes wEt a1 Gawnt #71
AT
8. FATIAT W FA F 1T SASIHTON AT FA HT T
za fafaemt & et oft Suser i g e a1 et d-fAty e ® Soae graardt et oft sir
SAAT FISATS T §T FIA 6 [T TETH TTEHT ST Wl Aa9TF &7 T ITLH TTSHL0T AT FT
qHaT gl
9. =
(1) ¥ fafaem == A= 99w g & arire ° [Rufefag &feet wr e w30
F. AT ST GAfeammE siw fGEm wfgwr (st fimr sraam % o fmitrs
R i | fafem, 2016 7 et gone;
g, AT 9T e i fEeme srieeor (srferery & feaeon) fBfaam, 2002;
T, AT ST AfAamEE & s srieeer (Shas ST sraar #i sufeaat, aaand
T STre=-aar Arrer) fAfHae, 2016;
T, AT T AR i fEeme srieeRor (Fremor ST sraar St arfeaat, saard
ST erre-erAar qrior) FfFae, 2016 i sracdT dere;
T, WA ST ARETEE & A st (R Swiees) Bfaa, 2022;
F. AT ST B oY B arteer (Feern) =T, 2016;
. AT ST BT i A srresr (ST At & B oEwr s omEr-
Teres o e aAT FweA) fafRew, 2002 37 st g9,
ST, A ST AfamE s G artesmr (Fdar siw Eefmn & afoat &
argfe & forw green) fafam, 2015;
. AT A7 BT e e arteewor (Srarwdatsti & quisTiers FHETEt FiT
T et et o) fAafeaw, 2016.
(2) o= Iuey s Fuv fAfRaw 9 F su-fAffew (1) ¥ davra sfeatea R & femme o s e
fafaat § Sfeafea a8t 8, =7 ARt & @R 7 % suag & siata sy 36 03 i & ger
FT ¥ 2 ST

Zarefi queT, sreaer
[FarsTTa=-111/4/2747./865/2023-24]
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g -1: SrwifEs w1

T |; gfsmaTd
1. QME™:
(1) “sTefrT S| e’ | S|ws Ata=ad, 2006 (2006 FT 35) it 4m=T 3 = Fefie worfua

aifafas e s 2;

(2) “geaied faars” & ot «ft geaisd & dag ¥ ag fAiE e g 579 gedisd 6T Sar &;
(3) “ATITOTT: AT FT HaTHl” & AFA-FT AT=AH, 1961 F AL TATUT AT T Harer

AT 2

2. sfiaw fimmratst % forg sy o

(1)

(7)

(8)

(13)

“sifafer it & wrees it 0 & oeaer f3a § et Y @ Sifew & e
AT ST TFIIWE & [T Sgid TAT A7 S Jfe T §;

“HTe® A" | JAheh AG9T 8 3q¥ A9 AT &

“TTEFEAT” & ATAT SrrET SHTHAAT a7 TAT | Fateq od A9 8, fos arferft it srater
& Z TS IRadT qgl o Sro;

‘IR FAETT” | Tl T H<h S(TAT o ST I AT 6f T5 G <k o 9T Siaard sy
&

“STAT AT AATe” | FAATHAT AT AETAT ST ITATH 5 IT B8 ST ToATRAT o AT
& srafer st 2;

“qfeagar faaiw” & ag g G AT g S aRugwar a9 997 €9 § 7 SArheds aie
9T 3T B 9T g

“HHHEAAY I STaT “ATHAT § HgATRET § Ted qierfegl” & o qrieeat ST g s
et srfererer am fregt st & Foret stor 3 forg oy =21 €;

“ATA T ATTH el | TR T raal % 9T ATeyd 6,

“Taered” & TohelT OTforelt o sfavia ITfereemeh & for Iaerser sTfeenTe i ¢,

“FHH TR AT “ATAT § TEATRAT § b aTeradl” & F qriertadt Sfssd § St &Hr
STferT==e, 1938 &l &T<T 49 o SATHTT TTICTET =l STaTer o I STTLAT AT ATHT | 397 & forw
T &

ATHAT § AT AZATRIAT | <6 ATt & F qriertergt s 8 S arferet & I &
AT & U Afera srafdr & are et § ggariar & org o €;

FEARIT qICETeE: § “OAed ITeeEl T “|ardl § efia agariar 9 I6
TR % emea ATod 2;

“STRET AT srate” & ag srater Aissd g e 2 SHaw <F 2,



[(TT Hl—@TE 4] BIESEEIRISEE S SR 7

(14) “grferelt @Tq” & IREdT GG HGTT S TRad] THag HAaHT & FAd T TIieret &
foro et st 2;

(15) “Strtem 97 iy freft oft sw arfordt % "ey § urferdt i (riordr srterg ffat) & gemr
H {aTiiedT @t afgd Aratds sErEE & 9 H g AT G qe T srhfRadar & w1 3F
ATHT T AT 7'}

K8

{Fa< #¥ TS G AT Fheft o7 ATR{EHeRdT U 3T UHHLT AT}
T SIE

T AT

3. T AHTFHATEA *F g AL

(1) “sTafed g THIANE 207 (TUAUS)” <190 | H&fdd =47 ¢ o Toger &9 ¥ freft faforg am=
FIL &;

(2) ‘“TET Teeft sreterg Mt & 39 gvat ¥ getaq st et (Ree) sfssm € St qeaiea
&1 qrirE At Rafq % dqa™ 9= g 7fed a1 T4 &;

(3) “SUT U=q TATH & | i=d 7 & M5 (A TASAR) Aera Wit ¥ o swefera [Afeat
(R=9) At € ST uueus, afg & 21, digd gia T T @l & Sqa=r § e
TRada =i Fdt €,

(4) ST e G A A AL AT (M) svte gt § A, o e
FEE % o A, ST aeeq gieEa T 5 T3 qmEt F o yraene, geatea i i i
ATTET TTET & 70 ITaeT i Tuaus 9 o,

(5) “@wmET FMET stera et (suw Re@)” & tuaus afgq geaisd & g & faf &
FTET g 6 T aeft aohrar 2at & dag § AT T IEgT At §;

(6) “sTEHTH Sfew srfera [t ¥ sty Stawr & oo aaarstt § "@6tda a9 a9

i sefera [ (qftem) s St w1t smefera f[{fg () F S v =0 d
Retia smefera Mfdat sfeoa 2

AT |I: fAgee fwisws

1. g Swiws f Fghe:
AT & AT AT T 6 10 GSMgd SHTHAT T80 TIARET 6 ATHIGT G2 T S (Heh hl
TAgRE F, ST AT H=H % TS & (o ‘s S & FT § ST S

2. g Frwiws 6 FRaRe F g v
(1) FaTRaT F forw fes s & &9 § [ B S & o & =1f=e 9 g, afw a9
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(i) STHTIOT: AT AT AT g;
(ii) FTHTRF srterf=ae, 2006 F AT UH HAl qae7 &
(iii) Sam ARt F Ao ¥ Fwforfaa auard @ FEAarer, AT s §EE

(STETATE) FT UH FeAT HEET &

(F) STTaT T & &1 § %7 9 FH 12 9 FT A7AT ¥ 390 & FH F FH 7 9 & [0
AT o FTE FT SATAS T
A, IS AAEH § AT ATHIHH FEATT F AT Fohell v e a7 [
TSTEF AT AT FT TLEIT ATAAT FL 21, T SHaeT S 97 7 s ssrw v
freros Sea T fAug S AT g, 97 SO aaaEl-l F A | F e
2(1)(iii)(F) ® Faefeafaa wAMAT F JT% F AqTT F AAaS dgd a9 &
ATHEE &7 2 99 FTIT AT

(@) == fafaTst £ sEEt-1 % 9w 1% =g 2(1) (i) (F) F savg e =7 § 7 a1
a7 5 Fd, STHT AT 21, § & F7 & FH 3 U T HATAT 6 a1 F AT T S{ae
FATRAT AT ARATT [AAHATHRAT IT TG | EAT00q o & Fgefy qaeiamrar &
AT FITATF AT STTaT 3T A - [T 6 AT AT FHIEAT § ZTTI
SUYh & ATA9E, St qHa T Faq & forg qaatar Saeivet v gwrera
Fraarer auwet (Faw) adters a7 Taa= fi9iFs a1 99 Srarws a1 SH7iwd
& § STa ST & &7 § AT TIAT SHa S 47 HaqTT § ST TrHeT w1
(Freee=HT) | SATAS TAAT TTTEHIOT o T T AHa 92 A = B srom

(1) FH & FH 3 Y F ATAS AT AT IS T T Al 061 § AT

ATYTIOT SHTHAT & AT H FAoferfad ot o #3d gu I Siwiss qedqm=

(ATETTE) T HAT TGET:

() TTLTLOT AT F & § 7 F 77 9 U 7 IqAT i< TEH ¥ 770 9 F:7 4 a9
EHATTT F FTF FT SATHS TN
qort, AT smaEw T AT SHTEE g AT e BT s " = R,
e AT ARUE T UEIRGR {TEIET FO€ 21, o JTETr 97 § e
AT A7 Tt 3= T fowar 3ot o6t &, a7 = A=aEt it sqg=1-1 %
AN 11 % @ 2(1)(iv)(F) | STedatad 9 H FAMAT 5 91 6 AT % HEE digd
AT o AIAGS &l 2 U =TT ST

(@) == faf=Et 1 aqE=t-1 F 90 1 F @2 2(1)(iv)(F) F oatg AR =7 § 4 a9
7 2 99, AT AR BT, § ¥ &7 F FF 2 9 HT FANAT F JT% H7 TAAT el

AT AR AHTHRAT AT ARG A ATl a7 9d § #raa fEeeft
TS THTRAT T 9T o AT TITTaE qeaThe AT ICATE HIAd-TTeTor it qImr
T FHTEAT § AT

STYH & ATAS(E, ATIT AT AG9T % o0 qaeiar Faefot & |
FLAATA THFE GHTETF T G S THTRE T 1Tk 6 &9 § FTTCT S 4T &6 &
H 9T ATAT AT AT TFETT H ST TLHeT FH (Fraeedl) H AN
T STTET0T o ITE &9 A 92 S [a=e 6 S




[T Hl—&vs 4]

HILT T TSI AHTYTL 9

(V)

(x)

() H FH 3 T F AHT HLAH AT AT ETLT T 0T Rt & g

TATEST FHTHRAT F WA § Aeferfd ot @@ Feaarar AT SiHiws e
(STETATE) FT AT HEE:

(F) HTLTIOT IT TTEST AT & & § 70 F FH 9 9 &1 JqAa oaH ¥ 79 T F:7 4
FI FAAT o F1E HT ATAT T
F9Tdt, I 3maesd 7 AT SHTRE qeaT 47 R o "o e, e
T TS FT TTETIF HIIAT FL BT, T T AT ey A7 § fForest
FTTANT syar f@Fows s9a waw fBug st G &, 9 == Rt &
FTEAT-1 F 9T 1| & @< 2(1)(v)(F) ¥ eafaa € & wATAT F 978 FT AqTT 2
T AT SATUAT

(@) == fAfAFET i saqg=t-1 % 90T 1 F @2 2(1)(v)(F) F dag @AHEe =7 § 4 99
T 2 qY, STET AR &1, H & FF § FH 2 F0 FT KANAT 6 I8 7 AAT [l

HATLAT | AT FTee AT 97 9Ra | eariad faqeft qaetarnat St earar
& AT ATTATEF GeATh AT ICATE I A~ TLT T AT AT FTHTEAT H R

SUYH * ATAS(E, AT T TTELT A THT SAGETT & o7 A AT feae oy 0
THTIOTT FLAAT qHEReT qHe AT I9e d1Hihen 7 e o & H qrerer 0
TATEST AT o oS § AT TAAT AT AT TqTET ATHT AGET H Ao
TRTHET HH (Fedeerdl) H AT T TIAFIT % 916 §q qq9d 92 off o=
[ERIE IR

(1) FHH FH 3 T FT SATHT TLIH T G TALT TG hiT JIHFHT H grmm
quiRTIor SITETY I STHTHAT 1 FHART 2T,

U UHT AT g1 o SATaETd AT 17T FITATC A8l 64T 3

AT | TRt o= SereRdat & e S|s 7 8,

UF UHT Ak gl oreeh I8 AT SHehd 9T g7 S AT 7 a8 it
STHTOTYS (A{efthehe % Sfaed) gr;

70 79 & e o 7 A 2

2. = AfF=Et it srteegEET it arg it Rt % e Gemm M fmmEat & o saa:

=4 At F7 Afag=er i g F FATATAE GAAT I ST Farerd STHTwRdT & Hqh
FIHTHF % & H AT L@ & (1T a1 3

3. dHTRal gRT-gH WX ARy 5y Sraarer wie # sEed Teqa weAard W aHind
TAge % o Teqs ITTEeT< o SAHIEH il STUeT FHT|

4. TOH YTAFEY raed I Fed & arg o g &7 & (e aed &r qT a7 T FOT IT
FEAHTT FT

T Toh SATAR I STEATHIL Hled F Tgel, TeAH TIARIE S HIHAT I TIAT AT Figel o (0 gAaTS
T T TFEL T
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. ATATRAT ST =4 ATt it = 1-1 % 907 11 % @< 2(1) % T Hah S hf HgRe el

T HEHAT, TTTEHTIT HI qAT 0l Thegl odl | ge aF & o0 g § siaes T&qa #9969
TTTERTET U AT SO ATe o1 F Z2 T FC Gl gl AT, =7 FAfF=at ¥ e=-1 F 9rr |
F @= 2(1)(ii), 2(1)(vii) 3T 2(1)(ix) ¥ sawta adt F Fae ¥ Fr5 Fe T8 g

. T i & R Fom arfeer g7 SIqHTeT it A T AT I a1% THET g
. BTG & AR HT THS

FATRAT = AR f agg=r-l F 9T 1| F @2 2(5) F sava Sfeatad sraad i e o
T THTE e =4 AT 7 STqg=1-1 F 907 1| F @< 2(4) F a3 396 5T A Fd [
FroiwT FT EHT 977 g fATws & w7 § T s o e % o =9 g2 2(5) i
ATHT-1 F T || 3 SIaiq T TSR Hl SEaT T HT Tl g

. g fiwies & AT sraam™ &7 q=91e F

(1) &1 AT ARl A S & &= SRV AT FT TI9T Tl BT 39 o | T
FAIITAT & ATATAH o HATST ITST o FANT STIh HILATS i STTUAT|

(2) Teaw wrterarT == AfF=eT &t STqg=T-1 F 907 1l % @€ 4(1) F Faa Il i ge & oy
FIATHAT T AL TTH g1 92 UHT Tafe (T a9 F AAT8) 6 70 Fe T2 FT ghdT g, STar
& a8 3h JHE|

(3) TeAw WAL == fafq=ei it SAqH=I-1 & 907 || F @ 4(2) F siaviq feated ge ¢ o=
FOA o TorT sreqmaft Sueelt o Haer § qHT-T0T 9T IR ST FT 96T g

. Frore i A e i w

(1) < oiss & Fefered FOT & T4 TIIFRET IR AAHGE &l G199 o 6l TH AT
IS
(i) g =9 AT & aqgHl-l F 96 1l F @< 2 (1) F AqaE IHHM 15 g1 G971, &l
TAT/ATE &
(i) SO TETH WL A T H = [AATAT 6 SAqiid Fqh diHTEH & Hadl e el Hi7
TITH &9 F i< I=a &7 & [Hoared T&i a1 gl
(2) FEH TR TH Rg<h SHihd H qAIEH o % a78 IAHI AqAT a1d Fgdl 6 [0 GFars
T AT TETT FHT AT I d1F SAHIGH I ATTH o ATAT ST 6l T AEH & TTada2or
& ToTT SUIRE ST ST FIM
(3) == FAgh i =1 AHFHT HT T L=AI-1 & AT 1 F @ 5 (1) § Ifeated Fl Hil Sea
T IO & ATHTRAT T HYh STHHE 6 Tl a1l SHTATIH TAAT AHIRAT T <dT &, Tl
SrTHRAT oY RIh ST STHTRAT T UHT GAAT & 0 T 8 U 9078 & AaT THh o]
T FETH AT T Grod Hel|

(4) FTETERAT I ATHIHS F AT TOHIT FIA 6 AT I S (Hiheh i GaTsl & THIT & HE0T
ST grATer AT Aitafes fEaefor & seqdineor # faea & =+ & o s=ma wam
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6. g Swiws 6 atwat

(1) < AATHF dATRAT F Foot H AT A0 § Frurq UHT FHET GHAAT ST TEATASI qF TgA
T At UHT 98T R d\iEE F w0 ofiT wdet & 3tua e yaret [ares F o
AT

(2) T Swiwes = A=t F7 Sqg=t-1 % 9 1 F @2 6 (1) % THAT & forg ot o g=er
#¥ 7oeqT ATeRat & FRET STfErsRTET AT FHATET T F qRaT 2

(3) T roierer SrATRar St Agernt it doF afed TauT T TR0 AT SHTHRAT F AT
T qTTCTH TSR it dohi § IUeTd g, et o fowsr 9% e 3w =91 F3d & o ghar

EARILE

() ST et 3 T Seifes awwet & "@ated g,
(i) ST AATHRAT T MTIF-SAHAT T TATIAT FT THAT &,

(iii)y ST ATferETeTEanT il ST TATATSAT H T FIA 6 o0 ST 6 araed i
TATIAT T TRAT BT, FATAT

(iv) o 9 S aerel sraeTs gl

(4) T d\TR®, g dHTF & T H 09 FEAT 6 [HOAEA & AT & (1T SHTHAT Hl Fls
AT F<hex o & forg urr grm 7 el v AfRast & i A SHiws & €9 § vaT
Foreft srer fardramferme & srfafr g

(5) e T & MgRe-771 1 F ot Iuay =1 AAIHT F FATT I+ FaaA1, AT T
farerarfarrmet &1 wiastera a1 Fara a8t & am

7. gw fiwiws F Fdow stk ol

frere =9 &, qat oot it T fF ST, a9 ST ST S G e & {al 97w

ST T STl &, SATHRAT & g 7T & FaeAl Y el # Mefeed e ghn:

(1) =g gAta w7 o Srenar it SFaret ofiT Seqar & SHifhd e Bl Gartad Hed
& YA o ToIT T 9T ATHAT 3T I8 F0T T &,

(2) SHTHRAT F TaEFH-A AT AHIRR TR AT, AT 7 F IeTe Af¥Fedq ¥ Fivd-
Rrateor, ST |@fEET areEeT, Faer s @i F &= 1,

(3) BT THYT MYF-AHAT Hl qATT TG % o7 FHTHAT & ATHET F AT TG SATGHI I TgATH
AT FRTETT FAT TAT 39 SATEHT T AT STHTRAT 6 JIS Al aAT gl \HI<h dTHTHT
e wwar g T Ut Agcaqot f5are € S Srarendl i Aree-gHar S Jidge 9 F THrad
T THAT 8, dgl ATIA-gTAar Hf AT F G & g it Searet Fwrarsdr 9 9+={r
TRrRTTY STt o |7 TS T GAAT A7 TAT FeOH TR T = FAT, TS S0l oatd o
T AT % [T Faw T51 3574,

(4) ST #t gTr 6447 F saviq STuterd qih | qedAlha i g ofeadl ofiv IFaraf &
THTURT o Farel | 36 &7 o6 ISl T ATATAT A 2d FAT,
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(5) srfarfa=m &t 9T 649U F AT AUTSrT Tk & ATAT-0AT % Ao T yafera faz=or
AL FATH TG 6 Ha g § 36 TS o6 SIS T AATAT HAT,

(6) SrHTHRAT F TaEw FT At vH ol oft Ao v S srefta AT S ag "@=ar g ar
A=t g & afaf=aw & U @& % Soaed F 99 & [ofU, ST aTereigrent & f2di &
TATTT T THAT &, STHTHAT G HLATS HLAT AUTeT g,

(7) THT-THT 9T TITEHIO & (Haelt 7 STqare HieAT,

(8) Tg FiATAT FxAT o dwreaRdt it Fw Fwa-fAerizor Aifa Srarar it T STRH-37d i
FMET yae T F e g;

(9) TASTHT SHIEATAT T TATHAT H1 AT FLAT;
(10) ST Y& TOTTeAT o THATT FTATeaaT H TN HLAT,
(11) STFEERTT ZTET SAuferd ATqieh g F dae | sAfefaaw 7 9r 21 % Sq=di F1 Aqarer

ERGIK

(12) ST  ATATIH, SHHad S AT HAGHT HIAATaA et ATHTHRAT 6 [HI<h S (HHh & HisAr o
fAerferfera anfaer g

(iif)
(iv)
(V)

sgfafaaa & 9T 13 F idqeiq ufea =9 § Swifs R T g 99T o5+
IEERERIEIR UL CETGIR

SHAL-TEATHA AATH o I TOIT qTICTETE TR il qTTeT oAt Jo AT I FohelT FHreor 7
AT o [orT AT 2 TRAF 2l 8, I SAIa S Hhal g0 &F HTRH a9 AT
et it RearTeer & gag § ATafaas i &7 112 % ITGgl 1 SAqITAT FAT;
FrATHRAT F TeT AT F H H SR qATE 3T,

Tg ATHT FLAT T F97 Ieamat it Hiw=w 32 3= 2;

SHTIOIT FeAT foh T srefera et = et & sa=i-1 & 9nr 1 § Faiia

TN | TAT AT S G 31T ST 6 7 ARtaeff Frea/atites sHaer
T A STfarsRr g 3 v PRt fRert & e # e gu i fr e €

Tg AT FIAT o6 AT F TR 6 ST TEFHIT AR ETThT I, ST ATTAT 5
9T o Torw am &, ATIaw % e & fFua § urfetemant fit 3f=a gomamstt &1
&I § TG AT E;

FIAT TR T ITierfta Tt  Ba § il ae1g TEqd FEA1

T smetera At & gfere 1 973 F2AT;

o sefera [t & aRwa | T Taiadl o7 sdiied Aredl Ud qarqaEt
T ITIHAT I AT FAT;

ot smefera e & aReEad § wI<h Se1 &l qaiaar sfi Iuras &1 Ao
AT,
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(xi) ot swefera fAfeat it fEeaaiaar s aataar & 9 #§ AThai 6 = A gl
FLAT;

(13) =& fafaTw &t sIqg=t-1 % 90 || #7192 7 % 39-9< (1) ¥ (11) T F FATh, qremor T
AT ATAT TATESH S AT HAHTT FIAATS STHIRAT o (Fh ATHHH *F HdoAl | (Harerrad
-‘81'@?’1'@?[:

() =g gt wear B S ot & Hifvmw 38 sHa g;

(i) I THINE FAT & I Ta=q gEd Tl 6 T @l & fou sfea et
(rEfrueem) afga amar smefer M e s setem [feeT (S 1oy a3ty
=7 F gfua 7 35 @ gEt F fo e At 2fg)ErEdoagam) o hftam
FH sefera [fer (fitem) 1 Mg fimifes famar 1 ST #3d gu i ==
fafaeret it sraa=-1 3 9 IV § Ryt o 7 farmr g;

(iiiy  dTHTHRAT F TG =TT F HA H AHI o TATG <AT;
(iv)  STEduaee $iY w7 sieferg e (smediuagame sfiv didtsme & foro smefera
FAfarlt ) oy sefore Rt 3 e 1 e e

(v)  emEfiumeme ¥ forw srefera fAfat o smdfiduaery v e ¥ o arfem
fAfeat afta o= smefera [fet % awaw & Y6 Se7 & aFiaar s qorar &7
frerTor AT,

(vi)  UTHEAT F TS FT ASATUANLT TAT 20T AT DT * forw syefera FAfeet
afgd o+ seferd et & afawe & Y3 ST &l faaaeiadr i qUET & a1 |

FATHAT o FTE T G=rd HLAT,
(14)  w= 3T=ra a0 % a2 ou«T 1 forfaa & e arfasrT &t Aot it g=-1 T

(i) FATRAr grT staaaw ar el srfafaaet #1 e Sooaa #71 Taey af var g &
g IeAEHT T H S HHAT T ST %0l T AT o6 TTAH el AT ATATaT
* T2t 7 s T Fwar g
(i) AT ARt F et T U wrEars g AT § S 39 FAREEt  siavd 39 wdea
T FTTAAT T Mg w2 | IH G99 J919 & (o0 3= €9 § 97T g; T2rar
(i) =7 SraTRar F T srfeET At =T 7 T ARt F siasa SHE Fwdel S}
Tl T A0 F | I e o (o1T IEE =0y § ford 771 2l
(15) =tz #re s i, Sfrise & =7 § F:1d w27 + foro efEa (Regferers) BT smar &,
T 3T T AHTHF % T | TgAT dehTe T &l SA1aT &
(16) 39 FAAT 3T I(AET HT HAgT FLd q9T I SHHah AT €T H TNFd A T0h

fRrgial 3 SEgl &1 3T e @,

(17) o dwTes Jeam fgwry & Gy ff 90 % g sus Geg e &t 1w G
ALTHATHE FTAATGT ol AT UH LA =l AT & 9T 13 o 373 <
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8. fRai = aed
(1) e Soiee =9 AT % AqE™ #1700, o7 98 Bt U amar § w1 98t w9 o

= Al % SqEr M SHiEE & & § AqAT SJIHHT F7 =earad w | Far & et
T F w9 gRor g1 TRt gl

(2) FHTRAT T A fHTEE g gwT Fgw SHiEE F ' A IHE FwEET 6 I 2 d
=T &1 S a=T-1 % AT 1 3 @< 8(1) & ST FT TIITAT H|
9. wfiwmrat F R
(1) FHTRaT Rk ST FT T G SUse FIA

(2) TATE AHTTHH Eerwsar Aiaa a1 fGwtaa w3 & o, stad Samare & 99 79 F 7 &l

SRS TAT ATUTLO/FESAATT TATEST A THTHRATA & U1 GHI-T0T 9 eI ITAFTT g0
Afe=ra T STarel Aarer & HET FHA-MI0 FE GeATwT ® Al F o [
FIHT & AT HH F HH TF S [HHH g

(3) TRt gAtEa wam & fmmrar & &t w1 Fgw fiwias 7 396 FaAl 67 il
FT [REgT F | TATH qHAT ITTee FITUN|

(4) FTHTRAT gEATET FOT 6 FI<h SHwE UF gF GHT STHTRAT 6 T SIEH STTEHl
T eaTea T8 FEM T, §eF e teemer stewa: =y SHiws § oo
TqS B § U A HHH gl a7 gl
(5) TRt gfaa wam & s diwies g Swmhal & §eT FrERr argwet & f{dre
T
10. TASTAT FFE F [T S=AsFar

= fafaaet it Te=-1 F7 917 || AT e rareadra & o0 dR] SR THAET & gae § q6] qTaS
qETH TSR 3T e &9 § g

AT 11z Sfaer ST sreamr 1 geaisa
1. SEsIar
fafaet =1 7 9T 74t Sftaw Srrewatst o R gem
() sfRqat, 3aamt i< ET-EHaT Ao

1. SR FT TediwT
Strae STaTeRaT it THT SRTAT T ot = AAFAT 6 Tg=1-11-F F:1d, AarEarEiuss
(STATRATAT FT TS(THL0T, IS AT, ST &1 Saeor ofiT garmHas) afaaw, 2024 |z o=
TIST AFTAT TAT AT A9 AEGeE] & Aqa ar s, Aefefea srfeaat &
BIEHT ST ATE-LT0AT AT T ST0ET % forT o goor 3 =7 Tt ST
(1) 9T § USiet sfw weaatdar it oo it s ashrar fifvmm, §9 77 £ safd F sew
I A | AT TS HHAT TH;

(2) WA % ATEL USiel T HeAATAIT ol AT T(AAT L FTHRAT ST, I ageAanT 7 g
T AT TH;
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(3) fafare i, S agEarT 7 g A #AT T,
(4) THAIRT T F FET F AR ST I T,
(5) == fafeareT i STV % SIET 0T ST SiR;
(6) THATAY, [EATY, TSAE] TeTF AT T,

(7) e =

(8) <TH- RIS |mar a9 #7999 99T qFed FAT B BIEHT HIe AT FwedE
rfEaat;

(9) UASTHTHRAT T U &Y e fae 7 s1fdr % forw seprar roetort;

(10) TgTed e,

(11) 120 T & 31fere o TorT ST SII<h aeq-Har #< (STUHet) ST,

(12) “Hf¥a et ¥ FOT TS SATA ARadT FT GIEHT AT ARG F e
THETAL T,

(13) “wf=ra gl & FHT0T 3T greaTAt “srerfig 7 afea”;

(14) sraTet TIAAT FT FAETr FLarer [Haer 97 39T 3= A7 AT o1;

(15) FATANT T I il HHT Th Tl A ATETAT
2. T fi i wr [t

Sttae T =EE™ FIAATAT TdF SATaT ATHTRAT SAqral i 1 FT qATh A= [Heiid
TN & FM:

(1) wivrfT smeferg ffemt =1 et g @fber * w9 Bt f sl &
AT |I(F) F @ 2 F IT-G< (2) F (4) TF F ATHA AR 1 TFH WA TEA F FRT
ERiES il

(2) TeATEA TG & T ST ArRteamare & fgare § o Sruw S stasta arterr
#¥ orat o T Ayt =7 & qrfert & siavia wrs fffay (arferetems gm) srar o

(qTiereTeTer/ ATATAT 1) T ST THAT g1 ATH FT TAL ATITETLTRT hT o TATIATA
(@ F Heg |, sfaw aeei, qfe w1 2, qfed) T°qT AT F A & oy
STATRAT T Theal =TI STt 7 e & onml

(3) TATHT TG fohegl faehedl Sl MLIEAT T ARG [ GA1E § oR(1 ST dfaar & odi &
AT ITICTH TR Rl IUA BT Tl Bl

(4) T TTTCrET 3 ST aFaT =t ALY 7 FHaiwor @it &9 AMeet & Fasgt @igamEt 97
9T I UF T ATAES FT o A1l & TATIT A T AT g ST T6H

gt o=t (37 =t § o arg vHue & =7 § sfeafaa) F forw v arie
orTferer 2T ST it swfera fAfar £ wrfer & Bt Y 3 =7 & wfora 92 2em

(5) T sreera ATeRt &1 = ofiT i qo FH# - sferd et
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et arforet 3 "eg ® wriorT sefera far i wfer Rt woET ST-877 (4) %
FET TR &, o g1 Gt g (ST “SEoTTen arefera Afaat” swgami)
AT JATHA 0 ARG T T ARAIT ToF F FF (“SA¥AIT ToF FH-TTH
artera et wgamustt) g1 adr 81 =9 I & forw srerdor ger faerd
ATV T 3T TEEFT A¥IT To T 3L T

st #7 am=T 35 F THe & forw Fees Siwies B serree & famr o
foreter srefera e S 2rfer 1 ST wam

s mirer srfarfaer it st 13, 49, 644 3w 6437 %y * forg, St
fRufa 21, vE Feorews smefera e F Arwer § va vy sefera [Mfer i wfer
T 9T o & H [T F33m, oar UHr s qqor go FHT-q3F areterd Afae &
AT |, T¥II0T o & &7 § Faiid |

(6) Frrforferd wrmett 1 Sresw geaiaa T “wwa fifFaw geaisT grm:

(i)

(ii)

HqTHZF dTHT & |1 Hag e Aled UH-adiT TE i qrfe® qaiy
T e sefera Mfeat sfa fiffem, fftes i w41 o s &g g
T o2 T TTat Y et &

IIRAF ITATET & A1 Hag Ty o atea [ dwa ieas geaise
srefera At s st i smefera [fer 1 sgav grm

(7) aaf<heh SFEETT & forw, s d9TEwE SUd 93q Gi=a | 64 T &1 % g999 § Aiaw
srefera At 1 T Tar 2

(8) afz A=k ik 1 T & Gearsa f aer Nifoaw 15 1 Frgs goaiwa it o7
TG T AT 8, AT =T Fiehad (TITTHRTHET) TZadl (IIT. TATH TZId) FT TR
TRT SIT FRaT 2
Ferd T afawfora smefera ffer £ i & d@aer § wyortaa g & ag #7 9 79 39 iy &
T ERIT ST Fohet STTHIH oA T Td AR] FE & FIT STl ST

(9) ZFaATSAr HT A F TRFHAT hl T T AR AIAGE] & (T TATIATT U a9 7 R
T TF ATgT> AT & Tef= A2l gl

. ITerET el YaTg: AT o gl WTHIT Ta5fa UF 3T o1 &% 9 fAeferfed amer

qTTret et TaTgl Hl FaTui,
(1) == sfifa=m, =afz s 2r;

(2) g, STATSITaAr, TRAFAT, AT F T ogh oI STIaT ITEl 6 Fava ¥ =l T2
TS AT ATHEAFATY;

(3) Te 7 & geaiwa famr it Rl F srqeme AfgT 9w, 7fs 12 =1

(4) geaTehe a7 FT qoaiwa & TRUMHEasT a9, I3 7S 2;

(5) St et |iRd, ATt ST (et f&ai F U a9 a1<), 7% F1< 2,
(6) TS 17T ATH, T AW 2,
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(7) AT o warer § & FHHTT 3 AT, TR Fle gl, TET & gae § (T AT 0l
FAFTH TAT I AT ZIT) | SGATH TR (3Thee) ITTATET o Heel § FHIL FT SFIar
T A & [T FIE Ge Tol &f ST

(8) uTferet = Haer | urferelY Taw@Ta =2, It 1% 2i;

(9) TATYTTHT FT ATH T e, IfT FIS T, TG AILLTCRT HT G T 3
grfereftemeent & for =i S 520 & = fAfers g9y 2,

T T e waeT F¢, (% A 2, F g & St =R

(10) FE AT THT TATE, STHT AT 2T

4, urferdt e siv et

stet arferet siafeiza et Suetsy rar g forert yaRr arferftemee % grer B s aeRar

g, S qEde STAT o, TATEST o A1 % faAT1 9Tt [aATeh(FhT) FT Fa<st w1 TR T47

TTeteat, S gfaar it aRugar 97 ariudr g% efeat, Faer wRfeat snfy, agt v et

STAAT TTLIEAT I ARTAT T SFTATT T SAAAT TN 6 TRFHAT | [@FOT Tohal TaT=i ®

&7 ¥ far strom

5. g HIASS:
(1) TATHT ATGEE 39 AT HI a9Td § (SAIL ATAT qIT Thal TaTgi il a1 shl
STOR(T &Y =TT ST T AAGS oA o [ohd SITarTel a9 & @€ % oIy 3ugh
BN Foh AT Mt &1 e § T
(i)  HATES F(F) T AATHRAT FT ATHT ALIAT T AT R(ERY) STt ITeAee
2N Afe foraad Aqaa Tega" Iued 7ol g, af I Jod IART FALFIT T
AMITRA g1 9d 8, A3 ITASH T ITIH &l S A0 | File A 39 5l g,
qAT 3Ih HoT 3T & HIAd-[HEior & forg J3<h gt 9% =47 g et Amee
& TCATIAT &L &l ST FA |, Aq9a | Tt q91taq g & {aw #§ o
ST

(i) == AR & G-l F 9wl #7 g9 5 F 37w (i) § Fyihg =1 #
TATIT FqT FT THIISA TG [A=adi & o0 ITh AT (THUST) FET
FohaIT SITORTT, STET e WTHaS § UH UHUST &7 £q¢ TTAHI0r hl GgAfd ¥ A1

SR FEAE T SR T T SHifds Aag A1 / Antaefl 9ed %
AT T
(i) TP goaied AEET % U TE IoF e § g g ATg vl
(2) S HT TaATAT JoF &L T TR qolt % |39 T g, ST aF o Srerehdil o
AI AHT F AT T T st qreoit [T 725 i 2n

T Toh UHT THRTTITT HTLOM TTTERT0T il HEHTA & ATEA T ST HIhe TEATH FIET ATHT SN
T ITAY FLTAT STUIAN

T AN Ag AT 9T gt T U ST |l o JE W g et UET 3 39 TR
O o TF | TIA90T & FH Tal gl
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TR ARr T oft o g TR weTfera sy F g F g Ratia v @€ 3| yertea
AT % T &7 ITA9T § FH gl Ghdl g J(s (HI<h dIHwES Uh Heae Taed & 3tad
forg #7 T

(3) YATH T STTHATAT AEAEHAT T TohelT THTIAT FTLU(T o HIH 6 FIT (T, ST A ATHTRAT
AT AT F AT T TF T gt =T 781 7 2
FTt o UET ThTTETa AT STTAReoT ol |gAt & S S FEITT G S (97 SN
T ITASH FIT SATUIAT:

T ART Tg ST o1 it T U YT &¥ o "W & g MUiid UHT 3 39 T
IO & U A7 TTq9rd ¥ F7 gl g

T AR A ot o gRIT TR werfera |t ¥ Hee F gy Ryt vE ¥ 39 e
AT % T &1 ITA90T § FH g7 Gl g A2 HI<h dHHH T o Sraerd w3t
forg v 7o)

(4) urfereft sTRer = SRt F AT T AAT FT LA | Tt =T qgErehifa %
T et AWt H F@Ty ST AqATHd qRTER 38 oA s sAT-a< & d1 T gl
Ford T ITYh ATARTH Traem= 6 STudr Ffe areafas Aqad 9% qodid & o0 [F=r
Tl a1 73T 21
T AT T T ordT g o SUAh TS (A ST HAAT O Sae T F Y A
TG F TIF I a9 & [0 qR] q51 g

(5) HeATHT SATST IT:-

(i) AATAH ATATT AT T AT (ML HGTIH ST 9T a9 % G oh HI0
FAATT AT & FAAT 3HT TATIAT TTAFAT TAT I TAFRAL o ST TL ZIT

ST S ATRaT wae ® fHerer it STarett T | IT9 F T TATeMT F2dT 8, T4q7

T et Referfaa v eame J -

(F) =TATSAT T GHAT FLAATAT e, g | oA Maert & syearfera Tsar
TATgl, eATHA il SATHATAT AT & @ § THhal TaTal, Saq qrel
Rerer aRfRarfa=t, TaT ATET Mae THd Targi & 91T AR FA H TH Al
STTHATeT qATaer S fafaerer Torit it /=,

(@) UE e a1 g o B IR 92 AT T A F FIgg H FA9r F qvF g9
ST,
() FHTRAT F A FEAT F AT FAF AT

(i)  UH FETTH AL HT GHTIS AT ATl &7 ITH F3 gq Td6d 9= &

foro arfste & g R Srom)

(iii) ZHeh FATET, I<hH oA T AT 2T,

(F) Shas AT =Fa9m™ F G@SF F FROT TG ArEqAT F STAwAr & Faswger
AT TAT 39 TTahedl & it seamer dAmRar wfasy # fFarer i Searer

et & 9T A ok forw ey €, & Rt surr a0 & Iga< 981 g
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(=) e oft it wfearelt F waer § arford’ Tt Yaret & aaarT ged, U Joft
& gfeaTst & TS & o sreferd snfeaat & Ifawat & aiead & o
EERRE RN

(1) FATHIRT AT F Hael |, WTAT SATST T oF SATTEH 6T TgATT HIT

() TN =HaET F "ag §, qETET (ATeT Haer Rufaat ® w9y §) F s
uT g, TF qeaida § I<F 9T SI9El FT A Jodied s4Te 7% 6 91
TEHT 21

(6) I T, UT AT Fegiad & forw o= fram Srar €, v Scame a1 =2 T2 % IeaTal

e SIq9 e % IR T UF Aol @A gt A0, TAT I SRl & Taed, q&7
FTSTE, Faraor wreas aTfe o e 9% TeATierd Sret SIqHa F7 €419 T@d gu gl

(7) T WFEE T & YT & oee 9¥ A & o 97 9&6d g1 U9 AWesi & §oF
AT 3 § =6 =T & 90 |I-F H [Heifa sreaarst o1 Rara # o smom

(8) TeAW WITEAFIEY  q& AqHIGT & a1 dATHRAT & qAaArwaten o et off s &
ST AT ST & &9 H L & acd 6 919 (A 07 HaeT Hl, T re=-e7aar
AT o e & SIS o [orT TAE 9T 2 STHT & &9 § qgl HIHT SO
(9) =fe wivrer sefera e w1 afieres qaetaT HfH=w & d@&g § =27 % o sqafa 39 gu
TFaT SITAT B, TAT STHT & qHSHTERAT F ITaT aErAl & o T Srar 8, v geAied wit
ATTE 37 Tgfaat == A=t v s | % 90 111 3% sEm g
6. Hag THT FAET & T srfafRee saed

(1) e =TaHTT h Haeg | awaterq fAfeAT ® & ek g, A9 IiHe sreter Mgt v
ITTrET |TaT §o7 37 araT=a e sefera et

(2) T st [Afeat a7 arfert @Tar goF w1 TRFaT et [aqis & e gt ar
Tt @TAT Jod, TfQ AR 21, HT START Fd gU AT (a1 il T=ierd qrierradi o
Arefed el T Ao GraT 9o & g9 § 3 ST

(3) T fAfer sefera Mfeat 1 e agna a8 YaTg TS T ST Fd gu 1
ST, ST e ferfera & et | @, S -

(i) afaer § T fiftew, afs € 25

(i)  =TETE [ e FfE % g =attad g0 9 37 919, JfQ w8 (I &
A AT qTTrEt @TaT Go7 & ATeF);

(iiiy =TT e A vEw v
(iv)  srerder gedt A1 <Aa gof ST TfRugmar At F gete e, afe w1 g,

(v) AT gig =¥ sfiw [fer J&g T2 (37 & A1 39 "eei & Jodi & [Hgi 39
et &1 =T | 3 9 1 (F) % 927 5(5) % AqETe oA ST,

(viy TR sEtere g, 7y e g
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(vii) I AT THRET AT, TR AL L

(viii) ~ TRET T ATET SOTTCHE TERaT TATE & forT strefera et it £&ToaT & g7 39T
IR RIECICAEDIRC LI

(4) STIHIIHT THHTT daa el & dava arare =1 smfera =idr afs o 2,
T T F =T § Agiia fBrm smom)

(5) mmaTer Afdr siefera fAfeat = fRarer gy, sfaw % fBawor snfe & s & oo
FHEE ATA R AFATT gq Aterd [id & 9 | AET AT

7. uREdt dag sear & forg s sremd

(1) aRaEdt Hag HaaTT & Hae § aterd [fer § a1 gew v, SrAvq qrierEt @rar sferd

(2) aTferet TTaT sefera et geaind QAT AT qriere T °rd & 9 9w gt

(3) araTe fAfer smefera ffamt w1 fFateor sgrr T=6dt yag vafa #1 3w 20 gu
ST, ST A ferferd & e | @, e -

()  wfesy ¥ 37 fiftew, =7f2 w1 2
(i)  =THT [ g ST g7 U SF ATH (AT @I 6 qoF | ATEw);

(i) =\ [t yEw T
(iv)  SreTor e AT qAAH Jog ST TRET arat & safad wfeat, afw w2

(v)  orfert =@rar gt 3¢ e i y9g w9 (37 % 979 39 qEest & gedl &
Rrearteor = At it sreE-1 & 9w 13 G2 5(5) F a3 Srosm);

(viy TR gEtere g, 7y e g
(vii)  or=F ATET TR yETE, AR AL AT

(viiiy TRET ATET ROTHE TR TATE (U IUAh ®T § FAET e e dr
ST T & GILT T SATUAT|

(4) STLHET TR TR Hag Tl & daiq G Wier smetera [feat, af
SRUTTCH B, 9 T (e il STTusf|

(5) aaT= fAfer smefera Meat Maer amest, srfgaw % fGawr sfe & y=ee & o swag
AT seterd Afer & &7 | AT SATUI)

8. URadl siag I (TR i aageaa) F fog stfaf=s sroeamd

(1) aREdi g AT & qad | Aied [ § I "qew g, AT qierEr |rar
sretera et s amre [fer srefera Afae

(2) arferet JaT srtera et qeatsa & AT F7 aTier T @rd #§ 9 ey gt

(3) "I fer smefera Ffe=i T Mo agrma Tahat YaTg TG FT STIAN FA %
FTeT TR STomT, S Rrferfea #r e # T, e -
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() wfeeT & 37 e, 7t 2 25

(i) AT e F ERT IS Y T T ATH (IO G qoF F A1),

(i) =TETT e 7 ga g9

(iv) ST¥rd Yoot AT FAAH Y ST TRaFHAT AT de e aetet, afw w8,

(v) Tfar gt 3 o [fa yaey g9 (37 AEsEt % 9o, o=t % 99, == A=t
FT gt | % 907 I (F) F @2 5(5) F Aqame Featfea Gy o),

(vi) FR-SRuTTeHe sraferg wftads, afe #rs 2;
(vil) 3T AT THRET yATR, AR A L

(viii) Tt Telt SRoTTcH Thal TaTg & (7T ST &9 § Aferd et it ema=r
ERCE-RICIECICRE RIS ISR

(ix) ST FAET (FeATHT AT 32 & Q1 EIG) Tigd qrt F=e (qedia [adih
F UF T9 % d79);

(X) SIATETTRT T ATH FT ATaed, T(Q HIS gl, TGl ATTHTTRT F FIT ATHAT 3T
TTferefteTeant % fore =i s 3 F = AR w@dw @)

FTd T &Y, T FI2 g, & 1 saed ge & ST
(4) STIHITATE TR TREd] TEag Tt & stava arae [ e spefera [femt,
Tf3 FEOTTeHE g1, a1 T T (T2 st STTo|
(5) IRAT HTF AT Rd AT & siavia Aremeor Afg smefera [feam v Fae

ATFeE], ATFAT F Fawer orfe F vFem & U swag gganit sFaa & o
sretera ffer & = & g7 Srowm)

(6) IRACT TEAF HEAW FFaTT & dasia aremeer e smefera [t & Fae
ATFeEl, AMFAT F Fawer orfs F yaeE F U sHag gganit sFaa & o
sretera ffer & = & g7 Srowm)

9. sfafs yragmt F forg s

g S Fefofea & d@da & 9979 yEge w39, St v aefea [feet &

gt #, yaaw il F o afrdhe st @ 1 afewem w329 a9 % 3

EEEKFRS

(1) arferfErat fSomer gy § sraumas Sadt & SIeH-37F % HT0T Afah et & o7t
S FEET e, ATT-HTE, =AY, P I, T, JEgT a1 St e,
sfafes Hiffaw yafa B @ g

(2) SO ATATAT ST GeATwT § ATHA Tl 67 T 5, g I v 7q1 F=mae g
T 3T BT TFhcll &;
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10.

11.

12.

13.

(3) ®eTE € aw witetaet gt Afdieeh wntera et & wiora graarer gsEd fir
HHTT 2,

(4) Farteee S arqiEe ST arferfast % sfavta Iuesy e,

(5) Fafr o ATfes AT arferfEat F oy Serey Tt

(6) fafewr it &% o wx fFget & ST 1 7€ ferieal F sy § A Ay war §

qatda T 2 s e 0 # 9rEt weas | I gearet T seted
et 1 Fwriad g forg grae & @ 2;

(7) WETHTET T =T, If A2 2,
OERRICEIEI
V- AT

(1) T Stas SATHRar AUTerd ome-19ar ATied, STse TeH-737dT qTioi, ST 9meE-
FHAT AqITT &1 g == Afaadi % aqay THEuA-6 ¥ Jqa9 Uaeiuda-8 a& &
st fafafaes =7 # & 1, 212 3T FE3 F Fqa F3m

(2) eTTErA-79AT HToI &7 AT &q AT sfafaaw, 1938 &t =T 643U it IT-aT 3
TS o o0 Sofera o= -e79ar | 7 U &7 9= Jiaerd gl

(3) YT S{taw SHTHAT g€ THT STeH-HAT qIod & [HI0 & § qwgd ee=-e9ar
AT ST TET

ey {97 FEaTT

STl Sttad dTHTHAl FaTeeT Fa¥ ad gu Tared {1 HAaHT FIAT &, dal et =l 19 FT
Ao == fAfRawT & siavia Atee gt # sgar BT s

WA & T8 AqqT

STgt Sae STHTRaT 9T % aTg< el <97 § IHTRAT T U oTET % & § S{ae S 97 29971
FIAT & TAT AStaT fAfaa=shar & fFawr ar Fae ot a1 UaT #is sART T5qd ®dl 8, daf
FrATRAT = AT A Sl F 9w (@) § FariaatEs vt 9 g of 999 w9

T T T Agh e il 1T § o 9120 & q18L Sl ARl AGET Fal 8, dgf addr
AT oMTYF-9qT dTHee AT § @ 94qr o7 araa-a9dT "es) fif qaqr § Fea<
AT SAT/AT LTTE-T7AT 0 STUEAT § TR I &, AT UAT SATh STATRAT F TTAT FIT o6 ag

AT o ATgL T 397 § ASTET [AHaHaahal ®l Seqd (A 7 fea ot ar T ve s
H T9TE W arferd et & srfge srfafiss swefera [Afeat semr wa 3 a7 faemme
AT 3T ATLA-TAT HIAGST T ATATAT THAT ST |

fRaor y&=qa wAT

ATRAAT, STAATAT AT MGA-LHAT AT 6 Foaor 29 ARt it sqg=i-1 % 9 1l (@) F
FAT AATATATLE BT | TEIT 6T SATUIT TAT T AT o S(ZT (A AT FAFETT F (70 3
SATHRAT ZTT Foh3 ST Tt SAFETT o o7 STeT-37eRT Jeqa o o)
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(@ st & arr 13 F siavta gumRaiRa stes fiar seam F g fad s arn
1. dwifers R s am<ier FF Gt & forg whwm

(1) 3T I ;T FFEor 97 30 The a5 e =3 &F et & et siw
sre77 = fafaaet Y sEEt-1 % 9 1l (9) F 9 2 F 995 il

(2) 3T AL ST AT Feaw ATEHT FT I AT 3fq & AT A o 2T THA 67 Sroq
SreE & "afed & oo &€ gy @il & drHor i qrE | qr T e weqa

ST, ST ot T2 2
(3) T Ted= ATLYT AT fraor & aryr Feforfed v g fBFar smom:

(i) e FTARET ATHRET (HTSAT) FIRT geareated JHmoras & Jes arfers’ 7 9o i
el AT Sk a3 &l IFqT g, ATg A gl a7 A eAT, A= & o [
FAHTFF F T ASAT TAT 8; TATMY, oAt 2T § FHT T GUTA F forw £ o7 @t
FRATS o AT AT, T2 s gl, The (T U]

(ii) A ST T SEaTetd TR el [SOquiT & J79 36 e 7 foh:

() HTSSH ZIRT QA SeT A= o TSI a6 (7T IAAT3N o6 Tod e & G | ATHA
ERIRIR S

(@) srferfa=m = Iqadl &7 9T AT T

() STfEreRTor it FEATT H AT ATHTHF HEAT g SR 367 1 it sqagw
LIEEAE IR IEERERIRIR IS

(1) 22T F FEIO Sl Foutar &1 gt w7 F oo s #aw soir 7 § (3t T
£ 1S FHT ITE AT & A7 387 e et = so);

(%) s swids & T #, A sretera et Sfearet F st dmEwar 6o
ATAT TTAaEaral sl TTerHTeTent i Ifod T 1 T F 6 o g1 gl
2. I A fREwet F forg Ry semd
(1) =TTreT 3 ferawor Mefertad o 99 § STeT-37e T aATe R ST —

(i) FEwr;

(i) AT =EET
(2) s FHATHRAr = AT F Fga™ AR R T 9T F 97 aqayg uHieud-(1) |
FEy TEHATe-(9) § ARty vt § Referfra Beeor seqa #m-
()  FAAT HT AT — B U, B AU, S Uerst, B AU ST w
EIEIERIRECH)
(i) M AT AT (AT HIET F Had H)
(i) T ST UM (AT A9 F q99 )

(iv)  oATHT -9 — B 7%
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(v)  euieaat & feaeor — o v
(vi) T Rl
(vii) T FwE2
(viii) SIS TIT-LTTAT HITSI ST TEA-LTHAT SAATT T [T — FIH A3
(ix)  srferery &t §¥=ET 3T AT — wr g
(3) e ArHATERAT ST faawnt & v Feferfea ff sweqa wam:
(i) wraEfEa (e wiee) afafa £ e
(i) THT-THT IT AT ITIAFTT T TATALTRT F1E 17T BH

(iii) TEAR WTTErERTET ZRT FATAATEE wrHel § Ik fAawon & ey § faegqa g=ar v it o
BET ]

(4) v= e Awferfad s aae-
(i) AT faefis — =g fat s gt (sit=) fer w2
(i) ITATE — AT | oTTHe o T T ITATRI/ATSSL T TAT IAhT Hafad JMUA o AT,
(iii) el aRET™m - siae-eaiea s@ata & I SHERar & At o= w1 atee
[EERSF
(iv) AT SeT — s dHEH e gRT Suaed Fd T ST i GEwrd, Hqorar i
LTI FT HATIT FA % [oIT IS T Fgwi % are # feoqofy Fwm|
(v) Tt agha — et #1 v wfem e -
(F) STHT ITTRT F Harer § o sfera et & FReior & sroare 1 wgfat;
(@) g Tafa foEs g waer % a6 oy, fiemw sty aiwgar s, e

A, Teaiad o & afagar G a& 67 Tate, F7 Adg Todiad & (o0
ERIRIR S

(M) e TR S et A T gerin srefen ARt o w7 § et
1 feama & ferm o g
(=) et P aaafa = i agf-
(1 =T s &1 - #Y
(2) =Tt q1€ 9 I & FATaT I F T F <7 i,
() Tt feredt o it & o geaisd it ggfa:
(1) <= # ofaer &7 73 Bt sl F siavia Suetsy w7 fafeer
fareredt T =TT 2
() = et F U s yraa R F o s ag it #r A
Stet +ff T = F & TE 2|
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(vii)

(3) = H efuer Ry o fAf9e IeaTal o sfaeta sedriad At rfet v
ST 3

(4) = At % forT yraene FwA % o yeek qataat w6 Aneier &, Set off
TTE w9 { & T 2

I FUTST (JTFLT) — F Tgiaat S g v=am, 7 #rg 2f, Feteteg @oat &
oo &y €, sTet ot smaews 21 a8t GodATEhA & AUT & 9N F €9 § YT & UH
[EERUEID

(F) TrferfErt e ey § FH-3i9a (ST Ua¥sT) Sl & STaH-37 & H107 Afafh
o gt B @ 8 S srfafes St & stefier 8 S sraam 9he, sfa-9me,
AT, HITE I, TTES, RIFHT AT ARIors TR Eerfaat;

(@) geaiEwd § oA 7 Y T2 2orq qrferfEat aiq R ot v a7ar e g v
3T Bl qFAT &

(1) WETE TS Y& ATerredl Sl Afaieh seera Miesi § aRora grearer :Jad+ @
HqTaT ¢,

() Jaf<he 3T AR S AT Il & Savid Suored fased;
(F) ATFH 3T ARLfea AT Il & forT Iqesg e,

(=) Tafaw i =¥ o ow fEeft gemed & ST it € Qi@ & @ag § arar i aediy
T § giEfda BT = & a7 AR 30 § 91 ge-ag ¥ 3cae greardt aford
sretera et # gt i & o a7 yraem= T = g;

(@) Ter=ATd (i) weaTd, Ife IS 2l;
CIERRICEIS]
AT 6 AT

AT H T HedThd AIas Jgf J1+ 6 qreoit § fAffey s & garaq g,
gfase o= & for AT, T9T Togish & QaTqATT SIaiT-3Te T T&qd o SITuir:-

ST | TIE | AETERIT | S | | ey | AT | ey, | Tl
RIEETE E

(2) ) (4) ) | ) | () (8) (9) (10)

(F)haT SeaTE

NERIECIERE]

iyTwRT I s
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MEERIKRIRESE

()T IaTe

(i) Frafa St
(ii) et AT =i

(iii) =TT AT T

fere ot

(F) = UWEST % forg wfager et &g /it 1 awier

(@) AqWd, TT FIE &I, F A1 oA ATFES! T Tg= & o e &)

(M) AT AT o I TATTATT | 67 T Toheg | Agead ol TRadHl T ST T91 & 91 3

(F) AT % T (6) F Aawa SHEHT, fifeT ey, arfve, snfe s wta arferst & "etea ==t o
HAT-AAT AR F

(F) AT F TG (9) F HAT(T TET SIE ATH Ik FAaTAl 6 gae § SAaH S qAqT Hag AqqT &
qae 7 TEY THRT, e Fhg 7T, T’ @rar gia a7 e & AfAfee w9

(F) AT ITFLTEL, A(R HIS 2f, F HAT9d W&l H & (9) F AR 6 T H qTHA HL

3. FomeR e et i dFa srvador g FHI-gTE srera et

FoTTer sefera et s i srerdor gor wHT-qwE sefera et F oo srammr
STAEIT T U Fiere faawor e & sromm)

4. sfRqay geadt faawef:

faer a% W 2|y [ §aRTt Arfe F @1 F HI0T Al 9 907 % Joq qeqw [ (i %)
& AT & &9 § 991 s gRiT 38 ST & o steadt #7 go7 = GAfagst & aqgt-1 %

W % ¥ Reifa st geaisa g #7 SR F7d g0 ieadl & qarieg 9o gl

Hermw e (H1 %) F7 Feriwor iy sfiw [t § 7996t yae # fGear w @G=w 7 gu &
ST

5. AW =1 R

AT % TAaeor § AIATAT TAT AT ATTHTLRT S TTAENLTRT o oI o T § g, TAT F4AT UH
fAawor &1 FRaor furrat F1 aufeq Feare foraar F g aerEr sgw BRgt F gr e
Iu-faterat & gre srerar st T T & ToT T o, s8Rt Soore faRaT srom)

6. fraw F e & sty ™ Rgia:

ITTE el & = ATerer & e § sraamar 77 |y frgia, Referied e o faEn
Tfgd, Teqa AT SITuaT:-
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(1) 7T 3 orgia SHTeRar & ofed Fweaare for@dl & g [gig &6 I o, J747 396
AR = grer sty su-fataat & g st sy ey &

(2) FEE FT A€ FT F Tgdt, I9 U1 il 9T I [HIHW F7 Fraw FFar SEr 2, =xda
SIATAT Srafer, ToAT T T SATaret’ 9+ o

(3) AT AT FT AEeA TAF Y qIA o6 T NHAH F dag § a7 37 g, I0ar 13+
FAST 9 o Hael H g, AT AT o q9 TTAT =747 e ThTE | 8 4T

(4) 9T FE ATEeA % A 9% A AT g, a1 I3 AT 9, a1 Aiga Feaare’ ol
7. OTferEteTRt F AT F deiy § Stfarery i ST < Aty F faqor & Fawr

(1) TAF-T T A *hr T % SATATT ATHAT T Fer ALY ST UH SATENAT F e Hl F9q7d
g0 arferEtemat #it et % deg # srferer & g=er o7 sferew & fEaawer #71 uw FEwr
et =9 & 9T 9garll SFaad i ATaiied Ha9E & (o0 STeRT-37eRT J&qa &ar
STTURTT:

STErerT st {3

(i) FoaTehe a9 F S et srfger;
(ii) STAT-HATHRT AT F I & SAARH T,
(iiil) STAT-HATHRT AT F I & SAqH T,
(iv) STAT-TATHRT TATE o AT TaT ST TRALT AT 7T TH & a9, T s al;
(V) SAE-HeATHA AT F S ATt 1 [t & siqfia i g afor;
(Vi) THET oA & ST AT T4, et i e & sifeer v afer,
(Vi) ST () & (vi) T AT TG T FA SA2);
rferere =T ferqeor:
rfereteent it ffer:
(i) ofa, e 6 T st T,
(i) v, ifay T,
(iii)y 9w, st aREdw storar w77 TR F a9, F(Q FE 8,

(iv) TFTETETRT & = Tohrer agaTar & |72, 39 qIfeiadl % 47 ad gu Sl
HATRIAT T TAT I sfavia ST Tfert (Tt 71 FEF);

(v) OfertgTRD T STE R HE AT & ", 39 qrertedi i #§eqr aq gu S
HEATRIAT 1 & I siawia AT it (1 1 FrEH);

(vi) T, sces stretera fRfer srrar svg ffer am @ (sae-geaisd Jafd & - @rdr &
ST aTiRa &g U=y Tforat srerT-stert aars s,

(vii) T T A T F FAT F-FAFETRE
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SpreiciIRILE
(viiiy  wfa, vt it At (sae-geaiea afer % = @l F AT F 9w
T TIFRAT ST | qqrs ),
T AT
(ix) sreitea et stferare: ((i) 7 (viii) T T T&T F FA SAT)
(2) TF FATX FAT & ATH % [0 AATHAT FHI AT 9l H7 TgA7 A0 TZadl & i,

S H F9| aTeT 8, AT AT 3 AT TAE TR F GgWNT STITR & e, yeqa B
STORTT

8. faaerl & weqdi=aw & Hefed Sy

(1) = faf=st it agaeE-1 % 9 (@) F @ 2 F siadta sfeatea Rt w1 Rergam ava
RITT, STT T 2T:-

(i) afieeor

(ii) T

(iii) Srofy

(iv) THTIT

(v) IT-aF
(vi) T

(2) T FAATHTOT I, AT AT 6 &< HAAT TAT T HaqT (FrEH AT % & =aqT qor
AT & ATEY AFTET [AET 8), STl A1 Foe HHT: Heeeqals’ A Fer gl

(3) 3 THIT W, AT TANIT T AT A S Fe THF AT o Fqad wHLA: TS
A TN gl

(4) TTIF TR & Stard AT AT G, ST,
(i) sTEag (TRAAT ATHT ITATRT H GISHL AT 0 Fog AT Figd
(i) Hag (TRET AT ITATET FT BIEHL o) A Fe "TH AR
(iii) srererg afadt ST 3T, aoft £ drered-uauer wfgg
(iv) Targ afadt ST 3aare, 9oft £ frared-uer afga

(5) N TATT FIT, AT A T<heh HAHTT AT AT G H HATAT, THH AT o Said FHL: TART Fe
e 3 S |t

(6) AT IT-TA G, AT, ST HAA, IqT FAA, ATI ATHN HAHT 3T FqeT
T BT, 3U-a Fe uer, v, w, & U= |@fEql
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(7) 3T A BN, AT TR TGATRIAT, ARG TgATHIAT, ST-a — AGATHIAT ThTT o Sawa
TR TART &1 o 79| - F i 99 % FAM: AqE-fusne 6w - frusme F
AT

(8) =T THZ IV, AT ATHTITE ATTUeNT 3T SEANIT AT(eh!, HTHT AT(HNT ATEHT 6 IT-a
F AT qE F7 AT AT A A

(9) TN THE FIT STATA U aY H SATIH AT o [oIT TRETHa IITHIH TAT UF qY & TF srarer

& o T itEw S 99 % € T9aE 90§ aid arie® A9 § TART &
ST ST SAAETT & IT-aN & Said HALT: UASHIL S S gl

(10) =T THE ENT, AT, TS Ih AT AET URd ST THaG TRAT STHT ScATE TAT Heg THadt
FHT ITTE | & Tc4F A0 F FAT FHA: TS T TSASIT F T

(11) 39 &1 % for " e=r fErawor yeqa o STia gt STeRdT o #1S dFad Jal 2l

(12) &+t 3ihs FSTTY § Yo T SITUIT S T I AT T F991 § &l SITu|

(13) AT AT % G |, BT 3T Fa< ot § qIiererdl i 9ear &7 gt A a6 af agf
“FTSTATEAT hl AT & €9 | 92T ST

(WSIELEICIERIERIFAREIE AR IR E RS
1. T Sttae SuT AT 1 srqeeter s i s

(1) stferfe=m it om=T 3 F T TStieha Sia" AHThdT & e ered F TALEAT AT~
LA T TUAT &

(i) U Sitad e Fgamlt arierE e & o
(i) U Shaw [Afer arafed afertemni & o)

(2) = FAR=HT & Sqg=T-1 F 90T () F @2 1(1) FT ATATAT 6 SAATATAT 7 T AT o6
FTRAT ETT AIET Shae [Wfer Faer g rir qriere el % o7 g g

2. sfeaw ¥ faqer F forg i

Strae TRt T I ST il ToATg T I QAL o6 (oI Hafertad aits 7, =4

A=t % A 1l % T a™ us @< ay & forg 6 & sfeaat sfiw <3arnst & gedisT o
ST gIAATA S HIToheh ST (Teaishd ATIAT & &9 H AT Ifeafaa) w1 uF AT sefera
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arfar o form Qo e,

farg (xi) wx Sfoafea #r Srgse EdtaTERatst it s oo wforat S 180 faw & srfers
THTAT &;

RELLERNCIRS
FEG ST FAT FT (STTHET) it ITART 7 it T2 7T 120 o & sffars  forw s,



[(TT Hl—@TE 4] BIESEEIRISEE S SR 31

(xv) CHET IIEIT F RO IO gEATAl F BIEFL AT AEANT FL AT FHT TAEAL
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ST V: STE-67aT AT & fAeior & e & fore fRAeft greftar amarvst afgaq qreiamsarst & e
ERIERLIE

1. e qaetar =Eam:
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& AT AT ST
4. SEA-SHAT AT AT A7 &

(1) STErT-EATAT FIAT FT 0T #77 T e Mea-erar Wt 1 0F /1 w= qidorq
ERT, ST %t AT SNGA-L19aT AT, S{ia e (97 s7a|qrd & fory sroferd ovee-ear
AT ST ATLTI0T TS (9T A6 o [olT ST Terd QTre-e77aT |ATioi &0 T R

(2)WW%W?ﬁ%—WW%WW%W?ﬁW-WWW
ST |

5. T&Iq 64 StTaare fager
(1) Sfrae AT ZEE & o GEer:
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(F) BT A AT TTAE-Sfrars -t (Fqaer T diua-11)
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S 3 gaferd g, it aurta & o 7219 % 3 AIaT [ HTRAT o a1 gIT @Tal o ST it
g F 9 3T % siew, i ff uger g, qug-aug 7 qey ey g AfAEy £ Searet
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FIAAT ATHTRATSA o [T AN & —

(1) “@THT ATF 3 (TUH 3) — A&l TATg a0 — Toalr TaTg f6awor Faa T TEid & aiid af ag1e
3R SO

(2) Fr@iT 7TF 17 (TuE 17) — g Rarfdr - sad sfeatea gefaaar siv adeimay w1 fF=w G faer
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(33?($)Waﬁﬁﬁﬁ?ﬁwmwgﬁﬁaﬁ?ﬁma$3ﬁ?aﬁﬁmaﬁ%ﬁaﬁmaﬁﬁww, 1938 (1938

T 4), Fu7 A i A arfeeor srfafaam, 1999 (1999 T 41) 7 9+t sttafaaw, 2013 &t

AUEATA F ATATT AT 6T T )

(3) THarelt &7 qeaise Aterf=aw oiT == A =t % Suae & Fqa 6 /@ 8

(4) STHTERAT FIT FAT AT TS AGTHA AAAT ST @ TAT TIAST A@ih AAGI Ta 39 AAFA0 F a7 39
stmerr 3 foro Sy o o Gl srer smer & fRer 3 grn wenfRatia sratwa frgiat w1 sraree w
2l
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1.

3. AET-adters g oft yriira F#3r

(1) Igia FarerT Fare &t aefiear it g a7 e qeog qie sraran Gfg fEwon F ara # 5 swarta
TE &

(2) FraTRat 7 yrferawor grer et dshiwr i ordt s Aeeat #1 squres T 8

4, TET-TEAHT % FIT g THIOT Fd g0 ey Uah THIIH [ST JAA-0 % daef § 37 S *
forw fafer 3 gy srafera et oft s smmoroer & srfafes g -

(1) Ieeid FAATRAT F T, Tiaad=r i e Bat (Shae Surrats & amaer §) e Feen & gefag
TewaT ot s st w1 s T g,

(2) forer =T, afe 1S 2T, TF Svgid UH ATHT F w7 H SHTRar gy T 7 Gl =mEt ¥ geataa
faert siie smaet &7 aoarae BT & qur

(3) urferefrerz=rt &t fAfert it sufeaat =1 Grft oft soor =1 o arferfrem==rt &t et & AR
Siie ferert & wafera s srfaf==w, 1938 (1938 FT 4) F IUSET FT Ioaod FLd gU Aol (4T AT 2

st [l — s
ATT-1
giamTd
(1) “srepate fer & = Ffest 7 s 1% e 2(1) 9 2(2) % e B o faer st 2)
(2) “smfEqat” & srferfe=m FT g 31 F I & ATHT SHTHAT FILT T, AT | SEqAT AT &l

(3) “fasi scaterat” | whagfa w@faer (Rfaawe) sfaff=w, 1956 &t amr 2 F @2 (F1) * siavq
FATTCATIOT T ATHIT §, TAT THH g TIAQT ATHHA g ST STIAT JoF AT rad Fol T iadi il
TS 20 TAT GHI-HHT T TR AT G107 i &f Sraanett Ut e Z[eqsi gaarsi & Zea=
FTAT B

(4) “THE” | I AT ITY ATAF AT, ARRAT, FHI, =19, AT 2@ET [taa Fwy #1 w9, 31 3950
FIE A ATHIT & S F9T-997 9¢ 09 IR g e &7 § J@isw 7 (vue) #§
Forafeariog et agantt, Ffa M, w9 a1 = o gore 91 ey ®9 9 Seead i T
/AT AT /T TANT STET ATHT S ATHT T STANT FLAT & AT TANT Fded 7 oofd | 27199 2l

TSN Ie@a 1T AT 37T / AT FRI=07 % 3177 ATt & A1 ST | 1977 5 A9 % ST i
TUET, AT AT AT €T H THg FT ART a9 F €T § FHIAIF AT =747 % forw Fgieor w2 % forg
#¥ T

(5) “srram o=t FUA1" FT S THA-THT qT FATHATE, Aty g &% grar 9% foro fRyifa =0 4
g

(6) “FEAATET FTAAT AT F THI-TAT TT TATHLET AT F1 90T it FLawrdt stferg==r =T 11
FFAT 2022 F FAAATY AT HIAAT 6 IT-21AT 6l AT A€ AT ATHIAT &

(7) “FEer sufeqat & ftatea & & G 7 adt faer st €
(i) Sfrae FwTRaT & 7T §

(F) g i [feat U arga-amar /i, IHe ggag ST FEa| fi -ge
sretera fAfee, arferframet it ogarht sie arafza [feen, o adts q&fmommT
e aT iR arafer ST sraErT (AATSASET) aigd 39 @ §oF ¥ q9iady s Hr
3Tt i fAfert #ir Ao w8

(@) I @ JoF T Iieadt S197 Scaral it [t afga dom, arfidt sraery s arqiEs
SAFETH T qTTTE TeTanT il =eT;
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(ii)

(1) FHF-THT 9T A AATET & stanq Sy 6 T fRenfAdern F e 39w are §oF 97
afadt #AT 3carat it [Afet afgq I geag 07 saa f arfertarst ©F IFe

srefera fafem;

TASTHT AT T T ST SAGETT FIAAT SIHTRdT digd STETor SHThdl & T o
AT qASTHT AT § T g fageft Fuet F7 amar F 7 § 399 T4\ AT °@rg §
sretera [femt, = AfF=ET F oaqae 3w 5 7 q@9-0F § 29 T w9 § 394 @
o 9T T-47HAT AT &0 (A=iod Feaaret et o f[feat s arferftarsi £
et

(8) T Ao ferEa

T Ao feraat # e fradt & 16 7 a0 F seies afagar sater arer seumaty o g

¥

(i) Tt (FfRe T usifaat) fBfRaw, 1999 F siavta dsfiga Gt e Y wsieh grar e
ERIRRIE IR R E

(ii) Tt (FfRe Y usifemt) fBffaw, 1999 % siavta dsfiga et e Y waieht grer e
ERIRRHE NI ET E b

(ii)y iR ¥

(iv) gAY foer (Fwar gare foett atga);

(v) O, AT, AT

(viy  Brarfers Yo (e dium);

(viiy T WIS ZIT AIIAT 979 &ls o7 forEd;

Sl
2. iR PR

(1) =< fF SRt 9TRT 27T F SAEta ATt ®9 § sraet A= fAfer 3 Gt s/ srfafaEe i g
275 % gr utsa sfaffaw & amr 27(2) F siwsta gamatearivg snfRaat & Faa gww-mmy w
Farerenfaa ST stfarffem, 1938 & ey 2(3) F AT AqHIRT TAYAAT FT BISHT 7T THE F AT
et & & Grt srifaa ferert ®, Merer 72t 3 sroram faforg = & 72t v, srorfq

Y et i Rt ereer |y, |59 9T SUERT U I TET 3T derd ey, e e
& o AT qUid: AT &1 qEraT 6T 2;

et =T 7 TR srarer SRy, |9 SToaT SURRT O A TATY g e fRd=e gt vt |@af,
T T ITEHT FT dal JoF AT A G, ST A1 F:7 g1, U o= & god & i A7 A1 g,

et et 7 sft srfeaat ux us sfffew 3w g e Re=e, Saw g g@adt 3 fiae aot &
T F0 F FH 2 Tt aut F o srow S Ot uv At sy Gh g

Foreft et 3 srfermTeT e oo Jewre Tdadt 3 fAiaw fa<hier aut § & &9 9 %7 3 fa<fiy aut %
T oy STt Ot 9= AArient F7 AT AT 8

et TEteg o g &9 § TR FO1 & StEer a7 S\ o @adr 3 Fiaw G
FuUt | & F:7 g w7 2 =i aut & forg a8 gfaad & g7 Arser @ & ™ g,
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(vi)
(vii)

(vii)

qred § o srarer "ty ord 3 3k sty a9ft T 3 For-ame T g6 g

Strae i\ i arferf@e 9% 39 ST g % siET FOr IHE g & T g osrayar ey ve
FraTRat grr & 3 g e sEa v afinrg su BT g aur e srEam F @6y § 399

AT TE A T

U ST % 9T HrATer ATt [reg gt aredtr Rerd S e, 1934 (1934 #1 2) fi
T AT | Tt FohaT T 8 e

T s faer e sterseor avadt Tt # srferg=eT g serted Rere F =7 § 9T w7
THAT 2

za Ata i, o Fever srafaa e & = § 7 s

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

(vi)

(Vi)

dT 3 H 8 T & A7 ¥ T Fre & Aqa a7 ¥ ww Td=w (Fiet afga) o o= AT 5w
S Tferg ot fora | Ared i e &9 g1 20 &9 & greaary sfee s i dearst g
ST R o S 9, il g e S foraa - et F e 919 g aqaa
Rrerer AT femfAgert, S=ATHT ST AT AT9a<], STl & AT e & i

Tt (Rl e vSiferat) fffae, 1999 F stavta usfiga fret fee ¥féw usi=h grer uw srerar
IR AL LT ITH FAAT g7 A FBoF T a1 &7 fRe=e a7 seurater aie, ffd=w, 5|
STHTOTT ST ATOTST T ST W1 ST2AT IHF THHeT L[ ITH 2

fAers 91 g7 srqwTad west i Hwrel F srefi weedty e S srfarfa, 1934 (1934 =
2) #t AL AT # Trergrer afafera St % o @ 2(1)(viii) F TTE TATE SHIfEt atgd
(I2T. AT @A H, ART STHRAIT, TAAT G2 T(daT STHILET, STHT THIMTS A1{R) TAT AT
frerd § g fafeeq =8 =1 & Areamra Srafisd SArariEt F 9 St

B-qeftar usie F ama T B-wefta v, S s fee 9% g ageiea § 3w ARt
s S R T e we fRenfHeen F eqEr Sqaied Maet # AT aadart [iee,

S8, AETATEe, Aeer-STeuTare i avd Fa3d e Hl TAAIIST q9T qaT AT forad /e

== fafa=mt % fAfF=w 6(3) &t stga=-1ll F @<= 1(6) § “FAATEr §L=AT gagr & daviq dqied
AT FO FAAT AATTRATT siqfied &9 § FAFmar G3==r nfeqat F I snfeq autiq
gt /AT AT (I ) THT|

qT ot & g JrerammE, J4t Ghfee i usitEt) B, 1999  savta dstia et

wiee T usiEht Tamr w1 wfee Y umw, srfeer g s et g o & ™
FrforTs 7=

== fafaaet & fAafRaw 6(3) # = T-1ll % @< 1(8) H FurateAriud a1 are foraa)
TISTH: G 3 | 8 TF & A1 &4 T "Hqie’ § Ifearad aT ordf F7 Tare a1 Srusm

FIHTHRAT FT T, ATATAAR FT 9T 27T(2)(ji) F ITSLT FT SATATAT i o fory [Ferer G At &1 92 & fohr
T fHarert F forg ofe srqwaa Reer 1 g ot s wee & et [fer / sofeaat & ve e s
TG & o qom wred = Rera §F g areaaraTd st A =i §eomst § uu & w7 ST 8§ 16 &
FHITET fAer &1 ART aaaarer e F oo sy #% ar g1 3% e afufa e & s
et = faawor, faaoor sie mTeT swafasrar o arer Iaeht arear  foro sawardt grft

ST T TTTErRor g7 fAfers =0 7 srqafa a8i &F STy, a9 T 9d § w47  gafaa f@feat & qd= 7
T g ToRelt |eaT § qu daet stterfeae, 2013 & 91T 8 F STefi At 47 & wueT srtertaas, 1956 HF
1T 25 o T a1 g H0eT § Hl (79T Agl (AT STUAT|
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3. At w1 RAffgw - Sta Samat:

Straa fimrRat == Rt % waee F o, e [t w1 9 sqqeret Fae srfRaat w1 FemEr
TRerer T 37 27 99T Ieg AT & § 979 T

(1) shaw fmr sraar £ gt [t (ram-amar ol & sfee aria, v s sfewer g9 § @t
TS, gt & et #7 gea) ofiT v adiy FdwonnT Fgg aiEs amat 6 sEEms
(AATSAIENT) TAT @2 4 F AR, I(Ae Tgdg Siiaqd 7 Faarg fit q47 it it f7-gf+e
sefera fafert,

(2) @< 5 % AT, o, AT i argfes® sraara fi a3t [femt; aur
(3) @< 6 F AATY, (e dgax Afeat it a+t Ffor F1 FHe setea Fid wmm

4, st & gmret 10(2Un), 27 a7 277 97 =4 AfFawi & el Suasi 9T iaga g91d & f&4r, staq
FAT FT AT FIAATAT TAF SHTHAT G2 3(1) H FATIRATT (T ST ATHT ATMT6T TAqT AL eF
AT UF (e Tgag a9 & gt Afvrt £ gfae srefera [t v grese s ffaat) s FRerer
arfeaat & e Rerferfera ader & F0 3w ge a9 3w Aafoa fRufa & w@m:

. IGECIE IR EDEY gT 3(1) ¥ ot e &7 & [fde
EORIGEI)
() | = FE At 25% & Fee
(ii) Frg TLHRT AT Wf?%{%ﬂﬁ TS FEHRR AT FqGfaat a1 977 | 50% I (I (i) 9ia)
sTiea gyt

Giy | = ATt & = 2(1) @07 (2) # @A w9 § st {ae | 509 & smfs
e farf=aw &t amr 270(2) ¥ ARy =5 & st e qom,
(Tt THHETT d gU) @e-8 H fAfAfdy = § wwdrere/ et
ATAEET & e

(v) | @ (eer sfefae 1 g 270(2) @ @AfAfde =9 4, @2-8 § | 159, & smfas
frfafie =1 & vader/ Aasgl arEst F s

(v) | e & afemr o1 St @i # g S i g | e i gt §or § g e

HeAT # e (sraata) aforat (i), (i), (i) 32 (iv) F7
w. g =T TFHTT AT g @ 3(1) F siaeta Afer
15% | FH TGl g

F. L AATH 9% AT gl & are/fed=

g. Te-Auir Frwamt F o g sEm 8% g fEAfgEg
HFATITH A7 e el fafde T @ &= GRe
e wsiferat) Bt 1999 F srefimr dstisa wfee ¥
TSET FRT UW ¥ A aaHT e § I Aare o
FATAT o e/ =7 T9T F Af6g 7 § AT amE
B Ft/geat & et e AT e 3 e A
Fut § § 77 § 77 2 FGO=iT aut & foro == gfqea & ==
aArter 7 1 2

T, FHF-H9F 9 =4 it & ot S o @ feefadent
# fafAfds aTest &1 [T F3d gU, safied sare o &
Ik, AT TR Sty

. g d=wT § Fae

Tt Fiet /= #1 afvem a1 wde, safiea g
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HEAT sfeqdi & &@r enfEa aufda wiasgfaat = 94T *
TS o forT srgar-sma g

"FEAATE AT AT T A qGHT-AHT 9T AATHAT T
1(6) ® far 77 =7 7 grm|

froqufy: e 2ofy (i) i (i) & BFar 2 fAerer smam s gfRamd
gor § O @ e w7 # 99 S, ged & dete
e AT d=AT giaer F =7 § ARt G of a6
AraegFaTy I wd & oo fBfory w7 vy afagfa sy
FIAT Bl

. e i areret 10(2uw), 27 =t 270 Ut =9 fAfAgt F GEf ff svay aw wiawe yama 2rer faar g,

FTITHT T ATeF AT FLAATAT TAF ATHTwRAT G2, AT(GNT ST AT eF ATETT 6T AqAT Aarer
a7 FETETe [Heer FT o7 g7 997 3w At &9 § a979 TE@:

. raer &1y g 3(2) % auiq fAfeat
T waea
(i) | T FE A Attt 20% & e
(i) | Fs TR AT afasfaat, w qwwr £ afqsfaat a1 se s sfgfamt | 40% & s (@ ()
af2q)
(i) | o F7 Faer @ 8 H gty vHnae/Aaw et ATHEst & e, sqAIed | 60%  AATAw
et ® AT =Ty, ST fF @ 2(1) 37 (2)# RAfAfEs w2l

feoqoft: == fAfFem & w7 o, sfaffem & g 270(2) F s FaEaEe ae faw F s
AreaTaT Frs AT A a gt T srom)

6. IMe Tgag AT FFq™T

(1) srfarfazs &t et 10 (2UW), 27 I7 27T AT =4 fEAfa=wi & Bt fF Suaer v gfager sara & f5ar
TIF STHRAT (A Hgag ATAE % G 3(3) (AT9Ter® T ¥ siqitga Taqfaat afgd) & siaia
TEATd SAATY a1 At e 1 fae F0 & g7 a3+ Aafoa Rafa & =93 @@
STEt It T sieat & A0l & 97 Hag AT S1aT1 § S Sca1e (A=l & S8 a1 [@aquaamg
T TRT agATIR T 2l

(2) AT, sTeTaa aert § faer s fEetra [fe & v [fet & 75% & #9981 grml

(3) @< 8 F it THT AUl 3fiT TFIIIY ATHES THUERASUA &q¥ I¥ G <k faFriord fHier & #q¢ a2
T B

(4) mTRaT ST o T g / RemfREert F AE aHT-HT 9T AT Jaerse I¥ qTierE ieaah B
% oI sTufera =[Aaw AT The HT

. Reert 1 RfFee — AT a1 e AT S FAqETT AT ST Gied aTerT STt

srterfare it gm=rst 10 (20W), 27, A7 2747 FoT 39 At & et off STay o giage gwre & e
ST AT FATET AT T AT FAAT STHTRAT Aed AT SHT FT AGETT FIAATAT STHTRAT A=
et T & et farer srfEasi #1 Faer Fa 7 22 997 3ve Mafad fafa & aamr @ m:

IGECUEIETEY fAarer sfRaay &1 afdew

(i)

g FCRT T afagfaat 20% & =g

(ii)

Ewﬁﬁw,mwﬁﬁ{%ﬁmmm 30% & 3179 (ST (i) @)
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(iif)

e 8 # fAfAfde =1 § uadiee / Aawqul ar9eet & el sTqaitad | 70% & Ater®
A g= 2(1) 9w (2) & AfAEE =1 § T stex [ gy 277 (2)
(T THATT A g0)|

(iv)

g fRaer g 270(2) ® AR =7 #, @= 8 # zawrlAfARe | 159 & s=fa=
L RIE WA EERFURIEESIEE PICT

(v)

Raferfaa & afsare a1 @die F g7 JEw ST AieHT IR %

oI 5T AT AT R

T, e # fFaer

F. TET ATATE S 3T geal & are/ffa= ‘ ‘

T, T A % g i Frwerdt F o arerr A | o aﬁ_{wmﬁiﬂ

T G A AT AT e (R v vee) Rt | A @i sTE At (), (i),

1999 ¥ siqifa usfia fft fRe YT oot gro uw & seg | (i) ST (iv) F TR @ gu e

adaTe YT & e qor Pt |t = & syraria e B e/ | AEaET 6 15% | FW gl g

A S o 3w wiaad & dvgd AT e @adt 3 AT

fafier aut & & #5072 faxii" a9t % o ser & =2 2h

T, AHI-H9T ¥ =9 AFAEET F dqq ar Ty T fRerfaden #

fafafae Aees @ Faw SR E™ O 6 9T SRd

ERIPEIEE LRI

. g de=wT A [Rew

q. TS Fiet/fREEe F Afva A1 wdiy, s gearar
HLAAT STEqAr & a6 Sfepel e anfeq qwfda gfagfaat =9
STUEAT o TATSIT o (oI STRar-aTa i

T, FEATET AT AT T AT FHI-G9T T TATHATET T
1(6) & fa7r 77 =94 | grm|

foroqoft: ol aofY (i) =fie (i) & B @ Rerer smam o g

=T § A9 F 9 § AW ST 9Fd 8, 999 TF "q&i9d GRe

‘it qeaT gaer F w9 § fAfAiEe G ot o i sraerward

T A ¥ foru fafere w7 & o=f wfasfa s st @)

“feroqufi--gs 3 & 7 F F TAe & g

(I) foerer & Ta&q it e

ferer &7 FF=T srufera erea-aTAar AT | T8 FAaq | aria Qawem<ahi & =it % forg ang
TEl T, TAT ATIA-LTHAT AT o TTHAT % (o0 A5l (oI STUIT| TAT e

(F) Feg TEATE AT STAGAal, T5F TR A TTaGiaat T o Aqariad Srafaat Tam e -araar
AT 7 fAefad Feaaret Rt & srare s gaamet §7=ar Haert § e 1 quia: srqaree
FIA % FTE FATIT STUIT

(T) LTTEA-7TAT | & STfEre aTiyd, AT st [Hiet &7 UAT ArfesT qg=r=-a0g &wai & qref
T ST ATHeT ara | e B sowm)

(1) U sterE A fet w1 Mgt Fae g fiwrFs g gwrE, fqifEs g F g ot
FoRaT STTUTT AT AT Fediahe ST & 916 RIee (a1 ST

(=) TowTieat o &= FoRam T UAET Sar Sl JET-aieE G AT ST ST 5 3 faeg
(), (@) T () FT AT AT 797 B

() “afadt o, wHg, YEds 998’ ST SN & % Uy ATHeT ed-9dr /e
(THATTHTH) T AqTeAT MTed-27ar qrro & s7faes e ffet i fasfog et st
At & fore @y g
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(I1)

(V1)

ateqat ar foradt § a9t f[Rerer, S TS SHag F AqaT W § I g & (o qee §, U arfeaat
1 format it #fee T ¥ eram o B S ot § Fr st fMaer a8t G stroem, =y v
foraa ¥ o st % foro eqw 8, wiq Ireht Y a8t i T 2

T At (Ffee I usifRat) e, 1999 F siavta usfrra et wfee T it gy &t st
ELER]

T | ST LT ITH AATar §aaT Haer ST SAqaTad sua 1 3l 3T & <6 &, AT (Haer F &7 §
T SO

A R 9% T ATEanTE e ad AR geret gy St 6 @ G F foraa i
T UW AT IAF THFE LT FT M| TS 36 U o fAaer [Harerwat ST ot 6 Toear O #37 %
o Suetsy AET 8, AT aerd St ot i Feer aftafa o v | quia: §qF 8, a7 e aiafd &
FrgT § fofaa § == 5 STarer wwon &, e afafy &= e W osifEt) &R, 1999 &
ST IStIghd (el shiee YT UStel g7 U+ | 37 IT IH GHEHe &7 | &7 T aaddTT e il Tgd
Feare foradt § [aet 7 S HTed F adT g #1106 3rg  AqAITed (Haer & &9 § JET ST0|

T 4,5,6 3T 7 F fauiq AqAITeq At &1, e T Rgia =gaaw W & &7 & @ g oar
IAHT ATATL ATAGEST I T FIAT TR Al 8, TaIHd o= a9 & €9 § F: afigd a1 =7 9rfe v
o faforg =7 & gafera aoft § 3+ stffRatia frar s =t

() Strae FAATHAT & ATHA H &l (or@dl (Fex T 0 TS, T T A Tragiaat a1 o=
AT Tiagfaat afgd) § 75 Siaerd & g7 Haer a7 (a7 37 ey S197 w1 a9 Faare
FATHRAT AT AT AHTHRAT & AHA H Fol [or@di (Feg TR At STagaal, T qehe il
gfagfaat a1 v SAqATea Srasifaat afz2d) #71 65 Sfaad & s=ga [Faer — fatafy foraar & oo
LA (ATARA) Fsl, TUT I AT ITh qHFH T F Ioh 9T sreqrary foraar & forw awar
(ATAR) FT, T1+ IT IAEF THEKE T I &9 § RN T (A Ggdg AGad & ATHA | T
fAfer(=r) = forg =g 2rm

feoquft: Straw dwrwatstt & wraer & Faer % 75 gfaaa o q@atar a1 s ST 2EE #ard
FATHRAT AT ATLTOT STHTHRAT 6 AT | fHarer % 65 Tiaard &1 gFwas w24 § “For foraat § [,
FAffed &) FILANE I F I<h a9 LT, @) 9% HIATE STHTA T) Tqds q9g FIAT e 3T T
TRd T[AAT FS(HeT) § e 1 TAT e A7 BATH=e F =7 & 981 9197 109

(@) Strae ST & HTH § Fol for@dl (g TEhTe 6l STaiaat, T qERT i Trasiaat a1 o=
FETRa Tiasfaat) § @ 3(1) 3 @< 3(3) & dqrq W=l & 5 wiaerd & AafaT qar qHai|r a1
TATES AT & AGHTT FIAATA ATHTRAT Higd ATETIOT FAHTHAT 6 AT H Fof for@di (Fex LT il
S, T5F AT AT TTAsadi 37 o SIqaiied Stasfaat atga) ¥ faer % 8 widerd & st &
foro Erafater & for w a7 SEE 9 94T 39 aHEwey LT g

() BT 3(2) F siasta fAfaat & g [Ferer srex et & w8 3 ST |ekam)

() ErErate F o T - (TU 9TEAs) A7 I w9 LT ITH el foradi § fHerer AT deqraty &et
oraat & forw w1 & = 77 38 FweEwet oY T F= 97 Suert o W § 36 gEardt @v=4r w9 oraa
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(1) et F o veaee 7eEe:
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F forr vFTeT @ 8
#r feoqoft % sfaia foeg
V) F sgEr BT
ST
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et srfeaat
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12 gfarera
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%.50,000 FIE ¥ 9
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TAATSHT a0 " SraTe & | 63 13 [Harent 9% @y 9@t g
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(Il

(iiy  HEAT F ITH GSMFA AT S T USHET FIRT UU AT 38 qHFET Hl qAqH Hise LT
AT fRerert = forw o grRi

(iv)  SESTUw-uaUEET # a3 o v S = e (1) F e E)

et arrestiaes e i forfires g s Rafordt o s gfRars s fasy st (ared
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Afafi=h 5 Tiderd T IR Sii¥ 2T ST TFdT g
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Rt &t Rafa &, == AfF=mT & e araier 1 s R e F91 9% aR] g
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(vii) TRerer afafa 1 TF Faer % S &1 godisd &9 § 9 GHTer Aatasdl I8 F3AT A1g0 a7
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(THATT)/ TATH AT (T o) THTOTAT (FETEHT) 1 AqAIET (TOU AT IATH hieSe LT & q71) 3T
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(Vi)

(VIIT)
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STEl e foerer sfera: Y& A<l § 8, a8l UH A 9 WY 7 7E a7 UTFAIL ATAEET i HIUET
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T 8(2) @ fAfea fordT ara * grd gu Y, STt et et F 3T adaTe SETeTeaEt w1 97 7 AT
5 T €, o adaTe 99w @ 2(1)(v) 3T Fa< (36 ST 8 i Sramedl g2 7 &1 UF a7 g,
Fgt TEHRdT T 77 ® ATETT FT a8, T9d o Ik g AT R T q9 9 v
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FAT FEFATAT H TFIIGE F FT H AT ATCIAT (TAAHT aw20r-2008 T =T F F ATH)!
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T SO S # fAeer sftaw dreatet F arwer § At [ 3 widera & st w@t grm
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(XI1)

(X1
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INSURANCE REGULATORY AND DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY OF INDIA
NOTIFICATION
Hyderabad, the 20th March, 2024

Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Actuarial, Finance and Investment
Functions of Insurers) Regulations, 2024

F. No. IRDAI/Reg/10/204/2024.—In exercise of the powers conferred by clauses (g), (h), (i), (ia), (ib),
(y), (2), (za), (zd) and (zab) of sub-section (2) of section 114A, Sections 11, 13, 20, 27, 27A, 27B, 27C, 27D,
28, clause (a) of sub-section (3) of section 29, 49, 64V, and 64VA of the Insurance Act, 1938, (4 of 1938) and
section 14 and 26 of the Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority Act, 1999 (41 of 1999), the
Authority, in consultation with the Insurance Advisory Committee, hereby makes the following regulations,
namely:

CHAPTER-I
PRELIMINARY

Short title, applicability and commencement:

(1) These regulations may be called the Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India
(Actuarial, Finance and Investment Functions of Insurers) Regulations, 2024.

(2) These regulations shall come into force from the date of their publication in the Official Gazette or 1
April, 2024 whichever is later.

(3) These regulations are applicable to all insurers including those engaged exclusively in reinsurance
business, unless otherwise specified.

(4) These regulations shall be reviewed once in every three years from the date of its publication, unless
the review or repeal or amendment is warranted earlier.

2. Objectives: The key objectives of these regulations are to ensure that:
(1) sound and responsive management practices are in place for effective discharge of actuarial, finance
and investment functions and analysis, covering the areas including but not limited to the valuation of
assets and liabilities, regulatory reporting, bonus distribution, asset-liability management, solvency,

investment and risk management;

(2) regulatory returns are prepared and reported in accordance with applicable standards, principles and
policies to provide a true and fair view of state of affairs of the insurer;

(3) policyholders'’ interests are protected and

(4) ease of doing business is facilitated.

3. Definitions:
(1) Inthese regulations, unless the context otherwise requires-

(i) “Act” means the Insurance Act, 1938 (4 of 1938);
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(i) “Actuarial Practice Standards” means the standards of practice and guidance notes issued by the
Institute of Actuaries of India;

(iii) “Actuary” means an actuary as defined in section 2(1) of Insurance Act, 1938;

(iv) “Authority” means the Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India established under
sub-section (1) of section 3 of the Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority Act, 1999 (41 of
1999);

(v) “Available Solvency Margin” means:

In case of a Life insurer, the excess of value of assets subject to admissibility criteria specified
under these regulations, available in policyholders’ and shareholders’ funds over and above the
value of Mathematical Reserves and other liabilities of policyholders’ and shareholders’ funds;

In case of a General insurer or Health insurer, the excess of value of assets subject to admissibility
criteria specified under these regulations, available in policyholders’ and shareholders’ funds over
and above the Technical Liabilities and other liabilities of policyholders’ and shareholders’ funds;

In case of a reinsurer, the excess of value of assets subject to admissibility criteria specified under
these regulations, available in policyholders’ and shareholders’ funds over and above the
Mathematical Reserves, Technical Liabilities and other liabilities of policyholders’ and
shareholders’ funds;

(vi) “Competent Authority” means

(a) Chairperson or
(b) such whole-time member or such committee of the whole-time members or such officer (s) of
the Authority, as may be determined by the Chairperson.

(vii) “General insurer” means an insurer transacting general insurance business as defined in the Act;
(viii) “Life insurer” means an insurer carrying on life insurance business as defined in the Act;

(ix) “Mathematical Reserves” means the provisions determined in accordance with these regulations
to cover liabilities (excluding liabilities which have fallen due and liabilities arising from deposit
back arrangement in relation to any policy whereby an amount is deposited by re-insurer with the
cedant) arising under or in connection with policies or contracts of life (Re)insurance business
which includes specific provision for adverse deviations of all the bases including but not limited
to mortality and morbidity rates; lapse rates, interest rates and expenses; and any explicit
provision made in the valuation of liabilities;

()  “Premium Deficiency Reserve (PDR)” means the reserve held in excess of the unearned
premium reserve, which allows for any expectation that the unearned premium reserve will be
insufficient to cover the cost of claims and expenses incurred during the period of unexpired risk;

(xi) “Required Solvency Margin” means the amount arrived in the manner as specified under Part Il or
Part IV or Part V of Schedule-I of these regulations as applicable subject to a minimum of fifty per
cent of the amount of minimum capital as stated under section 6 of the Insurance Act, 1938;

(xii) “Solvency Ratio” means the ratio of the amount of Available Solvency Margin to the amount of
Required Solvency Margin;
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(xiii)  “Technical Liabilities” means the provisions determined in accordance with these regulations to
cover liabilities arising under or in connection with policies or contracts of General (Re)insurance
business or Health (Re)insurance Business which include specific provision for adverse
deviations of all the bases of actuarial valuation.

(xiv) “Unearned Premium Reserve (UPR)” means an amount representing that part of the premium
written which is attributable and to be allocated to the succeeding accounting periods;

(2) All words and expressions used herein and not defined in these regulations but defined in the Insurance
Act, 1938 (4 of 1938), or the Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority Act, 1999 (41 of 1999) or
any Rules or Regulations made thereunder shall have the meanings respectively assigned to them in
those Acts or Rules or Regulations.

CHAPTER-1I
GUIDING PRINCIPLES FOR ACTUARIAL, FINANCE AND INVESTMENT FUNCTIONS

4. Principles governing the Actuarial, Finance and Investment functions of insurers

(1) Mathematical Reserves or Technical liabilities, as the case may be, are based on sound actuarial
principles;

(2) Solvency margin of insurer is ensured at least at the control level at all times;
(3) Financial statements reflect true and fair picture of the financial condition of the insurer;
(4) Funds are invested such that the policyholders’ liabilities are met as and when due;

(5) Suitable and adequate resources are available with insurer to carry out actuarial, finance and
investment functions.

5. Board approved policies of the insurer

Insurers shall have in place, polices governing areas of actuarial, finance and investment functions, such
as bonus distribution philosophy as applicable, asset-liability management, investment and risk
management duly approved by the Board of Directors or by the Executive Committee of Management in
case of a foreign company engaged in re-insurance business through a branch established in India (FRB).

6. In addition to the above, insurers shall follow the respective provisions as set out below:
(1) Schedule - I: Actuarial functions
(2) Schedule - II: Finance functions
(3) Schedule - llI: Investment functions
(4) Schedule- IV: Loans and Advances by Insurance Companies.
(5) Schedule - V: Inspection and Supply of Returns
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CHAPTER Il
MISCELLANEOQUS

7. Power to issue circulars, guidelines and directions

The Competent Authority may issue from time to time circulars, guidelines and directions relating to these
regulations, if necessary including but not limited to, with profit committee, applicable norms in respect of
Appointed Actuary, Foreign Reinsurer's Branches, detailed information to be obtained in relation to the
statements appended to the Actuarial Report and Abstract, submission of any other additional forms or
statements with respect to Life insurance, General insurance, Health insurance and Reinsurance business
as applicable.

8. Power to issue clarifications and to remove difficulties

In order to remove any doubts or difficulties that may arise in the application or interpretation of any of the
provisions of these regulations, the Competent Authority may issue appropriate clarifications as and when
deemed necessary.

9. Repeals

(1) These regulations shall repeal the following regulations from the date these regulations come into force:

a. Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Actuarial Report and Abstract for Life
Insurance Business) Regulations, 2016 and subsequent amendments;

b. Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority (Distributions of Surplus) Regulations, 2002;

c. Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Assets, Liabilities and Solvency Margin
of Life Insurance Business) Regulations, 2016;

d. Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Assets, Liabilities and Solvency Margin
of General Insurance Business) Regulations, 2016 and subsequent amendments;

e. Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Appointed Actuary) Regulations, 2022;

f. Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Investment) Regulations, 2016;

g. Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Preparation of Financial Statements
and Auditors’ Report of Insurance Companies) Regulations, 2002 and subsequent amendments;

h. Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Inspection and Fee for Supply of Copies
of Returns) Regulations, 2015;

i. Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Loans or Temporary Advances to Full
Time Employees of the Insurers) Regulations, 2016;

(2) Other provisions which were in existence in the regulations mentioned under sub regulation (1) of
regulation 9 above and not mentioned in these regulations shall be provided separately by the circular
issued under provision of regulation 7 of these regulations.

DEBASISH PANDA, Chairperson
[ADVT .-I11/4/Exty./865/2023-24]
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SCHEDULE - I: ACTUARIAL FUNCTIONS
Part I: Definitions

1. General:

(1) “Institute of Actuaries of India” means a statutory body established under section 3 of the Actuaries Act,
2006 (35 of 2006);

(2) “Valuation date” means, in respect of any valuation, the date as at which the valuation is made;
(3) “Ordinarily Resident in India” means a resident in India defined as per the Income Tax Act, 1961

2. Definitions applicable to Life insurers:

(1) “Extra premium” means a charge or premium collected for additional risk exposure beyond the risk
factored in deriving the standard premium rates;

(2) “Group business” means business other than individual business;

(3) “Guarantees” means the terms in regard to benefits or premiums or charges, which shall not be altered
during the currency of the policy;

(4) “Individual business” means individual insurance contracts issued on single or joint life basis;

(5) “Inter valuation period” means period between two successive actuarial valuations of asset and liabilities
of an insurer,

(6) “Maturity date” means a fixed date on which maturity benefit may become payable either absolutely or
contingently;

(7) “Non-par policies” or “policies without participation in profits” means policies which are not entitled for
any share in surplus or profits;

(8) “Non-participating policyholders” means the holders of “non-par policies”;
(9) “Options” means the rights available to a policyholder under a policy;

(10) “Par policies” or “policies with participation in profits” means polices which are entitled to share in
surplus or profits during the policy term as per Section 49 of the Insurance Act, 1938.;

(11) “Policies with deferred participation in profits” means polices entitled for participation in profits after a
certain period from the date of commencement of the policy;

(12) “Participating policyholders” means the holders of “par policies” and “policies with deferred participation
in profits”;

(13) “Premium payment term” means the period during which premiums are payable;

(14) “Policy Accounts” means funds for each policy under Variable Linked Business and Variable Non-
Linked Business;

(15) “Sum at risk”, at any point of time in respect of a policy is the excess of
Sum of
{'Lump sum benefit payable on death or any other contingency covered’}
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and

{Present Value of the benefits payable on account of death or any other contingency in form of
periodical payments including annuity payments’}

Over

{Mathematical Reserves} of the policy

3. Definitions applicable to General insurers:

(1) "Allocated Loss Adjustment Expenses (ALAE)" are claim-related expenses that are directly attributable
to a specific claim;

(2) “Claim Reserves” means the reserves in respect of the claims which have already occurred as on the
date of valuation;

(3) “Incurred But Not Enough Reported (IBNER) Reserves” means the reserves reflecting the expected
changes in the estimates of reported claims including ALAE, if any;

(4) “Incurred But Not Reported Claim (IBNR) Reserves” includes IBNER, estimate for reopened claims,
provision for incurred but not reported claims, provision for claims in transit as on the date of valuation
and ALAE;

(5) “Outstanding Claim Reserves (OS Reserves)’ means the provision made in respect of all outstanding
reported claims as on the date of valuation including ALAE;

(6) “Unexpired Risk Reserves” means the reserves in respect of the liabilities for unexpired risks and
determined as the aggregate of Unearned Premium Reserve (UPR) and Premium Deficiency Reserve
(PDR).

Part Il: Appointed Actuary

1. Appointment of an Appointed Actuary:

An insurer registered to carry on insurance business in India shall appoint an actuary, on approval of the
Competent Authority, who shall be known as the “Appointed Actuary” for the purposes of the Act.

2. Procedure for Appointment of an Appointed Actuary:
(1) A person shall be eligible to be appointed as an Appointed Actuary for an insurer, if he or she is:
(i) An Ordinarily Resident in India;
(i) A Fellow member in accordance with the Actuaries Act, 2006;

(iii) A Fellow Member of the Institute of Actuaries of India (lAl), satisfying the following requirements in
case of a Life insurer:

(a) At least 12 years of experience in the area of Life Insurance and out of which at least 7 years shall
be post fellowship experience.

Provided that, if the applicant has passed the Specialist Application or Specialist Advanced level
subject in Life Insurance from Institute of Actuaries of India or from any other institute or body with
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(b)

(c)

which IAl has Mutual Recognition Agreement, the experience criteria including post fellowship
experience criteria as mentioned in clause 2(1)(iii)(a) of Part Il of Schedule-I of these regulations,
shall be reduced by 2 years.

At least 3 years post fellowship experience out of 7 years or 5 years as applicable, as specified
under clause 2(1)(iii)(a) of Part Il of Schedule-I of these regulations shall be in the preparation or
review of annual statutory valuation or product pricing of an Indian Life insurer or Indian reinsurer
or Foreign Reinsurer’s Branch established in India.

Notwithstanding the above, experience in the area of Life Insurance as a Peer Reviewer or
Independent Actuary or Panel Actuary or Actuary certifying the reinsurance returns for Life
reinsurance business or experience in actuarial consultancy in Life Insurance business or relevant
experience with the Authority shall also be considered.

At least 3 years of experience shall be in the role of middle or senior level management.

(iv) A Fellow Member of the Institute of Actuaries of India (lAl), satisfying the following requirements in

case of a General insurer:

(@)

(b)

(c)

(@)

At least 9 years of experience in the area of General Insurance and out of which at least 4 years
shall be post fellowship experience.

Provided that, if the applicant has passed the Specialist Application or Specialist Advanced level
subject in General Insurance from Institute of Actuaries of India or from any other institute or body
with which 1Al has Mutual Recognition Agreement, the experience criteria including post
fellowship experience criterion as mentioned in clause 2(1)(iv)(a) of Part Il of Schedule-I of these
regulations, shall be reduced by 2 years.

At least 2 years post fellowship experience out of 4 years or 2 years as applicable, as specified
under clause 2(1)(iv)(a) of Part Il of Schedule-I of these regulations shall be in the preparation or
review of annual statutory valuation or product pricing of an Indian General insurer or Indian
reinsurer or Foreign Reinsurer’s Branch established in India.

Notwithstanding the above, experience in the area of General Insurance as a Peer Reviewer or
Panel Actuary or Actuary certifying reinsurance returns for General reinsurance business or
experience in actuarial consultancy in General Insurance business or relevant experience with the
Authority shall also be considered.

At least 3 years of experience shall be in the role of middle or senior level management.

(v) A Fellow Member of the Institute of Actuaries of India (IAl), satisfying the following requirements in
case of a Health insurer:

At least 9 years of experience in the area of General or Health Insurance and out of which at least
4 years shall be post fellowship experience.

Provided that, if the applicant has passed the Specialist Application or Specialist Advanced level
subject in General or Health Insurance from Institute of Actuaries of India or from any other
institute or body with which IAl has Mutual Recognition Agreement, the experience criteria
including post fellowship experience criterion as mentioned in clause 2(1)(v)(a) of Part Il of
Schedule-I of these regulations, shall be reduced by 2 years.



[T H—aTE 4] AT &1 TSI ITET00 211

(b) At least 2 years post fellowship experience out of 4 years or 2 years as applicable, as specified
under clause 2(1)(v)(a) of Part Il of Schedule-I of these regulations shall be in the preparation or
review of annual statutory valuation or product pricing of an Indian General or Health insurer or
Indian reinsurer or Foreign Reinsurer’s Branch established in India.

Notwithstanding the above, experience in the area of General or Health Insurance as a Peer
Reviewer or Panel Actuary or Actuary certifying reinsurance returns for General or Health
reinsurance business or experience in actuarial consultancy in General or Health insurance
business or relevant experience with the Authority shall also be considered.

(c) At least 3 years of experience shall be in the role of middle or senior level management.

(vi) An employee of the insurer on full time basis;

(vii) A person who has not committed any professional or other misconduct;

(viii) Not an Appointed Actuary of any other insurer in India;

(ix) A person who possesses a Certificate of Practice issued by the Institute of Actuaries of India;

(x) Not over the age of 70 years.

)

®3)

(4)

®)

(6)

Provision for existing Appointed Actuaries as on date of notification of these regulations:

The existing Appointed Actuaries as on the date of notification of these regulations are eligible to
continue as Appointed Actuary of the respective insurer.

An insurer shall seek the approval of the Competent Authority for the appointment of Appointed
Actuary, submitting the application in the format as may be specified from time to time.

The Competent Authority shall, within thirty days from the date of receipt of application, either accept or
reject the same.

Provided that before rejecting the application, the Competent Authority shall give an opportunity of
being heard to the insurer.

An insurer, who is unable to appoint an Appointed Actuary in accordance with clause 2(1) of Part Il of
Schedule-l of these regulations, shall make an application to the Competent Authority in writing for
relaxation of any of the eligibility conditions. The Competent Authority may grant relaxation of one or
more conditions. However, there shall be no relaxation in respect of conditions under clause 2(1)(ii),
2(1)(vii) & 2(1)(ix) of Part Il of Schedule-I of these regulation.

The appointment of an Appointed Actuary shall take effect on or after the date of approval by the
Competent Authority.

Effect of rejection of the application

The insurer shall, within four weeks of rejection of the application referred to under clause 2(5) of Part Il of
Schedule-l of of these regulations, apply to the Competent Authority under clause 2(4) of Part Il of
Schedule-I of these regulations for the appointment of an actuary as an Appointed Actuary other than the
one rejected by it under clause 2(5) of Part Il of Schedule-I of these regulations.
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4. Carrying on business without Appointed Actuary

(1) No insurer shall carry on the business of insurance/reinsurance without an Appointed Actuary. Any non-
compliance in this regard shall attract appropriate actions under the relevant provisions of the Act.

(2) The Competent Authority, on request of the insurer for relaxation of the provisions under clause 4(1) of
Part Il of Schedule-1 of these regulations, may grant relaxation for such period (not exceeding one year),
as it may deem appropriate.

(3) The Competent Authority may issue circular(s) from time to time regarding the transitory provisions for
consideration of relaxation referred under clause 4(2) of Part Il of Schedule-1 of these regulations.

5. Cessation of Appointment as Appointed Actuary

(1) An Appointed Actuary shall be given a notice of withdrawal of approval by the Competent Authority on
the following grounds:

(i) that he or she ceases to be eligible in accordance with clause 2(1) of Part Il of Schedule-I of these
regulations, or

(i) that he or she has, in the opinion of the Competent Authority, failed to perform adequately and
properly the duties and obligations of an Appointed Actuary under these regulations.

(2) The Competent Authority after serving a notice to such Appointed Actuary shall grant an opportunity of
being heard and thereafter issue appropriate order either withdrawing approval or revocation of the
notice issued.

(3) If the Appointed Actuary makes formal intimation to the insurer to cease to be an Appointed Actuary of
the insurer otherwise than on the grounds mentioned in clause 5(1) of Part Il of Schedule-1 of these
regulations, the insurer and the Appointed Actuary shall intimate the Competent Authority the reasons
thereof within one week of the date of such intimation to the insurer.

(4) The insurer in consultation with Appointed Actuary shall endeavour to avoid delay in submission of
annual statutory returns arising from cessation of services of Appointed Actuary.

6. Powers of Appointed Actuary

(1) An Appointed Actuary shall have access to all such information and documents in possession or under
control, of the insurer if the same access is necessary for the proper and effective performance of the
functions and duties of the Appointed Actuary.

(2) The Appointed Actuary may seek any information for the purpose of clause 6(1) of Part Il of Schedule-I
of these regulations from any officer or employee of the insurer.

(3) The Appointed Actuary shall be entitled to attend, speak and discuss on any matter in meetings of the

management including directors meeting of the insurer and in meetings of the shareholders or the
policyholders of the insurer:

(i) that relates to the actuarial advice given to the directors;
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(i) that may affect the solvency of the insurer;
(iii) that may affect the ability of the insurer to meet the reasonable expectations of policyholders; or

(iv) on which actuarial advice is necessary.

(4) An Appointed Actuary shall be entitled to make any statement to insurer, for the purpose of the
performance of his or her functions as Appointed Actuary. This is in addition to any other privilege
conferred upon an Appointed Actuary under any other regulations.

(5) No provision of the letter of appointment of the Appointed Actuary, shall restrict or prevent his or her
duties, obligations and privileges under these regulations.

7. Duties and obligations of Appointed Actuary

In particular, and without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing matters, and in the interests of the
insurance industry and the policyholders, the duties and obligations of an Appointed Actuary of an insurer
shall include:

(1) Ensuring that all the requisite records have been made available to him or her for the purpose of
conducting actuarial valuation of liabilities and assets of the insurer;

(2) Rendering actuarial advice to the management of the insurer, in particular in the areas of product design
and pricing, insurance contract wording, investments and reinsurance;

(3) Identifying and monitoring the risks associated with the insurer’s ability to maintain the solvency at all
times and reporting those risks to the Board of the insurer where the Appointed Actuary believes that
there are material concerns which may adversely affect the solvency of the insurer with
recommendations on actions to be taken for rectification of solvency position and informing the
Competent Authority, if the insurer fails to take necessary steps to rectify the situation;

(4) Complying with the provisions of the section 64V of the Act in regard to certification of the assets and
liabilities that have been valued in the manner required under the said section;

(5) Complying with the provisions of the section 64 VA of the Act in regard to maintenance of required
control level of solvency margin in the manner required under the said section;

(6) Drawing the attention of management of the insurer, to any matter on which he or she thinks that action
is required to be taken by the insurer to avoid any contravention of the Act of such a nature that it may
affect the interests of the policyholders;

(7) Complying with the Authority’s directions from time to time;

(8) Ensuring that overall pricing policy of the insurer is in line with the overall underwriting and claims
management policy of the insurer;

(9) Ensuring adequacy of reinsurance arrangements;

(10) Contributing to the effective implementation of the risk management system;
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(11) Complying with the provisions of section 21 of the Act in regard to further information required by the
Authority;

(12) In addition to the above, the duties of an Appointed Actuary of an insurer carrying on life insurance
business shall include:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)
v)

(vi)

(vii)
(viii)
(ix)

)
(xi)

Certifying the actuarial report and abstract and other returns as required under section 13 of the
Act;

Complying with the provisions of the section 112 of the Act with regard to recommendation of
interim bonus or bonuses payable by life insurer to policyholders whose policies mature for
payment by reason of death or otherwise during the inter-valuation period;

Rendering actuarial advice in respect of expenses of management of the insurer;

Ensuring that the premium rates of the insurance products are fair;

Certifying that the mathematical reserves have been determined in the manner prescribed in Part
Il of Schedule-1 of these regulations and taking into account the Guidance Notes /Actuarial
Practice Standard issued by the Institute of Actuaries of India and any directions given by the
Authority;

Ensuring that the policyholders' reasonable expectations have been considered in the matter of
valuation of liabilities and distribution of surplus to the participating policyholders who are entitled
for a share of surplus;

Submitting the actuarial advice in the interests of the insurance industry and the policyholders;

Coordinating the calculation of mathematical reserves;

Ensuring the appropriateness of the methodologies and underlying models used, as well as the
assumptions made in the calculation of mathematical reserves;

Assessing the sufficiency and quality of the data used in the calculation of mathematical reserves;

Informing the Board of insurer about the reliability and adequacy of mathematical reserves;

(13) In addition to sub clause (1) to (11) of clause 7 of Part-1l of Schedule-I of these regulations, the duties
of the Appointed Actuary of the insurer carrying on general insurance business or health insurance
business include:

(i)
(ii)

(iii)
(iv)

Ensuring that the premium rates of the insurance products are fair;

Certifying that claims reserves including reserves for incurred but not reported claims (IBNR) and
other reserves (including reserves for incurred but not enough reported claims (IBNER) and
premium deficiency reserve (PDR)) have been determined using actuarial principles and in the
manner prescribed in Part IV of Schedule-1 of these regulations;

Rendering actuarial advice in respect of expenses of management of the insurer;

Coordinating the calculation of reserves for IBNR and other reserves (including reserves for
IBNER and PDR);
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(v) Assessing the sufficiency and quality of the data used in the calculation of reserves for IBNR and
other reserves including reserves for IBNER and PDR;

(vi) Informing the Board of insurer about the reliability and adequacy of reserves for IBNR and other
reserves including reserves for IBNER and PDR,;

(14) informing the Competent Authority in writing of his or her opinion, within a reasonable time,

(i) any contravention of the Act or any other Acts by the insurer is of such a nature that it may affect
significantly the interests of the Policyholders or beneficiaries of policies issued by the insurer;

(ii) whether the directors of the insurer have failed to take such action as is reasonably necessary to
enable him or her to exercise his or her duties and obligations under these regulations; or

(iif) whether an officer or employee of the insurer has engaged in conduct in order to prevent him or her
exercising his or her duties and obligations under these regulations.

(15) If an Appointed Actuary is disqualified to act as an Actuary, he or she ceases to exist as Appointed
Actuary forthwith;

(16) While carrying out his or her duties and obligations, the Appointed Actuary shall pay due regard to
generally accepted actuarial principles and practices;

(17) The Appointed Actuary shall inform the Competent Authority of any disciplinary proceedings initiated
against him or her by any entity within seven days from the date of such initiation.

8. Conflict of interest

(1) The Appointed Actuary shall function in accordance with these regulations, and he or she shall not
function in any other capacity which could result in conflict of interest in performing his or her role as
Appointed Actuary in accordance with these regulations.

(2) The insurer and the Appointed Actuary shall comply with the provisions of clause 8(1) of Part Il of
Schedule-I of these regulations above at all times during his or her tenure as Appointed Actuary.

9. Obligations of the insurer
(1) The insurer shall provide adequate resources to the Appointed Actuary.

(2) In order to build up or develop sufficient actuarial expertise, life insurers shall have at least two actuaries
and general/standalone health insurers shall have at least one actuary in addition to Appointed Actuary
for pricing and valuation purposes within such period as may be notified by the Competent Authority
from time to time.

(3) The insurer shall ensure that different functions of the insurer provide adequate support to the
Appointed Actuary in discharging his or her duties and obligations.

(4) The insurer shall ensure that the Appointed Actuary does not simultaneously perform the role of Chief
Risk Officer of the insurer. The Chief Risk Officer, however may preferably be an Actuary independent
of the Appointed Actuary.
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(5) The insurer shall ensure that the Appointed Actuary reports directly to Chief Executive Officer of the
insurer.

10. Applicability to reinsurance business

Part Il of Schedule- | of these regulations shall apply to Indian reinsurers. The norms applicable in respect
of FRBs shall be as specified by the Competent Authority.

Part 1ll: Valuation of Life Insurance Business
1. Applicability
This part of regulations shall be applicable to all the life insurers.
(A) Assets, Liabilities and Solvency Margin
1. Valuation of Assets

All assets of a life insurer shall be valued in accordance with Schedule- Il — Finance functions of these
regulations, other applicable Regulations, including IRDAI (Registration, Capital Structure, Transfer of
Shares and Amalgamation of Insurers) Regulations, 2024 and applicable extant norms, except the
following assets which shall be placed with value zero for solvency margin computation:

(1) Agents’ and Intermediaries’ balances and outstanding premiums in India, to the extent they are not
realised within a period of thirty days;

(2) Agents’ and Intermediaries’ balances and outstanding premiums outside India, to the extent they are
not realisable;

(3) Sundry debts, to the extent they are not realisable;

(4) Advances and receivables of an unrealisable character;

(5) Loans and advances as per Schedule — IV of these regulations;

(6) Furniture, fixtures, dead stock and stationery;

(7) Deferred expenses;

(8) Debit balance of Profit and loss appropriation account balance and any fictitious assets other than pre-
paid expenses;

(9) Reinsurer’s balances outstanding for more than one hundred and twenty days;

(10) Leasehold improvements;

(11) Goods and Services Tax (GST) unutilized credit outstanding for more than one hundred and twenty
days;

(12) Seventy-five percent of the 'Deferred Tax Asset' other than that arising on account of "Accumulated
losses";

(13) 'Deferred Tax Asset' arising on account of "Accumulated losses";

(14) Investments representing unclaimed amounts and investment income accrued or earned thereon;

(15) Any other assets to the extent not realisable.

2. Determination of Amount of Liabilities

Every insurer transacting life insurance business shall value the amount of liabilities in the manner as set
out below:

(1) Mathematical Reserves shall be determined for each contract by a prospective method of valuation in
accordance with sub clause (2) to (4) of clause 2 of Part Il (A) of Schedule- | of these regulations.
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(2) The valuation method shall take into account all prospective contingencies under which any premiums
(by the policyholder) or benefits (to the policyholder/beneficiary) may be payable under the policy, as
determined by the policy conditions. The level of benefits shall take into account the reasonable
expectations of policyholders (with regard to bonuses, including terminal bonuses, if any) and any
established practices of an insurer for payment of benefits.

(3) The valuation method shall take into account the cost of any options and guarantees that may be
available to the policyholder under the terms of the contract.

(4) The determination of the amount of liability under each policy shall be based on prudent assumptions of
all relevant parameters. The value of each such parameter shall be based on the insurer’'s expected
experience and shall include an appropriate margin for adverse deviations (hereinafter referred to as
MAD) that shall not result in decrease in the amount of mathematical reserves.

(5) Treatment of negative reserves and surrender value deficiency reserves:

(i) The amount of mathematical reserve in respect of a policy, determined in accordance with sub -
para (4), may be negative (called “negative reserves”) or less than the surrender value available
(called “surrender value deficiency reserves”) at the valuation date. The surrender value for this
purpose shall be higher of special surrender value and guaranteed surrender value.

(if) The Appointed Actuary shall, for the purpose of section 35 of the Act, use the amount of such
mathematical reserves without any modification;

(iii) The Appointed Actuary shall, for the purpose of sections 13, 49, 64V and 64VA of the Act, set the
amount of such mathematical reserve to zero, in case of such negative reserve, or to the surrender
value, in case of such surrender value deficiency reserves, as the case may be.

(6) The valuation method shall be “Gross Premium Valuation” except for the following cases:

(i) One-year renewable group term assurances including riders attached to group business wherein
Reserves shall allow for Unearned Premium, Premium deficiency and Incurred But Not Reported
claims.

(ii) Riders attached to individual products wherein the reserve shall be higher of Gross Premium
Valuation Reserve and Unearned Premium Reserve.

(7) For individual business, the Appointed Actuary may hold additional reserve in respect of Incurred But
Not Reported claims.

(8) If in the opinion of the Appointed Actuary, a method of valuation other than the Gross Premium
Method of valuation is to be adopted, then, other approximation methods (e.g. retrospective method)
may be used.

Provided that the amount of calculated reserve is expected to be at least equal to the amount that
shall be produced by application of Gross Premium Valuation method.

(9) The method of calculation of the amount of liabilities and the assumptions for the valuation parameters
shall not be subject to arbitrary discontinuities from one year to the next.

3. Policy Cash Flows: The gross premium method of valuation shall discount the following future policy cash
flows at an appropriate rate of interest,
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(1) Premiums payabile, if any,

(2) Benefits payable, if any, on death, survival, maturity, voluntary termination of contract or any other
contingencies covered under the policy

(3) Bonuses that have already been vested as at the valuation date if any,

(4) Bonuses as a result of the valuation at the valuation date if any

(5) Future bonuses if any (one year after valuation date) including terminal bonuses

(6) Any other benefits as applicable

(7) Commission and remuneration payable, if any, in respect of a policy (this shall be based on current
practice of the insurer). No allowance shall be made for non-payment of commission in respect of
orphaned policies

(8) Policy maintenance expenses, if any, in respect of a policy;

(9) Allocation of profit to shareholders, if any, where there is a specified relationship between profits
attributable to shareholders and the bonus rates declared for policyholders

Provided that allowance must be made for tax, if any.
(10)Any other cash flow as applicable
4. Policy Options and Guarantees:

Where a policy provides built-in options that may be exercised by the policyholder, such as conversion or
addition of coverage at future date(s) without any evidence of good health, or guarantees, such as annuity
rate guarantees at maturity of contract, investment guarantees etc., the costs of such options or
guarantees shall be estimated and treated as special cash flows in calculating the mathematical reserves.

5. Valuation Parameters:

(1) The valuation parameters shall constitute the bases on which the future policy cash flows shall be
computed and discounted. Each parameter shall be appropriate to the block of business to be valued. The
Appointed Actuary shall take into consideration the following:

(i) The value(s) of the parameter shall be based on the insurer's experience study, where available. If
reliable experience study is not available, the value(s) can be based on the industry study, if available
and appropriate. If neither is available, the values may be based on the bases used for pricing the
product. In establishing the expected level of any parameter, any likely deterioration in the experience
shall be taken into account;

(i) The expected level, as determined in sub clause 1(i) of clause 5 of Part Il of Schedule-I of these
regulations, shall be adjusted by an appropriate Margin for Adverse Deviations (MAD), the level of
MAD being dependent on the degree of confidence in the expected level, and such MAD in each
parameter shall be based on the Actuarial Practice Standards / Guidance Notes issued by the Institute
of Actuaries of India, with the concurrence of the Authority;

(iif) The values used for the various valuation parameters should be consistent among themselves.
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@)

®)

(4)

(®)

Mortality rates to be used shall be by reference to a published table, unless the insurer has constructed
a separate table based on its own experience:

Provided that such published table shall be made available to the insurance industry by the Institute of
Actuaries of India, with the concurrence of the Authority.

Provided further that such rates determined by reference to a published table shall not be less than one
hundred percent of that published table.

Provided further that such rates determined by reference to the published table may be less than one
hundred percent of that published table if the Appointed Actuary can justify a lower percent.

Morbidity rates to be used shall be by reference to a published table, unless the insurer has
constructed a separate table based on its own experience:

Provided that such published table shall be made available to the insurance industry by the Institute of
Actuaries of India, with the concurrence of the Authority:

Provided further that such rates determined by reference to a published table shall not be less than one
hundred percent of that published table.

Provided further that such rates determined by reference to the published table may be less than one
hundred percent of that published table if the Appointed Actuary can justify a lower percent.

Policy maintenance expenses shall have regard to the actual expense experience of the insurer. All
expenses shall be increased in future years for inflation; the rate of inflation assumed should be
consistent with the valuation rate of interest.

Provided that appropriate additional provisions shall be made if the actual experience has not been
considered for the valuation.

Provided further that the above provision shall not be applicable to the life insurance companies for the
first five years from the date of commencement of the business.

Valuation rate of interest:

(i) The best estimate interest rate shall first be, determined based on the current and expected yields

from existing assets attributable to blocks of life insurance business, and the yields which the insurer
is expected to obtain from the sums to be invested in the future, and such assessment shall take into
account:

(a) the composition of assets supporting the liabilities, expected cash flows from the investments on
hand, the cash flows from the block of policies to be valued, the likely future investment conditions
and the reinvestment and disinvestment strategy to be employed in dealing with the future net cash
flows;

(b) the risks associated with investment in regard to receipt of income on such investment or
repayment of principal;

(c) the expenses associated with the investment functions of the insurer;



220 THE GAZETTE OF INDIA : EXTRAORDINARY [PART I1I—SEC.4]

(i) such best estimate shall be adjusted by the Margin for Adverse Deviation to arrive at the valuation
rate of interest

(iii) Further, the valuation rate of interest,

(a) shall not be higher than the rates of interest, determined from prudent assessment of the yields from
existing assets attributable to blocks of life insurance business, and the yields which the insurer is
expected to obtain from the sums to be invested in the future;

(b) shall not be higher than, for the calculation of present value of policy cash flows in respect of a
particular category of contracts, the yields on assets maintained for the purpose of such category of
contacts;

(c) in respect of non-participating business, shall recognize the risk of decline in the future interest rates;

(d) in respect of participating business, shall be based on the assumption (with regard to future
investment conditions), that the scale of future bonuses used in the valuation is consistent with the
valuation rate of interest.

(6) Lapse rate, if considered for valuation, should be a prudent assumption based on past experience of
the product or similar products; and shall have regard to the expected future experience based on the
nature of the products, target market, distribution channel etc.

(7) Other parameters may be taken into account, depending on the type of policy. In establishing the
values of such parameters, the considerations set out in Part IlI-A of this Schedule shall be taken into
account.

(8) Reinsurance arrangement with an element of borrowing in the form of deposit or credit of any kind from
insurer’s reinsurers without the prior approval of the Competent Authority shall not be treated as credit
for reinsurance for the purpose of determination of required solvency margin.

(9) In case the mathematical reserve is calculated allowing for outgo in respect of reinsurance premium and
credit taken for claim recoveries from reinsurer, the valuation basis and methods shall be as per the Part
Il of Schedule- | of these regulations.

6. Additional Requirements for Linked Insurance Business:

(1) Reserves in respect of linked business shall consist of two components, namely, unit reserves or policy
account value and general fund reserves.

(2) Unit reserves or policy account value shall be calculated in respect of the units or policy account value
allocated to the policies in force at the valuation date using unit values or policy account value if
applicable, at the valuation date.

(3) General fund reserves shall be determined using discounted cash flow method, which shall take into
account of the following, namely:

(i)  premiums, if any, payable in future;

(i) death benefits, if any, provided by the general fund reserve (over and above the value of units or
the policy account value);

(i) charges paid to the general fund;
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(iv) guarantees, if any, relating to surrender values or minimum death and maturity benefits;

(v) fund growth rates and fund management charges. (The values of these parameters, along with
others, shall be determined in accordance with clause 5(5) of Part Ill (A) of Schedule- | of these
regulations);

(vi) non-negative residual additions, if any,

(vii) other future cash flow, if any,

(viii) any future negative cash flow shall be appropriately provided for by setting up reserves;

(4) General fund reserve under linked policies calculated as above, if negative, shall be set to zero.

(5) The general fund reserves shall be considered as reserve for non-linked non-participating business for
the purpose of investment norms, distribution of surplus etc.

7. Additional Requirements for Variable Linked Business:

(1) Reserve in respect of variable linked business shall consist of two components, namely, policy account
reserves and general fund reserves.

(2) Policy account reserves shall be the balance in Policy Account on the date of valuation.

(38) General fund reserves shall be determined using discounted cash flow method, which shall take into
account the following, namely:

(i)  premiums, if any, payable in future;

(i)  death benefits, if any, provided by the general fund (over and above the value of policy account);

(i)  charges paid to the general fund,;

(iv) guarantees, if any, relating to surrender values or minimum death and maturity benefits;

(v) policy account growth rates and fund management charges. (The values of these parameters,
along with others, shall be determined in accordance with clause 5(5) of Part Il (A) of Schedule- |
of these regulations);

(vi) non-negative residual additions, if any;

(vii) other future cash flow, if any,

(viii) any future negative cash flow shall be appropriately provided for by setting up reserves;

(4) General fund reserves under variable linked policies calculated as above, if negative, shall be set to
zero.

(5) The general fund reserves shall be considered as reserve for non-linked non-participating business for
the purpose of investment norms, distribution of surplus etc.
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8. Ad

@)

@)
®)

(4)

()

(6)

ditional Requirements for Variable Non-Linked Business (Par and Non-Par):

Reserve in respect of variable non-linked business shall consist of two components, namely, policy
account reserves and general fund reserves.

Policy account reserves shall be the balance in Policy Account on the date of valuation.

General fund reserves shall be determined using discounted cash flow method, which shall take into
account of the following, namely:

(i) premiums, if any, payable in future;

(i) death benefits, if any, provided by the general fund (over and above the value of Policy account);

(i) charges paid to the general fund;

(iv) guarantees, if any, relating to surrender values or minimum death and maturity benefits;

(v) policy account growth rates and fund management charges. (The values of these parameters,
along with others, shall be determined in accordance with clause 5(5) of Part Ill (A) of Schedule- |
of these regulations);

(vi) non-negative residual additions, if any,

(vii) other future cash flow, if any,

(viii) any future negative cash flow shall be appropriately provided for by setting up reserves

(ix) future bonuses (one year after valuation date) including terminal bonuses (consistent with the
valuation rate of interest)

(x) allocation of profit to shareholders, if any, where there is a specified relationship between profits
attributable to shareholders and the bonus rates declared for policyholders.

Provided that allowance must be made for tax, if any

General fund reserves under variable non-linked policies calculated as above, if negative, shall be set
to zero.

The general fund reserves under variable non-linked non-participating business shall be considered
as reserve for non-linked non-participating business for the purpose of investment norms, distribution
of surplus etc.

The general fund reserves under variable non-linked participating business shall be considered as
reserve for non-linked participating business for the purpose of investment norms, distribution of
surplus etc.

9. Requirements for Additional Provisions:

The Appointed Actuary shall make aggregate provisions in respect of the following, where it is not
possible to factor while calculating mathematical reserves for each policy, in the determination of
mathematical reserves:
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(1) Policies in respect of which extra premiums have been charged on account of underwriting of
substandard lives that are subject to extra risks such as occupation hazard, over-weight, underweight,
smoking history, health, climatic or geographical conditions;

(2) Lapsed policies not included in the valuation but under which a liability exists or may arise;

(3) Reduced paid-up policies where there is a possibility of revival resulting in additional reserves;

(4) Options available under individual and group insurance policies;

(5) Guarantees available to individual and group insurance policies;

(6) The rates of exchange at which benefits in respect of policies issued in foreign currencies have been
converted into Indian Rupees and what provisions have been made for possible increase of
mathematical reserves arising from future variations in rates of exchange;

(7) Pandemic events, if any;

(8) Others, if any.

10. Solvency Margin

(1) Every life insurer shall determine the Required Solvency Margin, the Available Solvency Margin, and

the Solvency Ratio as per the Forms KT-1, KT-2 and KT-3 as specified under Annexure Actl-6 to

Annexure Actl-8 of these regulations.

(2) The control level of solvency margin shall be one hundred and fifty percent of Required Solvency
Margin for the purpose of sub-section 3 of Section 64 VA of Insurance Act,1938.

(3) Every life insurer shall at all times maintain solvency margin not below the control level of solvency
margin.

11. Health Insurance Business

Where the Life insurer transacts health insurance business providing health covers, the amount of liabilities
shall be determined in accordance with the principles specified under these regulations.

12. Business outside India

Where the Life insurer transacts life insurance business in a country outside India as a branch of the
insurer and submits statements or returns or any such particulars to the host regulator, the insurer shall
enclose the same along with the forms as specified in Part Il (B) of Schedule-I of these regulations.

Provided that if Appointed Actuary is of the opinion that the liability and solvency norms outside India
where the insurer transacts business, results in lower liability and/or solvency requirement as compared to
the liability and solvency norms existing in India , then such person shall require the insurer to set aside
additional reserves over and above the reserves shown in the statements or returns or any such particulars
submitted to the host regulator of a country outside India so as to comply with the liability and solvency
norms existing in India.
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13. Furnishing of Statements

Statements of Assets, Liabilities and Solvency Margin shall be furnished in forms as specified under Part IlI
(B) of Schedule-I of these regulations and shall be furnished separately for life insurance business within
India and total business transacted by the insurer.

(B) Report and Abstract for Life Insurance Business as stipulated under the Section 13 of the Act.

1. Procedure for Preparation of Actuarial Report and Abstract.

(1) The abstracts and statements must be so arranged that the number and letters of the paragraphs
correspond with clause 2 of Part 111(B) of Schedule-I of these regulations.

(2) The Abstracts and Statements shall be furnished to the Competent Authority, within three months from
the end of the period to which they refer to or within thirty days from the date of adoption of accounts by
the Board, whichever is earlier.

(3) There shall be appended to every such abstract and statement:

(i) cCertificate signed by the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) that full and accurate particulars of every
policy under which there is a liability, either actual or contingent, has been furnished to the Appointed
Actuary for the investigation; however, exceptions if any, may be brought out along with action being
taken to rectify the deficiency in the valuation data.

(i) certificate signed by the Appointed Actuary with his remarks, if any, to the effect that:

(a) the data furnished by the CEO has been included in conducting the valuation of liabilities for the
purpose of the investigation;

(b) the provisions of the Act are complied with;

(c) the Actuarial Practice Standards issued by Institute of Actuaries of India with the concurrence of
the Authority are complied with;

(d) reasonable steps have been taken to ensure the accuracy and completeness of data (if any data
deficiency is observed this may be highlighted).

(e) in the opinion of the Appointed Actuary, the mathematical reserves are adequate to meet
insurer's future commitments under the contracts, and the policyholders’ reasonable
expectations.

2. Requirements Applicable to Abstract and Statements

(1) Abstracts and statements shall be prepared separately in respect of
(i) Participating; and

(i) Non - Participating business

(2) Every insurer shall append the following statements in the form specified in Annexure Actl-1 to
Annexure Actl- 9 to the abstract prepared in accordance with these regulations:

(i)  Statement of Liabilities — Form H, Form NLB, Form LB, Form VIPNLB and Form VIPLB
(i)  Form IA NPAR (In respect of Non-Participating Business)
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(i)  Form IA PAR (In respect of Participating Business)
(iv) Valuation balance Sheet — Form |

(v) Statement of Assets - Form AA

(vi) Form KT-1

(vii) Form KT-2

(viii) Statement of Available Solvency Margin and Solvency Ratio - Form KT-3
(iX) Composition and Distribution of Surplus — Form S

(3) Every insurer shall also submit the following along with above statements:
(i) With Profit Committee Report
(i) Any other forms as prescribed by the Competent Authority from time to time
(i) Detailed information regarding the above statements may be obtained in the formats as specified
by the Competent Authority.

(4) Each Abstract shall show:
(i) The Valuation Date - The date on which valuation (investigation) is done;
(ii) Products - A list of all products/riders included in the valuation along with their respective UIN;

(i) Foreign Operations - A brief description of the foreign operations of the insurer, during the inter-
valuation period;

(iv) valuation data - The Appointed Actuary shall comment on the steps taken to verify consistency,
completeness and accuracy of data provided by the CEO.

(v) Valuation Method - A brief description of:

(a) the methods adopted in the determination of mathematical reserves in respect of insurance
products;
(b) the method by which age at entry, premium term, maturity date, valuation age, period from the
valuation date to the maturity date, have been treated for the purpose of valuation;
(c) the manner in which reinsurance has been taken into account in arriving at the valuation
reserves net of reinsurance
(d) the method of allowing for:
(1) Incidence of premium income; and
(2) Premiums payable otherwise than annually;
(e) valuation methodology for various options and guarantees:
(1) Provide the details of various options that are provided under various products included in
investigation.
(2) Summarize the methods used to make suitable provisions for these options, wherever
explicitly provided.
(3) Provide the details of various guarantees that are offered under various products included
in investigation.
(4) Summarize the methods used to make provisions for these guarantees, wherever explicitly
provided.

(vi) Other Adjustments (Provisions):
The methods by which provisions, if any, have been made for the following matters, along with a
statement of bases as part of Valuation bases, wherever necessary:
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(a) Policies in respect of which extra premiums have been charged on account of underwriting of
under-average lives that are subject to extra risks such as occupation hazard, over-weight,
under-weight, smoking history, health, climatic or geographical conditions;

(b) Lapsed policies not included in the valuation but under which a liability exists or may arise;

(c) Reduced paid-up policies where there is possibility of revival resulting in additional reserves;

(d) Options available under individual and group insurance policies

(e) Guarantees available to individual and group insurance policies

(f) The rates of exchange at which benefits in respect of policies issued in foreign currencies have
been converted into Indian Rupees and what provision has been made for possible increase of
mathematical reserves arising from future variations in rates of exchange;

(g) Pandemic events, if any;

(h) Others, if any.

(vii) Valuation bases:
Valuation parameters used in the valuation shall be furnished separately for best estimate, margin
for adverse deviation and valuation assumptions in the manner as specified in the table hereunder:

Description Mortalit | Morbidity | Inflation | Interest | Expe | Lapse [/ | Future | Others, | Remarks
y basis | basis rate Rate nses | Surrende | bonuse | please
used used r, if any s, if any | specify

B @ ©) “ () (6) () ® © (10)

(a) Insurance
Product:

(i) Regular
Premium

(i) Single premium
and Fully paid up

(iif) Reduced Paid
up

(b) Insurance
Product:

(i) Regular
Premium

(i) Single premium
and Fully paid up

(iii) Reduced Paid
up

Notes:

a. Summarize the Margins for Adverse Deviations for these parameters.

Provide the basis for arriving at the valuation parameters along with experience, if any

c. Summarize and justify any material changes made to the assumptions during the inter-valuation
period along with the impact.

d. Specify separately the expenses related to premiums, sum assured, annuity, etc., and per policy
under Column (6) of the table;

=
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e. Specify items such as terminal bonus in respect of with profit contracts and management charges, unit
growth rate, policy account growth rate etc. in respect of linked business under Column (9) of the
table;

f. Include items related to Other Provisions, if any, as part of Column (9)

Negative Reserves and Guaranteed Surrender Value Deficiency Reserves:
A brief description of treatment adopted for negative reserves and guaranteed surrender value deficiency
reserves shall be furnished.

Return on Assets:

The yield on investment will be the investment income as a percentage of the mean fund over the period,
on assets attributable to blocks of business / segments etc. The value of the assets for this purpose shall
be the adjusted values of assets using the asset valuation method prescribed in Part Il (A) of Schedule-I
of these regulations. The mean fund would be assessed considering the amount and incidence of cash-
flow to the fund.

Distribution of surplus:

The basis adopted in the distribution of surplus as between the shareholders and the policyholders, and
whether such distribution was determined by the instruments constituting the Insurer or by its regulations
or by-laws or how otherwise shall be mentioned.

Principles adopted in distribution of surplus:

The general principles adopted in distribution of surplus among policyholders, including statements on

following points, shall be furnished:

(1) Whether the principles were determined by instruments constituting the insurer, or by its regulations
or by-laws or otherwise;

(2) The number of years premium to be paid, period to elapse and other conditions to be fulfilled before
a bonus is allotted;

(3) Whether the bonus is allocated in respect of each year's premium paid, or in respect of each
calendar year or year of assurance or otherwise; and

(4) Whether the bonus vests immediately on allocation, or, if not, conditions of vesting.

Statement of composition of surplus and distribution of surplus in respect of policyholders' funds.

(1) A Statement of composition of surplus and distribution of surplus in respect of policyholders' funds,
showing total amount of surplus as at the Balance sheet date and the allocation of such surplus, shall
be furnished separately for participating business and for non-participating business, with the
particulars as mentioned below:

Composition of Surplus:
(i) Surplus emerging during the valuation year;
(ii) Interim Bonuses paid during the inter-valuation period;
(iii) Terminal Bonuses paid during the inter-valuation period;

(iv) Loyalty Additions or other forms of bonuses, if any, paid during the inter-valuation period,;

(v) Sum transferred from shareholders’ funds during the inter-valuation period;
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(vi) Amount of surplus, from policyholders' funds, brought forward from preceding valuation;
(vii) Total Surplus (total of the items (i) to (vi)):
Distribution of Surplus:
Policyholders' Fund:
(i)  To Interim Bonuses paid;
(i) To Terminal Bonuses;
(i) To Loyalty Additions or any other forms of bonuses, if any;

(iv)  Among policyholders with immediate participation giving the number of polices which
participated and the sums assured thereunder (excluding bonuses);

(v) Among policyholders with deferred participation, giving the number of polices which
participated and the sums assured thereunder (excluding bonuses);

(vi) To every reserve fund or other fund or account (any such sums passed through the accounts
during the inter-valuation period to be separately stated);

(vii) As carried forward un-appropriated.
Share-holders’ fund:

(viii) To the shareholders’ funds (any such sums passed through the accounts during the inter
valuation period to be separately stated);

Totals:
(ixX) Total Surplus allocated: (total of the items (i) to (viii))

(2) Specimen of Bonuses allotted to policies for one thousand rupees of benefit together with the amounts
apportioned under the various manners in which the bonus is receivable, for each type of participating
product, shall be furnished.

8. Provisions related to submission of Statements:

(1) Statements mentioned under clause 2 of Part 11l (B) of Schedule-I of these regulations shall have the
following description, as applicable: -
(i) Classification
(i) Type
(iii) Category
(iv) Division
(v) Sub-Class
(vi) Group

(2) There shall be two Classifications, namely, Business Within India and Total Business (consisting of
Business within India and Business outside India), with Classification Codes ‘BWI' and ‘BT’
respectively
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(3) There shall be two Types, namely, Participating and Non-Participating with codes ‘PAR’ and ‘NPAR’
respectively under each classification.

(4) There shall be four categories as under each Type namely,
(i) Non-Linked (other than Variable Insurance Products) with Category Code ‘NL’
(i) Linked (other than Variable Insurance Products) with Category Code ‘L’
(iif) Non-Linked Variable Insurance Products with category code ‘VIP-NL’
(iv) Linked Variable Insurance Products with category code ‘VIP-L’

(5) There shall be two Divisions, namely, Individual Business and Group Business, with Division Codes
‘I and ‘G’ respectively under each Category.

(6) There shall be four Sub-Classes, namely, Life Business, Pension Business, General Annuity
Business and Health Insurance Business with Sub-Class codes ‘L’,’P’, ‘A’, and ‘HL’

(7) There shall be two Groups, namely, Immediate Participation, Deferred Participation with Group
Codes of ‘I-PAR’ and 'D-PAR’ respectively under the Sub Class — Life Business of Individual Division
under Participating Type.

(8) There shall be two Groups, namely, Immediate Annuity and Deferred Annuity with Group Codes ‘IA’
and ‘DA’ under the Sub Class of General Annuity Business.

(9) There shall be two Groups, namely, Premiums Guaranteed for not more than one year and Premiums
Guaranteed for more than one year with Group Codes of ‘NGP’ and ‘GP’ respectively under Sub
Class of Life Business under the Division of Group Business under Non-Linked Category.

(10) There shall be two Groups, namely, With Guarantees and Without Guarantee with Group Codes of
‘WG’ and ‘WOG'’ respectively under each of the categories Linked, Non-Linked Variable Insurance
Products and Linked Variable Insurance Products.

(12) “NiI” Statements shall be furnished for those forms where the insurer has no transactions.

(12) All figures shall be furnished in thousands and all amounts shall be furnished in Indian Rupees.

(13) In respect of Group Business, ‘the number of policies’ in Forms and Statements, wherever applicable,
shall be read as ‘number of schemes’.

(C) Distribution of Surplus by Life Insurance Companies:

1.

Requirement to maintain a life insurance fund:
(1) Alife insurer registered under section 3 of the Act shall be required to maintain separately:

(i) A life fund for participating policyholders, and
(i) A life fund for non-participating policyholders.

(2) Non-Compliance with the requirements of clause 1(1) of Part Il (C) of Schedule— | of these
regulations shall mean that the life fund maintained by the insurer shall be for the benefit of the
participating policy holders only.
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2. Procedure for distribution of surplus:

A life insurer, may on the advice of his Appointed Actuary, reserve to its shareholders, a part of the
actuarial surplus (also referred to as valuation surplus) arising out of a valuation of assets and liabilities
made for a financial year in accordance with Part Il of these regulations, in the following manner:

(1) one hundred percent, in case of a life fund maintained for non-participating policy-holders;

(2) one-ninth of the surplus allocated to policyholders in case of a life fund maintained for participating
policy holders.

Provided that an insurer shall however be required to obtain prior approval of the Authority in cases
where the said allocation is not the one-ninth of the surplus.

Provided further that an insurer shall not allocate or reserve exceeding ten percent, of the said
actuarial surplus to its shareholders.

Part 1V: Valuation of General Insurance Business:

1. Applicability:

This part of regulations shall be applicable to all the general insurers and standalone health insurers.

2. Assets, Liabilities and Solvency Margin:

1. Valuation of Assets:

All assets of a general insurer or a standalone health insurer shall be valued in accordance with
Schedule- Il — Finance functions of these regulations, other applicable regulations, including IRDAI
(Registration, Capital Structure, Transfer of Shares and Amalgamation of Insurers) Regulations, 2024
and applicable extant norms, except the following assets which shall be placed with value zero for
solvency margin computation:

(i)
(i)
(iif)

(iv)
(v)
(vi)
(vii)
(vii)
(ix)
(x)
(xi)
(xii)
(xii)

(xiv)

Agents’ and Intermediaries’ balances and outstanding premiums in India, to the extent they are not
realized within a period of thirty days;

Premiums receivables relating to State/Central government sponsored schemes, to the extent they
are not realized within a period of 365 days;

Agents’ and Intermediaries’ balances and outstanding premiums outside India, to the extent they
are not realizable;

Sundry debts, to the extent they are not realizable;

Advances and receivables of an unrealizable character;

Loans and advances as per Schedule — IV of these regulations;

Furniture, fixtures, dead stock and stationery;

Deferred expenses;

Debit balance of Profit and loss appropriation account balance and any fictitious assets other than
pre-paid expenses;

Co-insurer’s balances outstanding for more than ninety days;

Balances of Indian Reinsurers and Foreign Reinsurers having Branches in India outstanding for
more than 365 days;

Reinsurer’s balances other than mentioned in point (xi) above outstanding for more than 180 days;
Leasehold improvements;

Goods and Services Tax (GST) Unutilized Credit outstanding for more than 120 days;
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(xv)
(xvi)
(xvii)
(xviii)

Seventy-five percent of the ‘Deferred Tax Asset’ other than that arising on account of
“Accumulated losses”;

‘Deferred Tax Asset’ arising on account of "Accumulated losses";

Investments representing unclaimed amounts and investment income accrued or earned thereon;
Any other assets to the extent not realisable.

2. Determination of Amount of Liabilities

The amount of technical liabilities shall be determined on the Valuation Date separately for each line of
business and shall be the sum total of Unexpired Risk Reserves and Claims Reserves. The Appointed
Actuary shall ensure the reserves estimated are adequate to meet the liabilities.

(i) Unexpired Risk Reserves (URR):

The URR shall be calculated using sound actuarial principles and shall comprise of the following:

(@)

(b)

Unearned Premium Reserve (UPR):

A reserve for unearned premium shall be provided as the amount representing that part of the
premium written which is attributable to, and allocated to the succeeding accounting periods. UPR
will be estimated as per the clause 4 of Part Il of Schedule- Il of these regulations and shall be
certified by the Chief Financial Officer and the Statutory Auditor.

Premium Deficiency Reserve (PDR):

The PDR shall be calculated using sound actuarial principles. Though the PDR shall be maintained
at the insurer level, PDR on segmental basis would be monitored for assessing the sustainability of
products and maintaining at lines of business level. PDR as maintained at the insurer level shall be
subject to minimum of zero value.

Premium deficiency shall be recognized if the sum of expected claim costs, expenses and
maintenance costs exceeds related unearned premium reserve. Premium deficiency reserve shall
be calculated and duly certified by an Appointed Actuary.

(i) CLAIMS RESERVE

(@)

The Claims Reserve shall be determined as the aggregate amount of Outstanding Claims
Reserve, Incurred but Not Reported Claims Reserve (IBNR) and Incurred but not Enough
Reported (IBNER) claim reserves as described below for the following lines of business. In case of
FRB, the claims reserve may be arrived at aggregate level for each of Motor and Heath lines of
business if the granular data is not available.

ITEM NO. LINE OF BUSINESS
MOTOR
1 Motor OD - Private car
2 Motor OD - Two Wheeler
3 Motor OD - Commercial Vehicle
4 Motor TP - Private car
5 Motor TP - Two Wheeler
6 Motor TP - Commercial Vehicle (Declined Pool)
7 Motor TP - Commercial Vehicle (TP Pool)
8 Motor TP - Commercial Vehicle (Other than Pool)
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HEALTH
9 Health Insurance - Individual
10 Health Insurance - Group-Government Schemes
11 Health Insurance - Group-Employer/Employee Schemes
12 Health Insurance - Group-Other Schemes
PERSONAL ACCIDENT
13 Personal Accident — Individual
14 Personal Accident - Group (Government Schemes)
15 Personal Accident — Group (Others)
16 TRAVEL
17 FIRE
MARINE
18 Marine Cargo
19 Marine — Other than Marine Cargo
OTHER MISCELLANEOUS
20 Engineering
21 Aviation
22 Product Liability
23 Liability Insurance
24 Workmen Compensation / Employer's Liability
25 Crop Insurance
26 Weather Insurance
27 Credit Insurance
28 Others

(b) Outstanding Claims Reserve:

The outstanding claims reserve shall be determined in the following manner:

(i) Where the amount of outstanding claims of the insurers is known, the amount is to be provided

in full;

(i) Where the amount of outstanding claims can be reasonably estimated according to the insurer,
insurer shall follow the 'case by case method' after taking into account the explicit allowance for
changes in the settlement pattern or average claim amounts, expenses and inflation;

(iiif) For lines of business, where the Appointed Actuary is of the view that the statistical method is
most appropriate for the estimation of Outstanding claims, the Appointed Actuary may use the
appropriate statistical method of claims reserving instead of following case by case method. In
such cases, the claims outstanding reserve shall be certified by Appointed Actuary. Where the
Appointed Actuary identifies material changes in the claims handling practices, their impact on
the outstanding claims reserve pattern shall be taken into account and reported.

(c) Incurred But Not Reported (IBNR) Claims Reserve:

(i) The incurred but not reported (IBNR) claims reserve shall be determined using appropriate
actuarial principles and methods and shall be certified by the Appointed Actuary.
(i) The Appointed Actuary shall estimate IBNR on both net of reinsurance and gross of reinsurance

basis.

(iif) The Appointed Actuary shall estimate the provision for IBNR for each year of occurrence and

the figures shall be aggregated to arrive at the total amount to be provided.

(iv) If estimate of IBNR provision for any year of occurrence produces a negative value, the
Appointed Actuary shall consider the IBNR provision for that year of occurrence at least zero.

(v) The estimation process shall not discount the estimated future development of claims to the
current date.
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3. Determination of Other Liabilities:

The general insurer shall place a proper value in respect of the following items, in full:

(i) Provision for bad and doubtful debts; reserve for dividends declared or recommended, and
outstanding dividends;

(i) Amount due to insurance companies carrying on insurance business;

(iif) Amount due to sundry creditors;

(iv) Provision for taxation;

(v) Foreign exchange reserve; and

(vi) Other liabilities, if any.

4. Determination of Solvency Margin:

(i) Every general insurer and standalone health insurer shall determine the Required Solvency Margin,
the Available Solvency Margin, and the Solvency Ratio in FORM IRDAI-GI-SM in accordance with
Annexure Actl-12.

(i) Control level of solvency margin:

(a) The control level of solvency margin shall be one hundred and fifty percent of Required Solvency
Margin for the purpose of sub-section 3 of Section 64 VA of Insurance Act,1938.

(b) Every general insurer and standalone health insurer shall at all times maintain solvency margin not
below the control level of solvency margin.

5. Statements to be Submitted:

(i) Every general insurer and standalone health insurer shall submit a statement of value of admissible
assets in FORM IRDAI-GI-TA in accordance with Annexure Actl- 10.

(i) The amount of Required Solvency Margin shall be determined on the Valuation Date separately for
each line of business as listed in the FORM IRDAI-GI-SM. Every general insurer and standalone health
insurer shall submit a statement of liabilities in FORM IRDAI-GI-TR in accordance with Annexure Actl-
11, certified by the Appointed Actuary, Principal Officer, Statutory Auditor and Chief Financial Officer in
accordance with Section 64V of the Act.

(i) Every general insurer and standalone health insurer shall submit a statement of solvency margin in
FORM IRDA-GI-SM in accordance with Annexure Actl- 12.

(iv) The general insurer and standalone health insurer shall furnish any additional information as may be
specified by the Competent Authority from time to time.

(v) The Forms as prescribed above, namely, FORM IRDAI-GI-TA, FORM IRDAI-GI-TR and FORM IRDAI-
GI-SM shall be furnished separately for General Insurance Business within India and Total Business
transacted by the general insurer.

(vi) These Forms shall be furnished to the Competent Authority, within three months from the end of the
period to which they refer to or within thirty days from the date of adoption of accounts by the Board of
the insurer, whichever is earlier, along with any other reports as may be specified by the Competent
Authority from time to time.
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Business Outside India:

Where the insurer transacts general or health insurance business in a country outside India as a branch of
the insurer and submits statements or returns or any such particulars to the host regulator of that country,
the insurer shall enclose a copy of the same along with the Forms specified in accordance with these
regulations and as may be specified by the Competent Authority from time to time.

Provided that if Appointed Actuary is of the opinion that the liability and solvency norms outside India,
where the insurer transacts business, results in lower liability and/or solvency requirement as compared to
the liability and solvency norms existing in India, then the Appointed Actuary shall require the insurer to
set aside additional reserves over and above the reserves shown in the statements or returns or any such
particulars submitted to the host regulator of a country outside India so as to comply with the liability and
solvency norms existing in India.

Part V: Applicability to Reinsurers including ‘Foreign Reinsurer’s Branches’ for the purpose of
determination of solvency margin:

1.

2.

3.

Life Reinsurance business:

(1) The amount of liabilities shall be determined in accordance with the Part Ill of Schedule- | of these
regulations.

(2) The Required Solvency Margin shall be determined in accordance with the Part 1ll of Schedule- | of
these regulations.

(3) As regards the business ceded by the insurers, Part Il of Schedule- | of these regulations shall be
applicable to the net sums at risk retained by the insurer.

(4) Life Reinsurance business includes life and health insurance business ceded by life insurers.

General Reinsurance business:

(1) The amount of liabilities shall be determined in accordance with the Part IV of Schedule- | of these
regulations;

(2) The Required Solvency Margin shall be determined in accordance with the Part IV of Schedule- | of
these regulations

(3) As regards the business ceded by the insurers, Part IV of Schedule | of these regulations shall be
applicable to the net sums at risk retained by the insurer.

(4) General Reinsurance business includes general and health insurance business ceded by General and
standalone health insurers.

Valuation of assets:

(1) The available asset shall be valued at reinsurer level in accordance with Schedule- Il — Finance
functions of these regulations.

(2) Inadmissible assets shall be valued in accordance with Part 1l and Part IV of Schedule- | of these
regulations as applicable.

Control level of solvency margin:

(1) The control level of solvency margin shall be one hundred and fifty percent of Total Required
Solvency Margin, where Total Required Solvency Margin is the sum of Required Solvency Margin for
Life Reinsurance business and Required Solvency Margin of General Reinsurance Business.

(2) Every reinsurer shall at all times maintain solvency margin not below the control level of solvency
margin.
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5. Statements to be Submitted:
(1) Statements for Life Reinsurance Business:

(i) Statements of Liabilities (Annexure Actl-1)
(i) Form KT1(Annexure Actl-6)
(iif) Form KT2(Annexure Actl-7)

(2) statements for General Reinsurance Business:

(i) Form IRDAI-GI-TR (Annexure Actl-11)
(if) Table IA of Form IRDAI-GI-SM (Annexure Actl-12)

(3) Combined statements for Life and General Reinsurance business

(i) Statement of Assets — FORM IRDAI-RI-TA (Annexure Actl-13)
(i) Solvency Form - IRDAI-RI-SM (Annexure Actl-14)

(4) Every reinsurer shall submit the statements as specified above under clause 5(1) to 5(3) of Part V of
Schedule- | of these regulations.

(5) Any other forms as prescribed by the Competent Authority from time to time

6. The forms as referred in clause 5 of Part V of Schedule-I of these regulations shall be furnished to the
Competent Authority, within three months from the end of the period to which they refer to or within thirty
days from the date of adoption of accounts by the Board of the reinsurer, whichever is earlier, along with
any other reports as may be specified by the Competent Authority from time to time.

SCHEDULE - II: FINANCE FUNCTIONS
Part I: Preparation of financial statements, management report of life insurers
1. Applicability
This part of regulations shall be applicable to all the life insurers.

2. Accounting Principles for Preparation of Financial Statements:
Applicability of Accounting Standards. - Every Balance-Sheet, Revenue Account [Policyholders' Account],
Receipts and Payments Account [Cash Flow statement] and Profit and Loss Account [Shareholders'
Account] of an insurer shall be in conformity with the Accounting Standards (AS) as notified under the
Companies Act, 2013, to the extent applicable to insurers carrying on life insurance business, except
that-

(1) Accounting Standard 3 (AS 3) - Cash Flow Statements - Cash Flow Statement shall be prepared only
under the Direct Method.

(2) Accounting Standard 17 (AS 17) - Segment Reporting - shall apply to all insurers irrespective of the
requirements regarding listing and turnover mentioned therein.

Premium:

Premium shall be recognised as income when due. For linked business the due date for payment may be
taken as the date when the associated units are created.
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4. Acquisition Costs:
Acquisition costs, if any, shall be expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

Acquisition costs are those costs that vary with and are primarily related to the acquisition of new and
renewal insurance contracts. The most essential test is the obligatory relationship between costs and the
execution of insurance contracts (i.e., commencement of risk).

5. Claims Cost:
The ultimate cost of claims shall comprise the policy benefit amount and specific claims settlement costs,
wherever applicable.

6. Actuarial Valuation - Liability for Life Policies:
The estimation of liability against life policies shall be determined by the appointed actuary of the insurer
pursuant to his annual investigation of the life insurance business. Actuarial assumptions are to be
disclosed by way of notes to the account.

The liability shall be so calculated that together with future premium payments and investment income, the
insurer can meet all future claims (including bonus entitlements to policyholders) and expenses.

7. Procedure to determine value of investments:
An insurer shall determine the values of investments in the following manner:

(1) Real Estate - Investment Property:
The value of investment property shall be determined at historical cost, subject to revaluation at least
once in every three years. The change in the carrying amount of the investment property shall be
taken to Revaluation Reserve.

The insurer shall assess at each balance sheet date whether any impairment of the investment
property has occurred.

Gains/losses arising due to changes in the carrying amount of real estate shall be taken to equity
under 'Revaluation Reserve'. The 'Profit on sale of investments' or 'Loss on sale of investments', as the
case may be, shall include accumulated changes in the carrying amount previously recognised in
equity under the heading 'Revaluation Reserve' in respect of a particular property and being recycled
to the relevant Revenue Account or Profit and Loss Account on sale of that property.

The bases for revaluation shall be disclosed in the notes to accounts. The Competent Authority may
issue directions specifying the amount to be released from the revaluation reserve for declaring bonus
to the policyholders. For the removal of doubt, it is clarified that except for the amount that is released
to policyholders as per the Competent Authority’s direction, no other amount shall be distributed to
shareholders out of Revaluation Reserve Account.

An impairment loss shall be recognised as an expense in the Revenue/Profit and Loss Account
immediately, unless the asset is carried at re-valued amount. Any impairment loss of a re-valued asset
shall be treated as a revaluation decrease of that asset and if the impairment loss exceeds the
corresponding revaluation reserve, such excess shall be recognised as an expense in the
Revenue/Profit and Loss Account.

(2) Debt Securities:
Debt securities, including government securities and redeemable preference shares, shall be
considered as "held to maturity" securities and shall be measured at historical cost subject to
amortisation.

(3) Equity Securities and Derivative Instruments that are traded in active markets:
Listed equity securities and derivative instruments that are traded in active markets shall be measured
at fair value on the balance sheet date. Measurement for the purpose of calculation of fair value shall
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(4)

Q)

be the last quoted closing price on NSE. However, in case of any stock not being listed in NSE, the
insurer may value the Equity based on the last quoted closing price in BSE.

The insurer shall assess on each balance sheet date whether any impairment of listed equity
security(ies)/derivative(s) instruments has occurred.

An active market shall mean a market, where the securities traded are homogenous, availability of
willing buyers and willing sellers is normal and the prices are publicly available.

Unrealised gains/losses arising due to changes in the fair value of listed equity shares and derivative
instruments shall be taken to equity under the head 'Fair Value Change Account". The 'Profit on sale of
investments' or 'Loss on sale of investments’, as the case may be, shall include accumulated changes
in the fair value previously recognised in equity under the heading 'Fair Value Change Account' in
respect of a particular security and being recycled to the relevant Revenue Account or Profit and Loss
Account on actual sale of that listed security.

The Competent Authority may issue directions specifying the amount to be released from the Fair
Value Change Account for declaring bonus to the policyholders. For the removal of doubt, it is clarified
that except for the amount that is released to policyholders as per the Competent Authority's
prescription, no other amount shall be distributed to shareholders out of Fair Value Change Account.
Also, any debit balance in Fair Value Change Account shall be reduced from profit/free reserves while
declaring dividends.

The insurer shall assess, on each balance sheet date, whether any impairment has occurred. An
impairment loss (i.e. other than temporary diminution in value) shall be recognised as an expense in
Revenue/Profit and Loss Account to the extent of the difference between the re-measured fair value of
the security/investment and its acquisition cost as reduced by any previous impairment loss recognised
as expense in Revenue/Profit and Loss Account. Any reversal of impairment loss, earlier recognised in
Revenue/Profit and Loss Account shall be recognised in Revenue/Profit and Loss Account.

Insurer shall disclose its policy on recognition of impairment in notes to account.

Unlisted and other than actively traded Equity Securities and Derivative Instruments:

Unlisted equity securities and derivative instruments and listed equity securities and derivative
instruments that are not regularly traded in active markets shall be measured at historical cost.
Provision shall be made for diminution in value of such investments. The provision so made shall be
reversed in subsequent periods if estimates based on external evidence show an increase in the value
of the investment over its carrying amount. The increased carrying amount of the investment due to
the reversal of the provision shall not exceed the historical cost.

For the purposes of this regulation, a security shall be considered as being not actively traded, if as
per guidelines governing mutual funds laid down from time to time by SEBI, such a security is
classified as "thinly traded".

Loans:
Loans shall be measured at historical cost subject to impairment provisions.

The insurer shall assess the quality of its loan assets and shall provide for impairment. The
impairment provision shall not be lower than the amounts derived on the basis of guidelines
prescribed from time to time by the Reserve Bank of India, that apply to companies and financial
institutions.
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(6) Linked Business:
The accounting principles used for valuation of investments are to be consistent with principles
enumerated above. A separate set of financial statements, for each segregated fund of the linked
businesses, shall be annexed.
Segregated funds represent funds maintained in accounts to meet specific investment objectives of
policy-holders who bear the investment risk. Investment income/gains and losses generally accrue
directly to the policyholders. The assets of each account are segregated and are not subject to claims
that arise out of any other business of the insurer.

(7) Funds for future appropriation:

The funds for future appropriation shall be presented separately.

The funds for future appropriation represent all funds, the allocation of which, either to the
policyholders or to the shareholders, has not been determined by the end of the financial year.

8. Disclosures Forming Part of Financial Statements

(1) The following shall be disclosed by way of notes to the Balance Sheet:

(i) Contingent Liabilities:
(a) Partly-paid up investments
(b) Underwriting commitments outstanding
(c) Claims, other than those under policies, not acknowledged as debts;
(d) Guarantees given by or on behalf of the company
(e) Statutory demands/liabilities in dispute, not provided for
() Reinsurance Obligations to the extent no provided for in accounts
(g) Others (to be specified).
(i) Actuarial assumptions for valuation of liabilities for life policies in force.
(iii) Encumbrances to assets of the company in and outside India.
(iv) Commitments made and outstanding for Loans, Investments and Fixed Assets.
(v) Basis of amortisation of debt securities.
(vi) Claims settled and remaining unpaid for a period of more than six months as on the balance
sheet date.
(vii)Value of contracts in relation to investments, for:
(&) Purchases where deliveries are pending;
(b) Sales where payments are overdue.
(viii) Operating expenses relating to insurance business: basis of allocation and apportionment of
expenditure to various segments of business.
(ix) Computation of managerial remuneration.
(X) Historical costs of those investments valued on fair value basis.
(xi) Basis of revaluation of investment property.
(xii) Provisions made for policy cancellations during free look period in current year and previous
year duly certified by the appointed actuary
(xiii) Disclosure that contributions made by the shareholders to the Policyholders’ A/c are irreversible
in nature, and shall not be recouped to the shareholders at any point of time in future with
reference to the general meeting of the insurer at which such prior approval of the shareholders
has been obtained.

(2) The following accounting policies shall form an integral part of the financial statements:

(i) All significant accounting policies in terms of the accounting standards and significant principles
and policies given in Part | of Accounting Principles. Any other accounting policies, followed by
the insurer, shall be stated in the manner required under Accounting Standard AS 1.

(i) Any departure from the accounting policies shall be separately disclosed with reasons for such
departure.
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3)

The following information shall also be disclosed:

(i) Investments made in accordance with any statutory requirement should be disclosed separately
together with its amount, nature, security and any special rights in and outside India;

(i) Segregation into performing/non-performing investments for purpose of income recognition as
per the directions, if any, issued by the Competent Authority;

(ii) Assets to the extent required to be deposited under local laws or otherwise encumbered in or
outside India;

(iv) Percentage of business sector wise;

(v) Bases of allocation of investments and income thereon between Policy-holders' Account and
Share-holders' Account;

(vi) Disclosure of policy and principles for provisioning for policy cancellations during free look period,
based on assumptions and experience, duly certified by the appointed actuary

(vii) Any other information as may be specified.

9. General Instructions for Preparation of Financial Statements

1)

(2)
3)

(4)

(%)

(6)
(7)

(8)

The corresponding amounts for the immediately preceding financial year for all items shown in the
Balance Sheet, Revenue Account, Profit and Loss Account and Receipts and Payments Account shall
be given.

The figures in the financial statements may be rounded off to the nearest Lakhs.

Interest, dividends and rentals receivable in connection with an investment should be stated at gross
amount, the amount of income tax deducted at source should be included under "advance taxes paid"
and taxes deducted at source.

For the purposes of financial statements, unless the context otherwise requires, -

() the expression "provision" shall, subject to (v) below mean any amount written off or retained by
way of providing for depreciation, renewals or diminution in value of assets, or retained by way of
providing for any known liability or loss of which the amount cannot be determined with
substantial accuracy;

(i) the expression "reserve" shall not, subject to as aforesaid, include any amount written off or
retained by way of providing for depreciation, renewals or diminution in value of assets or
retained by way of providing for any known liability or loss;

(iii) the expression "capital reserve" shall not include any amount regarded as free for distribution
through the profit and loss account; and the expression "revenue reserve" shall mean any
reserve other than a capital reserve;

(iv) The expression "liability" shall include all liabilities in respect of expenditure contracted for and all
disputed or contingent liabilities.

(V) Where-

(@) any amount written off or retained by way of providing for depreciation, renewals or
diminution in value of assets, or

(b) any amount retained by way of providing for any known liability or loss, is in excess of the
amount which in the opinion of the directors is reasonably necessary for the purpose, the
excess shall be treated as a reserve and not provision.

The company shall make provisions for damages under lawsuits where the management is of the
opinion that the award may go against the insurer.

Extent of risk retained and re-insured shall be separately disclosed.

Any debit balance of the Profit and Loss Account shall be shown as deduction from uncommitted
reserves and the balance, if any, shall be shown separately.

All insurers are required to maintain separate investment accounts for the shareholders and the policy
holders and the income/ losses accrued / capital gains/losses on the investments is to be credited
/debited to the Revenue Account/ Profit & Loss Account, as the case may be.
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10. Contents of Management Report:
There shall be attached to the financial statements, a management report containing, inter alia, the
following duly authenticated by the management: -

(1)
(2)
3)
(4)

(5)
(6)

(7)

(8)
(9)

Confirmation regarding the continued validity of the registration granted by the Authority;

Certification that all the dues payable to the statutory authorities have been duly paid;

Confirmation to the effect that the shareholding pattern and any transfer of shares during the year
are in accordance with the statutory or regulatory requirements;

Declaration that the management has not directly or indirectly invested outside India the funds of the
holders of policies issued in India;

Confirmation that the required solvency margins have been maintained;

Certification to the effect that the values of all the assets have been reviewed on the date of the
Balance Sheet and that in his (insurer's) belief the assets set forth in the Balance-sheets are shown
in the aggregate at amounts not exceeding their realisable or market value under the several
headings - " Loans", " Investments", "Agents balances", "Outstanding Premiums", "Interest,
Dividends and Rents outstanding”, "Interest, Dividends and Rents accruing but not due”, "Amounts
due from other persons or Bodies carrying on insurance business”, " Sundry Debtors", " Bills
Receivable”, " Cash" and the several items specified under "Other Accounts™;

Certification to the effect that no part of the life insurance fund has been directly or indirectly applied
in contravention of the provisions of the Insurance Act, 1938 (4 of 1938) relating to the application
and investment of the life insurance funds;

Disclosure with regard to the overall risk exposure and strategy adopted to mitigate the same;
Operations in other countries, if any, with a separate statement giving the management's estimate of
country risk and exposure risk and the hedging strategy adopted,;

(10) Ageing of claims indicating the trends in average claim settlement time during the preceding five

years;

(11) Certification to the effect as to how the values, as shown in the balance sheet, of the investments

and stocks and shares have been arrived at, and how the market value thereof has been
ascertained for the purpose of comparison with the values so shown;

(12) Review of asset quality and performance of investment in terms of portfolios, i.e., separately in terms

of real estate, loans, investments, etc.

(13) A responsibility statement indicating therein that: -

(i) in the preparation of financial statements, the applicable accounting standards, principles and
policies have been followed along with proper explanations relating to material departures, if any;

(i) the management has adopted accounting policies and applied them consistently and made
judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent so as to give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the company at the end of the financial year and of the operating profit or
loss and of the profit or loss of the company for the year;

(iii) the management has taken proper and sufficient care for the maintenance of adequate
accounting records in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Insurance Act 1938 (4 of
1938)/Companies Act, 2013, for safeguarding the assets of the company and for preventing and
detecting fraud and other irregularities;

(iv) the management has prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis;

(v) the management has ensured that an internal audit system commensurate with the size and
nature of the business exists and is operating effectively.

(14) A schedule of payments, which have been made to individuals, firms, companies and organizations

in which Directors of the insurer are interested.

(15) Confirmation of compliance with domestic, statutory, regulatory and other laws in the countries in

relation to subsidiaries, associates, joint ventures and other arrangements.

(16) Any other information as may be specified.
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11. Preparation of Financial Statements

@)

)

An insurer shall prepare the Revenue Account [Policy-holders' Account], Profit and Loss Account
[Share-holders' Account] and the Balance Sheet in Form A-RA, Form A-PL and Form A-BS, as
prescribed in this Part, or as near thereto as the circumstances permit.

Provided that an insurer shall prepare the financial statements and the schedules therein for the
under mentioned businesses separately and to that extent the application of AS 17 shall stand
modified: -

(i) Linked Business- (a) Life, (b) Pension, (c) Health, (d) Others

(i) Non-Linked Business Participating- (a) Life, (b) Pension, (c) Health, (iv) Others

(iii) Non-Linked Business -Non-Participating- (a) Life, (b) Pension, (c) Health, (d) Others

(iv) Business within India and business outside India.

(v) Any other segment as may be specified.

An insurer shall prepare separate Receipts and Payments Account in accordance with the Direct
Method prescribed in AS 3 - "Cash Flow Statement".

FORM A-RA

Name of the insurer:

Registration no. And date of registration with the IRDAI

Revenue Account for the year ended 31st march, 20 .

Policyholders’ Account (Technical Account) (Amount in Rs. Lakhs)
Particulars Schedule Current Previous
Ref. Year Year

Premiums earned — net

(a) Premium 1

(b) Reinsurance ceded

(c) Reinsurance accepted

Income from Investments

(a) Interest, Dividends & Rent — Gross

(b) Profit on sale/redemption of investments

(c) (Loss on sale/ redemption of investments)

(d)Tlransfer/Gain on revaluation/change in fair value

(e) Amortisation of Premium / Discount on
investments

Other Income (to be specified)

Contribution from Shareholders' Alc

(a) Towards Excess Expenses of Management °

(b) Towards remuneration of MD/CEO/WTD/Other

KMPs ®
(c) Others
TOTAL (A)
Commission 2
Operating Expenses related to Insurance 3
Business

Provision for doubtful debts

Bad debts written off

Provision for Tax

Provisions (other than taxation)

(a) For diminution in the value of investments (Net)

(b) For others (to be specified)
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Goods and Services Tax on ULIP Charges

TOTAL (B)

Benefits Paid (Net) 4

Interim Bonuses Paid

Change in valuation of liability in respect of life
policies

(a) Gross *

(b) Amount ceded in Reinsurance

(c) Amount accepted in Reinsurance

(d) Fund Reserve for Linked Policies

(e) Fund for Discontinued Policies

TOTAL (C)

SURPLUS/ (DEFICIT) (D) =(A)-(B)-(C)°

Amount transferred from Shareholders' Account
(Non-technical Account)®

Amount available for appropriation

Appropriations

Transfer to Shareholders’ Account

Transfer to Other Reserves (to be specified)

Balance being Funds for Future Appropriations

TOTAL

' Represents the deemed realised gain as per specified norms.

% In case expenses of management exceeds the limits prescribed by the regulations,

® In case annual remuneration exceeds the specified limit,

* Represents Mathematical Reserves after allocation of bonus

°The total surplus shall be disclosed separately with the following details:

(a) Interim Bonuses Paid:
(b) Allocation of Bonus to policyholders:
(c) Surplus shown in the Revenue Account:
(d) Total Surplus: [(a)+(b)+(c)].
® In case of deficit in the Revenue Account
Note:

a) Reinsurance premiums whether on business ceded or accepted are to be brought into account
gross (i.e. before deducting commissions) under the head reinsurance premiums.

b) Items of income in excess of one percent of the total premiums (less reinsurance) or Rs.5,00,000
whichever is higher, shall be shown as a separate line item.

c) Interest, dividends and rentals receivable in connection with an investment should be stated as
gross amount, the amount of income tax deducted at source being included under ‘advance taxes
paid and taxes deducted at source”.

d) Income from rent shall include only the realised rent. It shall not include any notional rent.

e) Under the sub-head "Other Income" items like foreign exchange gains or losses and other items
shall be included.

FORM A-PL

Name of the Insurer:

Registration No. and Date of Registration with the IRDAI

Profit & loss account for the year ended 31st March, 20 .

Shareholders’ Account (Non-technical Account) (Amount in Rs. Lakhs)
Particulars Schedule Current Previous
Ref. Year Year

Amounts transferred from the Policyholders Account
(Technical Account)

Income from Investments

(a) Interest, Dividends & Rent — Gross

(b) Profit on sale/redemption of investments

(c) (Loss on sale/ redemption of investments)
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(d) Amortisation of Premium / Discount on Investments

Other Income (to be specified)

TOTAL (A)

Expense other than those directly related to the
insurance business

Contribution to Policyholders' Alc

(a) Towards Excess Expenses of Management

(b) Towards remuneration of MD/CEQ/WTD/Other KMPs *

(c) Others

Interest on subordinated debt

Expenses towards CSR activities

Penalties

Bad debts written off

Amount Transferred to Policyholders' Account®

Provisions (Other than taxation)

(a) For diminution in the value of investments (Net)

(b) Provision for doubtful debts

(c) Others (to be specified)

TOTAL (B)

Profit/ (Loss) before tax

Provision for Taxation

Profit / (Loss) after tax

APPROPRIATIONS

(a) Balance at the beginning of the year.

(b) Interim dividend paid

(c) Final dividend paid

(d) Transfer to reserves/ other accounts (to be specified)

Profit/Loss carried forward to Balance Sheet

* In case expenses of management exceeds the limits prescribed by the regulations,
% In case annual remuneration exceeds the specified limit,
% In case of deficit in the Revenue Account

Note:

a) Interest, dividends and rentals receivable in connection with an investment should be stated as gross
amount, the amount of income tax deducted at source being included under 'advance taxes paid and
taxes deducted at source”.

b) Income from rent shall include only the realised rent. It shall not include any notional rent.

FORM A-BS

Name of the Insurer:

Registration No. and Date of Registration with the IRDAI

Balance sheet as at 31st March, 20 . (Amount in Rs. Lakhs)
. Schedule Ref. | Current Previous
Particulars
Year Year

Sources of funds

Shareholders’ funds:

Share capital 5 & 5A

Share application money pending allotment

Reserves and surplus 6
Credit/[debit] fair value change  account
Sub-total
Borrowings 7

Policyholders’ funds:

Credit/[debit] fair value change account
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Policy liabilities

Funds for discontinued policies:

(i) Discontinued on Account of Non-Payment Of Premiums

(ii) others

Insurance reserves’

Provision for linked liabilities

Sub-total

Funds for future appropriations

Linked

Non-linked (non-par)

Non-linked (par)

Deferred tax liabilities (net)

Total
Application of funds
Investments
Shareholders’ 8
Policyholders’ 8A
Assets held to cover linked liabilities 8B
Loans 9
Fixed assets 10

Deferred tax assets (net)

Current assets

Cash and bank balances 11
Advances and other assets 12
Sub-total (a)
Current liabilities 13
Provisions 14

Sub-total (b)

Net current assets (c) = (a—b)

Miscellaneous expenditure (to the extent not written 15
off or adjusted)

Debit balance in profit & loss account (shareholders’

account)
Defict in Revenue Account (policyholders'
account)
Total
T the Insurance Reserves cannof be a negafive figure
Contingent Liabilities (Amount in Rs. Lakhs
Particulars Current Previous
Year Year
1 Partly paid-up investments
2 Claims, other than against policies, not
acknowledged as debts by the company
3 Underwriting commitments outstanding (in respect
of shares and securities) (a)
4 Guarantees given by or on behalf of the Company
5 Statutory demands/ liabilities in dispute, not
provided for
6 Reinsurance obligations to the extent not provided
for in accounts
7 Others (to be specified)
(a)
(b)
TOTAL
Note:

(a) Underwriting commitments outstanding- Commitments to underwrite the subscription to a new issue of
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shares, but the liability for which is contingent upon the issue not being fully subscribed. It is, however,
clarified that insurers are presently not permitted to underwrite issues.

(b) Re-insurance obligations - it includes obligations under reinsurance contracts with the insurer in
respect of which, there are subsisting obligations as at the balance sheet date but for valid reasons,
the insurer has not made any provision.

SCHEDULES FORMING PART OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SCHEDULE 1

Premium

(Amount in Rs. Lakhs)

PARTICULARS Current Year Previous Year

(=Y

First year premiums

N

Renewal Premiums

3 Single Premiums

TOTAL PREMIUM

Premium Income from Business written :

In India

Outside India

Notes:-

a) Premium income received from business concluded in and outside India shall be separately
disclosed.

b) Premium to be reported excluding Goods & service tax.

SCHEDULE 2

Commission Expenses (Amount in Rs. Lakhs)

Particulars Current Year Previous Year

Commission

Direct — First year premiums

- Renewal premiums

- Single premiums

Gross Commission

Add: Commission on Re-insurance Accepted

Less: Commission on Re-insurance Ceded

Net Commission

TOTAL

Channel wise break-up of
Commission (Excluding
Reinsurance commission):

Individual agents

Corporate Agents-Banks/FII/HFC

Corporate Agents -Others

Brokers

Micro Agents

Direct Business - Online’

Direct Business - Others

Common Service Centre (CSC)

Web Aggregators

IMF

Point of Sales (Direct)

Others (Please Specify)

Commission (Excluding
Reinsurance) Business written:
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In India

Outside India

! Commission on Business procured through Company website

Note:

Profit Commission should be adjusted with the Reinsurance ceded/ accepted and should not be shown in the

Schedule of Commission Expenses

SCHEDULE 3

Operating Expenses Related to Insurance Business (Amount in Rs. Lakhs)

Particulars

Current
Year

Previous
Year

Employees’ remuneration & welfare benefits

Travel, conveyance and vehicle running expenses

Training expenses

Rents, rates & taxes

Repairs

Printing & stationery

Communication expenses

Legal & professional charges

Medical fees

PO |INOO|ORWIN(F

0 Auditors' fees, expenses etc

a) as auditor

b) as adviser or in any other capacity, in respect of

(i) Taxation matters

(i) Insurance matters

(iii) Management services; and

¢) in any other capacity

11 Advertisement and publicity

12 Interest & Bank Charges

13 Depreciation

14 Brand/Trade Mark usage fee/charges

15 Business Development and Sales Promotion Expenses

16 Stamp duty on policies

17 Information Technology Expenses

18 Goods and Services Tax (GST)

19 Others (to be specified)

TOTAL

Operating Expenses Related to Insurance Business

In India

Outside India

Note:

a) Iltems of expenses in excess of one percent of the total premiums (less reinsurance) or Rs.5,00,000

whichever is higher, shall be shown as a separate line item.

b) Expenses paid for various outsourcing activities/arrangements are to be booked under relevant line item
on the basis of nature of services availed and not to be shown as "Outsourcing Expenses"

SCHEDULE 4

Benefits Paid [Net] (Amount in Rs. Lakhs)

Particulars

Current
Year

Previous
Year

1. Insurance Claims
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(a) Claims by Death

(b) Claims by Maturity

(c) Annuities/Pension payment

(d) Periodical Benefit

(e) Health

(f) Surrenders

(9) any other (please specify)

Benefits Paid (Gross)

In India

Outside India

2. (Amount ceded in reinsurance):

(a) Claims by Death

(b) Claims by Maturity

(c) Annuities/Pension payment

(d) Periodical Benefit

(e) Health

(f) any other (please specify)

3. Amount accepted in reinsurance:

(a) Claims by Death

(b) Claims by Maturity

(c) Annuities/Pension payment

(d) Periodical Benefit

(e) Health

(f) any other (please specify)

Benefits Paid (Net)

In India

Outside India

Note:

a) Claims incurred shall comprise claims paid, specific claims settlement costs wherever applicable and
change in the outstanding provision for claims

b) Fees and expenses connected with claims shall be included in claims.

¢) Legal and other fees and expenses shall also form part of the claims cost, wherever applicable.

SCHEDULE 5

Share Capital (Amount in Rs. Lakhs)

Particulars Previous
Current Year
Year

1 | Authorised Capital

Equity Shares of Rs..... each

Preference Shares of Rs..... each

2 | Issued Capital

Equity Shares of Rs..... each

Preference Shares of Rs..... each

3 | Subscribed Capital

Equity Shares of Rs.....each

Preference Shares of Rs..... each

4 | Called-up Capital

Equity Shares of Rs.....each

Less : Calls unpaid
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Add : Shares forfeited (Amount originally paid up)

Less : Par value of Equity Shares bought back

Less : Preliminary Expenses

Expenses including commission or brokerage on

Underwriting or subscription of shares

Preference Shares of Rs..... each

TOTAL

Note:

a) Particulars of the different classes of capital should be separately stated.
b) The amount capitalised on account of issue of bonus shares should be disclosed.
c) Incase any part of the capital is held by a holding company, the same should be separately disclosed.

SCHEDULE 5A

Pattern of Shareholding
[As certified by the Management]

Shareholder Current Year

Previous Year

Number of Shares % of Holding

Number of Shares

% of Holding

Promoters

- Indian

- Foreign

Investors®

- Indian

- Foreign

Others(to be
specified) *

- Indian

- _Foreign

TOTAL

" Investors as defined under IRDAI regulations as amended from time to time

2 Others may include ESOPs etc.

SCHEDULE 6

Reserves and Surplus

(Amount in Rs. Lakhs)

Particulars

Current
Year

Previous
Year

Capital Reserve

Capital Redemption Reserve

Share Premium

Revaluation Reserve

QR WIN[F

General Reserves

Less: Amount utilized for Buy-back of shares

Less: Amount utilized for issue of Bonus shares

Catastrophe Reserve

N[O

Other Reserves (to be specified)

8 Balance of profit in Profit and Loss Account

TOTAL

Note:

a) Additions to and deductions from the reserves shall be disclosed under each of the specified heads.
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SCHEDULE 7
Borrowings (Amount in Rs. Lakhs)
Sl. No. Particulars Current Year Previous Year
1 Debentures/ Bonds
2 From Banks
3 From Financial Institutions
4 From Others (to be specified)

TOTAL

Note:

a) The extent to which the borrowings are secured shall be separately disclosed stating the nature of the
security under each sub-head, as given below.

b) Amounts due within 12 months from the date of Balance Sheet should be shown separately.

c¢) Debentures include NCDs issued as per IRDAI regulations as amended from time to time

Disclosure for Secured Borrowings (Refer Note a) |
(Amount in Rs. Lakhs)
Sl.No. Source / Instrument Amount Borrowed |Amount of Security Natgre Of
ecurity
1
2
3
4
5
SCHEDULE 8
Investments-Shareholders (Amount in Rs. Lakhs)
Particulars Current Year Previous Year
Long Term Investments
1 Government securities and Government
guaranteed bonds including Treasury Bills
2 Other Approved Securities
3 Other Investments
(a) Shares
(aa) Equity
(bb) Preference
(b) Mutual Funds
(c) Derivative Instruments
(d) Debentures/ Bonds
(e) Other Securities (to be specified)
(f) Subsidiaries
Investment Properties-Real Estate
4 Investments in Infrastructure and Housing Sector
5 Other than Approved Investments
Short Term Investments
1 Government securities and Government
guaranteed bonds including Treasury Bills
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N

Other Approved Securities

Other Investments

(a) Shares

(aa) Equity

(bb) Preference

(b) Mutual Funds

(c) Derivative Instruments

(d) Debentures/ Bonds

(e) Other Securities (to be specified)

() Subsidiaries

Investment Properties-Real Estate

Investments in Infrastructure and Housing Sector

(SR F>

Other than Approved Investments

TOTAL

Note: See Notes appended at the end of Schedule 8B.

SCHEDULE 8-A

Investments-Policyholders

(Amount in Rs. Lakhs)

Particulars

Current Year

Previous Year

Long Term Investments

Government  securities and Government

guaranteed bonds including Treasury Bills

Other Approved Securities

(a) Shares

(aa) Equity

(bb) Preference

(b) Mutual Funds

(c) Derivative Instruments

(d) Debentures/ Bonds

(e) Other Securities (to be specified)

(f) Subsidiaries

(9) Investment Properties-Real Estate

Investments in Infrastructure and Housing Sector

Other than Approved Investments

Short Term Investments

Government  securites and  Government

guaranteed bonds including Treasury Bills

N

Other Approved Securities

(a) Shares

(aa) Equity

(bb) Preference

(b) Mutual Funds

(c) Derivative Instruments

(d) Debentures/ Bonds

(e) Other Securities (to be specified)

(f) Subsidiaries

(9) Investment Properties-Real Estate

N

Investments in Infrastructure and Housing Sector

Other than Approved Investments

TOTAL

Note: See Notes appended at the end of Schedule 8B.
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SCHEDULE 8B

Assets Held To Cover Linked Liabilities (Amount in Rs. Lakhs)

Particulars Current Year Previous Year

Long Term Investments

1 Government securities and Government
guaranteed bonds including Treasury Bills

N

Other Approved Securities

3 (a) Shares
(aa) Equity
(bb) Preference
(b) Mutual Funds
(c) Derivative Instruments
(d) Debentures/ Bonds
(e) Other Securities (to be specified)
(f) Subsidiaries
(9) Investment Properties-Real Estate

4 Investments in Infrastructure and Housing
Sector

5 Other than Approved Investments

Short Term Investments

1 Government securities and Government
guaranteed bonds including Treasury
Bills

2 Other Approved Securities

3 (a) Shares
(aa) Equity
(bb) Preference
(b) Mutual Funds
(c ) Derivative Instruments
(d) Debentures/ Bonds
(e) Other Securities (to be specified)
(f) Subsidiaries
(9) Investment Properties-Real Estate

4 Investments in Infrastructure and Housing
Sector
5 Other than Approved Investments
6 Other Current Assets (Net)
TOTAL

Notes (Applicable to Schedules 8, 8-A & 8-B)
a) Investments in subsidiary/holding companies, joint ventures and associates shall be separately
disclosed, at cost.

i) Holding company and subsidiary shall be construed as defined in the Companies Act, 2013.

i) Joint Venture is a contractual arrangement whereby two or more parties undertake an economic
activity, which is subject to joint control.

iii) Joint control - is the contractually agreed sharing of power to govern the financial and operating
policies of an economic activity to obtain benefits from it.

iv) Associate - is an enterprise in which the company has significant influence and which is neither a
subsidiary nor a joint venture of the company.

v) Significant influence (for the purpose of this schedule) -means participation in the financial and
operating policy decisions of a company, but not control of those policies. Significant influence may
be exercised in several ways, for example, by representation on the board of directors, participation
in the policymaking process, material inter-company transactions, interchange of managerial
personnel or dependence on technical information. Significant influence may be gained by share
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ownership, statute or agreement. As regards share ownership, if an investor holds, directly or
indirectly through subsidiaries, 20 percent or more of the voting power of the investee, it is
presumed that the investor does have significant influence, unless it can be clearly demonstrated
that this is not the case. Conversely, if the investor holds, directly or indirectly through subsidiaries,
less than 20 percent of the voting power of the investee, it is presumed that the investor does not
have significant influence, unless such influence is clearly demonstrated. A substantial or majority
ownership by another investor does not necessarily preclude an investor from having significant
influence.
b) Aggregate amount of company's investments other than listed equity securities and derivative
instruments and also the market value thereof shall be disclosed.
¢) Investment made out of Catastrophe reserve should be shown separately.
d) Debt securities will be considered as “held to maturity” securities and will be measured at historical costs
subject to amortisation
e) Investment Property means a property [land or building or part of a building or both] held to earn rental
income or for capital appreciation or for both, rather than for use in services or for administrative
purposes.
f) Investments maturing within twelve months from balance sheet date and investments made with the
specific intention to dispose of within twelve months from balance sheet date shall be classified as short-
term investments
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Disclosure for Schedules 8, 8A & 8B

Aggregate value of Investments other than Listed Equity Securities and Derivative Instruments

(Amount in Rs. Lakhs)

Assets held to

Shareholders Policyholders cover Linked Total
Particulars Liabilities
Current | Previous | Current | Previous | Current | Previous | Current | Previous
Year Year Year Year Year Year Year Year
Long Term
Investments:
Book Value

Market Value

Short Term

Investments:

Book Value

Market Value

Note: Market Value in respect of Shareholders and Policyholders investments should be arrived as per the
guidelines prescribed for linked business investments as specified

SCHEDULE 9

Loans

(Amount in Rs. Lakhs)

Particulars

Current Year

Previous Year

Security-Wise Classification

Secured

(&) On mortgage of property

(aa) In India

(bb) Outside India

(b) On Shares, Bonds, Govt. Securities, etc.

(c) Loans against policies

(d) Others (to be specified)

Unsecured

TOTAL

Borrower-Wise Classification

(a) Central and State Governments

(b) Banks and Financial Institutions

(c) Subsidiaries

(d) Companies

(e) Loans against policies

(f) Others (to be specified)

TOTAL

Performance-Wise Classification

(a) Loans classified as standard

(aa) In India

(bb) Outside India

(b) Non-standard loans less provisions

(aa) In India

(bb) Outside India

TOTAL

Maturity-Wise Classification

(a) Short Term

(b) Long Term

TOTAL

Note:

a) Short-term loans shall include those, which are repayable within 12 months from the date of balance sheet. Long
term loans shall be the loans other than short-term loans.
b) Provisions against non-performing loans shall be shown separately.
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¢) The nature of the security in case of all long term secured loans shall be specified in each case. Secured loans for
the purposes of this schedule, means loans secured wholly or partly against an asset of the company.
d) Loans considered doubtful and the amount of provision created against such loans shall be disclosed.
Provisions against Non-performing Loans

Non-Performing Loans Loan Amount Provision
(Rs. Lakhs) (Rs. Lakhs)

Sub-standard

Doubtful

Loss

Total
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SCHEDULE 10

Fixed Assets

(Amount in Rs. Lakhs)

Particulars

Cost/ Gross Block

Depreciation

Net Block

Openi
ng

Additi
ons

Dedu
ctions

Up to
Last
Year

Closi
ng

On
Sales/
Adjustm
ents

For
The
Period

To
Date

Curr
ent
Year

Previous
Year

Goodwill

Intangibles
(specify)

Land-Freehold

Leasehold
Property

Buildings

Furniture &
Fittings

Information
Technology
Equipment

Vehicles

Office
Equipment

Others (Specify
nature)

TOTAL

Work in
progress

Grand Total

Previous Year

Note: Assets included in land, property and building above exclude Investment Properties as defined in note

(e) to Schedule 8



256 THE GAZETTE OF INDIA : EXTRAORDINARY

[PART 1I—SEC.4]

SCHEDULE 11

Cash and Bank Balances

(Amount in Rs. Lakhs)

Particulars

Current Year

Previous Year

=

Cash (including cheques’, drafts and stamps)

2 Bank Balances

(a) Deposit Accounts

date of Balance Sheet)

(aa) Short-term (due within 12 months of the

(bb) Others

(b) Current Accounts

(c) Others (to be specified)

3 Money at Call and Short Notice

(a) With Banks

(b) With other Institutions

4 Others (to be specified)

TOTAL

in 2 and 3 above

Balances with non-scheduled banks included

Cash & Bank Balances

In India

Outside India

TOTAL

T Cheques on hand amount to Rs. (in Lakhs)

Corresponding period of Previous year Rs.

(in Lakhs)

Note: Bank balance may include remittances in transit. If so, the nature and amount shall be

separately stated.

SCHEDULE 12

Advances and Other Assets

(Amount in Rs. Lakhs)

Particulars

Current Year

Previous Year

Advances

1 Reserve  deposits  with  ceding
companies

Application money for investments

Prepayments

Advances to Directors/Officers

g~ lw|N

Advance tax paid and taxes deducted at
source (Net of provision for taxation)

Goods & Service tax credit

~N (O

Others (to be specified)

TOTAL (A)

Other Assets

Income accrued on investments

Outstanding Premiums

Agents’ Balances

Foreign Agencies Balances

QR WINF

Due from other entities carrying on
insurance business (including
reinsurers)

Due from subsidiaries / holding company

7 | Investments held for Unclaimed Amount
of Policyholders
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8 |Interest on investments held for
Unclaimed Amount of Policyholders
9 | Others (to be specified)

TOTAL (B)

TOTAL (A+B)

Note:
(a) The items under the above heads shall not be shown net of provisions for doubtful amounts. The

amount of provision against each head should be shown separately.

(b)The term ‘officer’ should conform to the definition of that term as given under the Companies Act,

2013

(c) Sundry debtors will be shown under item 9 (Others)

SCHEDULE 13

Current Liabilities

(Amount in Rs. Lakhs)

Particulars Current Year Previous Year
1 | Agents’ Balances
2 | Balances due to other insurance companies
3 | Deposits held on re-insurance ceded
4 | Premiums received in advance
5 | Unallocated premium
6 | Sundry creditors
7 | Due to subsidiaries/ holding company
8 | Claims Outstanding
9 | Annuities Due
10 | Due to Officers/ Directors
11 | Unclaimed Amount of policyholders
12 | Income accrued on Unclaimed amounts
13 | Interest payable on debentures/bonds
14 | Goods and Service tax Liabilities

=
(6]

Others (to be specified)

TOTAL

(Amount in Rs.

Details of Unclaimed Amounts and Investment Income the

Lakhs)

reon

Particulars

Current Year

Previous Year

Opening Balance as at 1st April

Add: Amount transferred to unclaimed amount

Add: Cheques issued out of the unclaimed
amount but not encashed by the
policyholders (To be included only when the
cheques are stale)

Add: Investment Income on Unclaimed Fund

Less: Amount of claims paid during the year

Less: Amount transferred to SCWF during the
year (net of claims paid in respect of
amounts transferred earlier)

Closing Balance of Unclaimed Amount as at 31st
March
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SCHEDULE 14
Provisions (Amount in Rs. Lakhs)
Particulars Current Year Previous Year

1 For Taxation (less payments

and taxes deducted at

source)
2 For Employee Benefits
3 For Others (To be specified)

TOTAL

SCHEDULE 15

Miscellaneous Expenditure

(To the extent not written off or adjusted) (Amount in Rs. Lakhs)
Particulars Current Year Previous Year
1| Discount Allowed in issue of shares/
debentures

2 Others (to be specified)

TOTAL

Note:
(a) No item shall be included under the head "Miscellaneous Expenditure" and carried forward unless:
1. some benefit from the expenditure can reasonably be expected to be received in future, and
2. the amount of such benefit is reasonably determinable.
(b) The amount to be carried forward in respect of any item included under the head "Miscellaneous
Expenditure” shall not exceed the expected future revenue/other benefits related to the expenditure.
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Part 1l: Preparation of financial statements, management report of general insurers including
health insurers and those insurers engaged exclusively in reinsurance business

1. Applicability:

This part of regulations shall be applicable to all the general insurers including health insurers and those
insurers engaged exclusively in reinsurance business, unless otherwise specified.

2. Accounting Principles for Preparation of Financial Statements:

Every Balance Sheet, Receipts and Payments Account [Cash Flow statement] and Profit and Loss
Account [Share-holders' Account] of the insurer shall be in conformity with the Accounting Standards
(AS) as notified under Companies Act, 2013, to the extent applicable to the insurers carrying on
general insurance business, except that-

(1) Accounting Standard 3 (AS 3) - Cash Flow Statements - Cash Flow Statement shall be prepared
only under the Direct Method.

(2) Accounting Standard 13 (AS 13) - Accounting for Investments, shall not be applicable.

(3) Accounting Standard 17 (AS 17) - Segment Reporting - shall apply to all insurers irrespective of
the requirements regarding listing and turnover mentioned therein.

3. Premium:

(1) Premium shall be recognized as income over the contract period or the period of risk, whichever
is appropriate.

(2) "Premium received in Advance" is the premium where the period of inception of the risk is outside
the accounting period and is to be shown under current liabilities.

(3) "Unallocated premium" includes premium deposit and premium which has been received but for
which risk has not commenced. It is to be shown under current liabilities.

4. Unearned Premium Reserve:

A reserve for unearned premium shall be created as the amount representing that part of the premium
written which is attributable and allocated to the succeeding accounting periods. Such Reserves shall
be computed as under:

(1) Marine Hull - 100 percent of Net Written Premium during the preceding twelve months;
(2) Other Segments - 50 percent of Net Written Premium during the preceding twelve months; or on
the basis of proportion of the unexpired period to the total period of the respective policies.

However, Insurers shall follow the method of provisioning of Unearned Premium Reserve in a
consistent manner. Any change in the method of provisioning can be done only with the prior written
approval of the Competent Authority.

5. Premium Deficiency:
Premium deficiency shall be recognised at the insurer level, if the sum of expected claim costs, related
expenses and maintenance costs exceeds related reserve for unexpired risks.

6. Acquisition Costs:
Acquisition costs, if any, shall be expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Acquisition costs
are those costs that vary with, and are primarily related to, the acquisition of new and renewal
insurance contracts. The most essential test is the obligatory relationship between costs and the
execution of insurance contracts (i.e. commencement of risk).
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7. Claims:

The components of the ultimate cost of claims to an insurer comprise the claims under policies and
specific claims settlement costs. Claims under policies comprise the claims made for losses incurred,
and those estimated or anticipated under the policies following a loss occurrence.

A liability for outstanding claims shall be brought to account in respect of both direct business and
inward reinsurance business. The liability shall include:

(1) Future payments in relation to unpaid reported claims;

(2) Claims Incurred But Not Reported (IBNR) including inadequate reserves [sometimes referred to
as Claims Incurred But Not Enough Reported (IBNER)], which will result in future cash/asset
outgo for settling liabilities against those claims. Change in estimated liability represents the
difference between the estimated liability for outstanding claims at the beginning and at the end of
the financial period.

The accounting estimate shall also include claims cost adjusted for estimated salvage value if there is
sufficient degree of certainty of its realisation.

8. Actuarial Valuation of claim liability - in some cases:

Claims made in respect of contracts where the claims payment period exceeds four years shall be
recognised on an actuarial basis, subject to regulations that may be prescribed by the Authority. In
such cases, certificate from a appointed actuary as to the fairness of liability assessment must be
obtained. Actuarial assumptions shall be suitably disclosed by way of notes to the account.

9. Procedure to determine the value of investments:

An insurer shall determine the values of investments in the following manner:

(1) Real Estate - Investment Property:
The value of investment property shall be determined at historical cost, subject to revaluation at
least once in every three years. The change in the carrying amount of the investment property
shall be taken to Revaluation Reserve.

The insurer shall assess at each balance sheet date whether any impairment of the investment
property has occurred.

Gains/losses arising due to changes in the carrying amount of real estate shall be taken to equity
under 'Revaluation Reserve'. The 'Profit on sale of investments' or 'Loss on sale of investments',
as the case may be, shall include accumulated changes in the carrying amount previously
recognised in equity under the heading 'Revaluation Reserve' in respect of a particular property
and being recycled to the relevant Revenue Account or Profit and Loss Account on sale of that

property.
The bases for revaluation shall be disclosed in the notes to accounts.

An impairment loss shall be recognised as an expense in the Revenue/Profit and Loss Account
immediately, unless the asset is carried at re-valued amount. Any impairment loss of a re-valued
asset shall be treated as a revaluation decrease of that asset and if the impairment loss exceeds
the corresponding revaluation reserve, such excess shall be recognised as an expense in the
Revenue/Profit and Loss Account.

(2) Debt Securities:
Debt securities including government securities and redeemable preference shares shall be
considered as "held to maturity" securities and shall be measured at historical cost subject to
amortisation.
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(3) Equity Securities and Derivative Instruments that are traded in active markets:
Listed equity securities and derivative instruments that are traded in active markets shall be
measured at fair value as at the balance sheet date. Measurement for the purpose of calculation
of fair value shall be the last quoted closing price on NSE. However, in case of any stock not
being listed in NSE, the insurer may value the Equity based on the last quoted closing price in
BSE.

The insurer shall assess on each balance sheet date whether any impairment of listed equity
security(ies)/derivative(s) instruments has occurred.

An active market shall mean a market, where the securities traded are homogenous, availability of
willing buyers and willing sellers is normal and the prices are publicly available.

Unrealised gains/losses arising due to changes in the fair value of listed equity shares and
derivative instruments shall be taken to equity under the head "Fair Value Change Account”. The
"Profit on sale of investments” or "Loss on sale of investments”, as the case may be, shall include
accumulated changes in the fair value previously recognised in equity under the heading Fair
Value Change Account in respect of a particular security and being recycled to Profit and Loss
Account on actual sale of that listed security.

For the removal of doubt, it is clarified that balance or any part thereof shall not be available for
distribution as dividends. Also, any debit balance in the said Fair Value Change Account shall be
reduced from the profits/free reserves while declaring dividends.

The insurer shall assess, at each balance sheet date, whether any impairment has occurred. An
impairment loss (i.e. other than temporary diminution in value) shall be recognised as an expense
in Revenue/Profit and Loss Account to the extent of the difference between the remeasured fair
value of the security/investment and its acquisition cost as reduced by any previous impairment
loss recognised as expense in Revenue/Profit and Loss Account. Any reversal of impairment loss,
earlier recognised in Revenue/Profit and Loss Account shall be recognised in Revenue/Profit and
Loss Account.

Insurer shall disclose its policy on recognition of impairment in notes to account.

(4) Unlisted and other than actively traded Equity Securities and Derivative Instruments:
Unlisted equity securities and derivative instruments and listed equity securities and derivative
instruments that are not regularly traded in active market will be measured at historical costs.
Provision shall be made for diminution in value of such investments. The provision so made shall
be reversed in subsequent periods if estimates based on external evidence show an increase in
the value of the investment over its carrying amount. The increased carrying amount of the
investment due to the reversal of the provision shall not exceed the historical cost.

For the purposes of this regulation, a security shall be considered as being not actively traded, if
as per guidelines governing mutual funds laid down from time to time by SEBI, such a security is
classified as "thinly traded".

(5) Loans:
Loans shall be measured at historical cost subject to impairment provisions.

The insurer shall assess the quality of its loan assets and shall provide for impairment. The
impairment provision shall not be lower than the amounts derived on the basis of guidelines
prescribed from time to time by the Reserve Bank of India, that apply to companies and financial
institutions.



262 THE GAZETTE OF INDIA : EXTRAORDINARY [PART I1I—SEC.4]

(6) Catastrophe Reserve:
Catastrophe reserve shall be created in accordance with norms, as specified. Investment of funds
out of catastrophe reserve shall be made in accordance with prescriptions, as specified.

10. Disclosures Forming Part of Financial Statements:

(1) The following shall be disclosed by way of notes to the Balance-Sheet, -
(i) Contingent Liabilities:
(a) Partly-paid up investments
(b) Underwriting commitments outstanding
(c) Claims, other than those under policies, not acknowledged as debts
(d) Guarantees given by or on behalf of the company
(e) Statutory demands/liabilities in dispute, not provided for
() Reinsurance obligations to the extent not provided for in accounts
(g) Others (to be specified)

(i) Encumbrances to assets of the company in and outside India.

(iii) Commitments made and outstanding for Loans, Investments and Fixed Assets.

(iv) Claims, less reinsurance, paid to claimants in/outside India.

(v) Actuarial assumptions for determination of claim liabilities in the case of claims where the
claims payment period exceeds four years.

(vi) Ageing of claims - distinguishing between claims outstanding for more than six months and
other claims.

(vii) Premiums, less reinsurance, written from business in/outside India.

(viii) Extent of premium income recognised, based on varying risk pattern, category wise, with
basis and justification therefor, including whether reliance has been placed on external
evidence.

(ix) Value of contracts in relation to investments, for-

(&) Purchases where deliveries are pending;
(b) Sales where payments are overdue.

(x) Operating expenses relating to insurance business: basis of allocation and apportionment of
expenditure to various classes of business.

(xi) Historical costs of those investments valued on fair value basis.

(xii)Computation of managerial remuneration.

(xiii) Basis of amortisation of debt securities.

(xiv) (a) Unrealised gain/losses arising due to changes in the fair value of listed equity shares and
derivative instruments are to be taken to equity under the head "Fair Value Change Account"
and on realisation reported in profit and loss Account.

(b) Pending realisation, the credit balance in the "Fair Value Change Account" is not
available for distribution.

(xv) Fair value of investment property and the basis therefor.

(xvi) Claims settled and remaining unpaid for a period of more than six months as on the

balance sheet date.

(xvii) Provisions made for policy cancellations during free look period in current year and

previous year duly certified by the appointed actuary

(xviii) Basis of computation of premium deficiency

(2) The following accounting policies shall form an integral part of the financial statements:
(i) All significant accounting policies in terms of the accounting standards, and significant principles
and policies given in Part | of Accounting Principles. Any other accounting policies followed by
the insurer shall be stated in the manner required under Accounting Standard AS 1.
(i) Any departure from the accounting policies as aforesaid shall be separately disclosed with
reasons for such departure.
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(3) The following information shall also be disclosed:

(i) Investments made in accordance with any statutory requirement should be disclosed separately
together with its amount, nature, security and any special rights in and outside India;

(ii) Segregation into performing/non-performing investments for purpose of income recognition as
per the directions, if any, issued by the Competent Authority;

(iii) Percentage of business sector-wise;

(iv) Basis of allocation of Interest, Dividends and Rent between Revenue Account and Profit and
Loss Account.

(v) Disclosure of policy and principles for provisioning for policy cancellations during free look
period, based on assumptions and experience, duly certified by the appointed actuary.

(vi) Any other information as may be specified.

11. GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS FOR PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(1) The corresponding amounts for the immediately preceding financial year for all items shown in
the Balance Sheet, Revenue Account and Profit and Loss Account should be given.

(2) The figures in the financial statements may be rounded off to the nearest lakhs.

(3) Interest, dividends and rentals receivable in connection with an investment should be stated as
gross value, the amount of income tax deducted at source being included under "advance taxes
paid".

(4) Income from rent shall not include any notional rent.

(5) For the purposes of financial statements, unless the context otherwise requires,

(i) the expression "provision" shall, subject to note (v) below mean any amount written off or
retained by way of providing for depreciation, renewals or diminution in value of assets, or
retained by way of providing for any known liability or loss of which the amount cannot be
determined with substantial accuracy;

(i) the expression "reserve" shall not, subject to as aforesaid, include any amount written off or
retained by way of providing for depreciation, renewals or diminution in value of assets or
retained by way of providing for any known liability;

(iii)the expression "capital reserve" shall not include any amount regarded as free for distribution
through the profit and loss account; and the expression "revenue reserve" shall mean any
reserve other than a capital reserve;

(iv) The expression "liability" shall include all liabilities in respect of expenditure contracted for and

all disputed or contingent liabilities.

(V) Where:

(&) any amount written off or retained by way of providing for depreciation, renewals or
diminution in value of assets, or

(b) any amount retained by way of providing for any known liability is in excess of the amount
which in the opinion of the directors is reasonably necessary for the purpose, the excess
shall be treated for the purposes of these accounts as a reserve and not as a provision.

(6) The company should make provisions for damages under lawsuits where the management is of
the opinion that the award may go against the insurer.

(7) Extent of risk retained and reinsured shall be separately disclosed.

(8) Any debit balance of Profit and Loss Account shall be shown as deduction from uncommitted
reserves and the balance if any, shall be shown separately.

(9) All insurers are required to maintain separate investment accounts for the shareholders and the
policy holders and the income/ losses accrued / capital gains/losses on the investments is to be
credited /debited to the Revenue Account/ Profit & Loss Account, as the case may be.
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12. Contents of Management Report:
There shall be attached to the financial statements, a management report containing, inter alia, the
following duly authenticated by the management:

(1)
(2)
©)
(4)

()
(6)

()
(8)
)

Confirmation regarding the continued validity of the registration granted by the Authority;
Certification that all the dues payable to the statutory authorities have been duly paid;
Confirmation to the effect that the shareholding pattern and any transfer of shares during the
year are in accordance with the statutory or regulatory requirements;

Declaration that the management has not directly or indirectly invested outside India the
funds of the holders of policies issued in India;

Confirmation that the required solvency margins have been maintained;

Certification to the effect that the values of all the assets have been reviewed on the date of
the Balance Sheet and that in his (insurer's) belief the assets set forth in the Balance-sheets
are shown in the aggregate at amounts not exceeding their realisable or market value under
the several headings - "Loans", "Investments”, "Agents balances", "Outstanding Premiums",
"Interest, Dividends and Rents outstanding”, "Interest, Dividends and Rents accruing but not
due", "Amounts due from other persons or Bodies carrying on insurance business", " Sundry
Debtors", "Bills Receivable", "Cash" and the several items specified under "Other Accounts™;
Disclosure with regard to the overall risk exposure and strategy adopted to mitigate the
same;

Operations in other countries, if any, with a separate statement giving the management's
estimate of country risk and exposure risk and the hedging strategy adopted;

Ageing of claims indicating the trends in average claim settlement time during the preceding
five years;

(10) Certification to the effect as to how the values, as shown in the balance sheet, of the

investments and stocks and shares have been arrived at, and how the market value thereof
has been ascertained for the purpose of comparison with the values so shown;

(11) Review of asset quality and performance of investment in terms of portfolios, i.e., separately

in terms of real estate, loans, investments, etc.

(12) A responsibility statement indicating therein that:

(i) in the preparation of financial statements, the applicable accounting standards, principles
and policies have been followed along with proper explanations relating to material
departures, if any;

(ii) the management has adopted accounting policies and applied them consistently and
made judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent so as to give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the company at the end of the financial year and of the
operating profit or loss and of the profit or loss of the company for the year;

(iii) the management has taken proper and sufficient care for the maintenance of adequate
accounting records in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Insurance Act
1938 (4 of 1938)/Companies Act, 2013, for safeguarding the assets of the company and
for preventing and detecting fraud and other irregularities;

(iv) the management has prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis;

(v) the management has ensured that an internal audit system commensurate with the size
and nature of the business exists and is operating effectively.

(13) A schedule of payments, which have been made to individuals, firms, companies and

(14)

organizations in which Directors of the insurer are interested.
Confirmation of compliance with domestic, statutory, regulatory and other laws in the countries
in relation to subsidiaries, associates, joint ventures and other arrangements.

(15) Any other information as may be specified.

13. Preparation of Financial Statements

(1) An

insurer shall prepare the Revenue Account, Profit and Loss Account [Shareholders' Account]

and the Balance Sheet in Form B-RA, Form B-PL, and Form B-BS, or as near thereto as the
circumstances permit.
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In addition, in respect of miscellaneous business, separate Schedules shall be furnished for the
following at the minimum:

()  Under Motor: sub-segments (a) Motor Own Damage and (b) Motor TP,
(Insurers engaged exclusively in Reinsurance business may prepare the schedule at
overall Motor level)

(i) Under Health: sub-segments (a) Health, (b) Personal Accident and (c) Travel,

(i) Workmen’s Compensation/ Employer’s liability,

(iv) Public/ Product Liability,

(v) Engineering,

(vi) Aviation,

(vii) Crop,

(viii) Any other sub-segment contributing more than 10% of the total gross direct premium of
the insurer shall be shown separately.

(ix) Others.

(X) Any other segment as may be specified.

(2) Segments to be reported on the basis of line of business, and on the basis of business within and

outside India. While giving the segment details of corresponding previous year’s figures should
also be given for all the segments.

(3) An insurer shall prepare separate Receipts and Payments Account in accordance with the Direct

Method prescribed in AS 3 - "Cash Flow Statement".

FORM B-RA

Name of the Insurer:

Registration No. and Date of Registration with the IRDAI

Revenue Account for Fire Segment for the year ended 31st march, 20....

(Amount in Rs. Lakhs)

Particulars Schedule Current Year Previous
Ref. Year

=

Premiums earned (Net) 1

Profit/ Loss on sale/ redemption
of Investments

Interest, Dividend & Rent — Gross
Note 1

Other

(a) Other Income (to be specified)

(b) Contribution from the

Shareholders' Account

(i) Towards Excess
Expenses of Management !

(ii) Towards remuneration
of MD/CEO/WTD/Other
KMPs ?

(i) Others (please specify)

TOTAL (A)

Claims Incurred (Net) 2

[e23[&)

Commission

Operating Expenses related to
Insurance Business

TOTAL (B)
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8 Operating Profit/(Loss)
C=(A-B)
9 Appropriations
Transfer to Shareholders’
Account

Transfer to Catastrophe Reserve

Transfer to Other Reserves (to be
specified)

TOTAL (C)

! In case expenses of management exceeds the limits prescribed by the regulations,
% In case annual remuneration exceeds the specified limit,

Notes: (a) See notes appended at the end of FORM B-PL

Note - 1

Pertaining to Policyholder’s funds (Amount in Rs. Lakhs)

Current Year Previous
Year

Interest, Dividend & Rent

Add/Less:-

Investment Expenses

Amortisation of Premium/ Discount on Investments

Amount written off in respect of depreciated
investments

Provision for Bad and Doubtful Debts

Provision for diminution in the value of other than
actively traded Equities

Investment income from Pool

Interest, Dividend & Rent — Gross*

* Term gross implies inclusive of TDS

FORM B-RA

Name of the Insurer:

Registration No. and Date of Registration with the IRDAI

Revenue Account for Marine segment for the year ended 31st march, 20....
(Amount in Rs. Lakhs)

Particulars Schedul Current Year Previous Year
e
Ref.

1 Premiums earned (Net) 1
2 Profit/ Loss on sale/ redemption

of Investments
3 Interest, Dividend & Rent — Gross

Note 1
4 Other

(a) Other Income (to be specified)

o

(b) Contribution from the
Shareholders' Account

(i) Towards Excess Expenses of
Management
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(ii) Towards remuneration of
MD/CEO/WTD/Other KMPs *
(i) Others (please specify)

TOTAL (A)

6]

Claims Incurred (Net) 2

o]

Commission

Operating Expenses related to
Insurance Business

TOTAL (B)

Operating
C=(A-B)

Profit/(Loss)

Appropriations

Transfer to Shareholders’ Account

Transfer to Catastrophe Reserve

Transfer to Other Reserves (to be
specified)

TOTAL (C)

Notes:- (a) See notes appended at the end of FORM B-PL
! In case expenses of management exceeds the limits prescribed by the regulations,

% In case annual remuneration exceeds the specified limit,

Note - 1

Pertaining to Policyholder’s funds

(Amount in Rs. Lakhs)

Current Year Previous
Year

Interest, Dividend & Rent

Add/Less:-

Investment Expenses

Amortisation of  Premium/  Discount on
Investments

Amount written off in respect of depreciated
investments

Provision for Bad and Doubtful Debts

Provision for diminution in the value of other than
actively traded Equities

Investment income from Pool

Interest, Dividend & Rent — Gross*

* Term gross implies inclusive of TDS
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FORM B-RA

Name of the Insurer:

Registration No.

and Date of Registration with the IRDAI

Revenue Account for Miscellaneous segment for the year ended 31st march, 20....

(Amount in Rs. Lakhs)

Schedul
e
Ref.

Particulars

Current Year Previous Year

(A=Y

Premiums earned (Net) 1

Profit/ Loss on sale/ redemption
of Investments

Interest, Dividend & Rent — Gross
Note 1

Other

(a) Other Income (to be specified)

“n

(b) Contribution from the
Shareholders' Account

0] Towards Excess
Expenses of Management *

(i) Towards remuneration of
MD/CEOQ/WTD/Other KMPs *

(i) Others (please specify)

TOTAL (A)

Claims Incurred (Net)

)]

wW(N

Commission

Operating Expenses related to
Insurance Business

TOTAL (B)

Operating
C=(A-B)

Profit/(Loss)

Appropriations

Transfer to Shareholders’ Account

Transfer to Catastrophe Reserve

Transfer to Other Reserves (to be
specified)

TOTAL (C)

Notes:- (a) See notes appended at the end of FORM B-PL
'l In case expenses of management exceeds the limits prescribed by the regulations,

% In case annual remuneration exceeds the specified limit,

Note - 1

Pertaining to Policyholder’s funds

(Amount in Rs. Lakhs)

Current Year Previous
Year

Interest, Dividend & Rent

Add/Less:-

Investment Expenses

Amortisation of Premium/ Discount on

Investments

Amount written off in respect of depreciated
investments




[T 11—avs 4]

HILT =T TSIA . AHTYTL

269

Provision for Bad and Doubtful Debts

Provision for diminution in the value of other than

actively traded Equities

Investment income from Pool

Interest, Dividend & Rent — Gross*

* Term gross implies inclusive of TDS

FORM B-RA

Name of the Insurer:

Registration No.

and Date of Registration with the IRDAI

Revenue Account for Marine segment for the year ended 31st march, 20....
(Amount in Rs. Lakhs)

Particulars Schedule Current Year Previous Year
Ref.
1 Premiums earned (Net) 1
2 Profit/ Loss on sale/ redemption
of Investments
3 Interest, Dividend & Rent — Gross
Note 1
4 Other
(a) Other Income (to be specified)
“n
(i)
(b) Contribution from the
Shareholders' Account
(i) Towards Excess
Expenses of Management !
(il) Towards remuneration of
MD/CEO/WTD/Other KMPs *
(i) Others (please specify)
TOTAL (A)
5 Claims Incurred (Net) 2
6 Commission 3
7 Operating Expenses related to
Insurance Business
TOTAL (B)
8 Operating Profit/(Loss)
C=(A-B)
9 Appropriations

Transfer to Shareholders’ Account

Transfer to Catastrophe Reserve

Transfer to Other Reserves (to be
specified)

TOTAL (C)

Notes:- (a) See notes appended at the end of FORM B-PL
! In case expenses of management exceeds the limits prescribed by the regulations,

% In case annual remuneration exceeds the specified limit,

Note - 1

Pertaining to Policyholder’s funds

(Amount in Rs. Lakhs)

Current Year

Previous Year

Interest, Dividend & Rent
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Add/Less:-

Investment Expenses

Amortisation of Premium/ Discount on
Investments

Amount written off in respect of depreciated
investments

Provision for Bad and Doubtful Debts

Provision for diminution in the value of other than
actively traded Equities

Investment income from Pool

Interest, Dividend & Rent — Gross*

* Term gross implies inclusive of TDS

FORM B-RA

Name of the Insurer:

Registration No.

and Date of Registration with the IRDAI

Revenue Account for Miscellaneous segment for the year ended 31st march, 20....
(Amount in Rs. Lakhs)

Particulars Schedul Current Year Previous Year
e
Ref.
1 Premiums earned (Net) 1
2 Profit/ Loss on sale/ redemption
of Investments
3 Interest, Dividend & Rent — Gross
Note 1
4 Other
(a) Other Income (to be specified)
“n
(ii)............
(b) Contribution  from  the
Shareholders' Account
0] Towards Excess
Expenses of Management *
(i) Towards remuneration of
MD/CEO/WTD/Other KMPs *
(iii) Others (please specify)
TOTAL (A)
5 Claims Incurred (Net) 2
6 Commission
7 Operating Expenses related to
Insurance Business
TOTAL (B)
8 Operating Profit/(Loss)
C=(A-B)
9 Appropriations

Transfer to Shareholders’ Account

Transfer to Catastrophe Reserve

Transfer to Other Reserves (to be
specified)

TOTAL (C)

Notes:- (a) See notes appended at the end of FORM B-PL
! In case expenses of management exceeds the limits prescribed by the regulations,

% In case annual remuneration exceeds the specified limit,
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Note - 1

Pertaining to Policyholder’s funds

(Amount in Rs. Lakhs)

Current Year

Previous
Year

Interest, Dividend & Rent

Add/Less:-

Investment Expenses

Amortisation of Premium/
Investments

Discount  on

Amount written off in respect of depreciated

investments

Provision for Bad and Doubtful Debts

Provision for diminution in the value of other than

actively traded Equities

Investment income from Pool

Interest, Dividend & Rent — Gross*

* Term gross implies inclusive of TDS

FORM B-RA

Name of the Insurer:

Registration No.

and Date of Registration with the IRDAI

Revenue Account for the company (total) the year ended 31st march, 20....
(Amount in Rs. Lakhs)

Particulars Schedule Current Year Previous Year
Ref.
1 Premiums earned (Net) 1
2 Profit/ Loss on sale/ redemption
of Investments
3 Interest, Dividend & Rent — Gross
Note 1
4 Other
(a) Other Income (to be specified)
“n
(ii)............
(b) Contribution from the
Shareholders' Account
(i) Towards Excess
Expenses of Management *
(i) Towards remuneration of
MD/CEO/WTD/Other KMPs *
(iii) Others (please specify)
TOTAL (A)
5 Claims Incurred (Net) 2
6 Commission 3
7 Operating Expenses related to 4
Insurance Business
8 Premium Deficiency
TOTAL (B)
9 Operating Profit/(Loss)
C=(A-B)
1 Appropriations
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Transfer to Shareholders’ Account

Transfer to Catastrophe Reserve

Transfer to Other Reserves (to be
specified)

TOTAL (C)

Notes:- (a) See notes appended at the end of FORM B-PL
! In case expenses of management exceeds the limits prescribed by the regulations,

% In case annual remuneration exceeds the specified limit,

Note - 1

Pertaining to Policyholder’s funds

(Amount in Rs. Lakhs)

Current Year Previous
Year

Interest, Dividend & Rent

Add/Less:-

Investment Expenses

Amortisation of Premium/ Discount on
Investments

Amount written off in respect of depreciated
investments

Provision for Bad and Doubtful Debts

Provision for diminution in the value of other than
actively traded Equities

Investment income from Pool

Interest, Dividend & Rent — Gross*

* Term gross implies inclusive of TDS
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FORM B-PL

Name of the Insurer:

Registration No.

and Date of Registration with the IRDAI

Profit and Loss Account for the year ended 31st march, 20

(Amount in Rs. Lakhs)

Particulars

Schedule
Ref.

Current Year

Previous
Year

Operating Profit/(Loss)

(a) Fire Insurance

(b) Marine Insurance

(c) Miscellaneous Insurance

Income From Investments

(a) Interest, Dividend & Rent — Gross

(b) Profit on sale of investments

(c) (Loss on sale/ redemption of
investments)

(d) Amortization of Premium /
Discount on Investments

Other Income (To be specified)

TOTAL (A)

Provisions (Other than taxation)

(a) For diminution in the value of
investments

(b) For doubtful debts

(c) Others (to be specified)

Other Expenses

(a) Expenses other than those
related to Insurance Business

(b) Bad debts written off

(c) Interest on subordinated debt

(d) Expenses towards CSR activities

(e) Penalties

(f) Contribution to Policyholders' Alc
(i) Towards Excess Expenses
of Management !
(i) Towards remuneration of
MD/CEO/WTD/Other KMPs ?

(i) Others (please specify)

(9) Others (Please specify)
(i)
(ii)

TOTAL (B)

Profit/(Loss) Before Tax

Provision for Taxation

Profit / (Loss) after tax

[(e] [el] EN]Ye)]

Appropriations

(a) Interim dividends paid during the
year

(b) Final dividend paid

(c) Transfer to any Reserves or
Other Accounts (to be specified)
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Balance of profit/ loss brought
forward from last year

Balance carried forward to
Balance Sheet

" In case expenses of management exceeds the limits prescribed by the regulations,
% In case annual remuneration exceeds the specified limit,

Notes to Form B-RA and B- PL

(8) Items of income in excess of one percent of the total premiums (less reinsurance) or Rs.5,00,000
whichever is higher, shall be shown as a separate line item.

(b) Under the sub-head "Others” items like foreign exchange gains or losses and other items shall
be included

(c) Interest, dividends and rentals receivable in connection with an investment should be stated as
gross amount, the amount of income tax deducted at source being included under 'advance
taxes paid and taxes deducted at source”. The expenses pertaining to investment income e.g.
Amortisation, Write off, other Investments expenses etc. are to be deducted from this other than
separately disclosed here.

(d) Income from rent shall include only the realized rent. It shall not include any notional rent.
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FORM B-BS

Name of the Insurer:

Registration No. and Date of Registration with the IRDAI

Balance sheet as at 31st march, 20....
(Amount in Rs. Lakhs)

Particulars Schedule Current Previous
Ref. Year Year
Sources of Funds
Share capital 5 &5A
Share application money pending allotment
Reserves and surplus 6
Head office account* 6A

Fair value change account

-Shareholders' Funds

-Policyholders' Funds

Borrowings 7

TOTAL

Application of Funds

Investments-Shareholders 8
Investments-Policyholders 8A
Loans 9
Fixed assets 10

Deferred tax asset (net)

Current Assets

Cash and Bank Balances 11

Advances and Other Assets 12

Sub-Total (A)

Deferred Tax Liability (Net)

Current Liabilities 13

Provisions 14

Sub-Total (B)

Net Current Assets (C) = (A - B)

Miscellaneous Expenditure (to the extent not written 15
off or adjusted)

Debit Balance In Profit And Loss Account

TOTAL

* in case of branches of foreign re-insurers and Lloyd’s India only
Contingent liabilities
(Amount in Rs. Lakhs)

Particulars Current Year Previous
Year

=

. Partly paid-up investments

N

Claims, other than against
policies, not acknowledged as
debts by the company

3. Underwriting commitments
outstanding (in respect of
shares and securities)

4. Guarantees given by or on behalf




276 THE GAZETTE OF INDIA : EXTRAORDINARY [PART I1I—SEC.4]

of the Company

5.Statutory demands/ liabilities in
dispute, not provided for

6. Reinsurance obligations to the
extent not provided for in

accounts
7 Others (to be specified)
(a).
(b).
TOTAL
Note:

(a) Underwriting commitments outstanding- Commitments to underwrite the
subscription to a new issue of shares, but the liability for which is
contingent upon the issue not being fully subscribed. It is, however,
clarified that insurers are presently not permitted to underwrite issues.

(b) Re-insurance obligations - it includes obligations under reinsurance
contracts with the insurer in respect of which, there are subsisting
obligations as at the balance sheet date but for valid reasons, the
insurer has not made any provision.
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SCHEDULES FORMING PART OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SCHEDULE 1

Premium Earned [Net] (Amountin Rs. Lakhs)

Particulars Current Year Previous Year

Gross Direct Premium

Add: Premium on reinsurance accepted

Less : Premium on reinsurance ceded

Net Written Premium / Net Premium Income

Add: Opening balance of Unearned Premium
Reserve (UPR)

Less: Closing balance of Unearned Premium
Reserve (UPR)

Net Earned Premium

Gross Direct Premium

- In India
- Outside India
SCHEDULE 2
Claims Incurred [Net] (Amount in Rs. Lakhs)
Particulars Current Year Previous Year

Claims Paid (Direct)

Add :Re-insurance accepted to direct
claims

Less :Re-insurance Ceded to claims paid

Net Claim Paid

Add Claims Outstanding at the end of the
year

Less: Claims Outstanding at the beginning
of the year

Net Incurred Claims

Claims Paid (Direct)

-In India

-Outside India

Estimates of IBNR and IBNER at the end of
the period (net)

Estimates of IBNR and IBNER at the
beginning of the period (net)

Notes:
a) Incurred But Not Reported (IBNR), Incurred but not enough reported [IBNER] claims
should be included in the amount for outstanding claims.
b) Claims includes specific claims settlement cost but not expenses of management.
c) The surveyor fees, legal and other expenses shall also form part of claims cost, wherever
applicable.
d) Claims cost should be adjusted for estimated salvage value if there is a sufficient certainty
of its realization.
e) Separate disclosure to be made for segment/sub-segment which contributes more than 10
percent of the total gross direct premium.
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SCHEDULE 3

Commission

(Amount in Rs. Lakhs)

Particulars

Current Year

Previous Year

Gross Commission

Add: Commission on Re-insurance
Accepted

Less: Commission on Re-insurance
Ceded

Net Commission

Channel wise break-up of Commission (Gro

SS):

Individual Agents

Corporate Agents-Banks/FII/HFC

Corporate Agents-Others

Insurance Brokers

Direct Business - Online®

MISP (Direct)

Web Aggregators

Insurance Marketing Firm

Common Service Centers

Micro Agents

Point of Sales (Direct)

Other (to be specified)

TOTAL

Commission (Excluding Reinsurance)
Business written :

In India

Outside India

Notes:

(a) The profit /commission, if any, are to be combined with the Re-insurance accepted
or Re-insurance ceded figures.
(b) Separate disclosure to be made for segment/sub-segment which contributes more
than 10 percent of the total gross direct premium

° Commission on Business procured through Company website

SCHEDULE 4

Operating expenses related to insurance business

(Amount in Rs. Lakhs)

Particulars

Current Year

Previous
Year

Employees’ remuneration & welfare benefits

Travel, conveyance and vehicle running expenses

Training expenses

Rents, rates & taxes

Repairs

Printing & stationery

Communication expenses

Legal & professional charges

OO (N[O | |W|IN(F

Auditors' fees, expenses etc.

(a) as auditor

(b) as adviser or in any other capacity, in respect of

(i) Taxation matters

(i) Insurance matters

(i) Management services; and

(c) in any other capacity

10

Advertisement and publicity

11

Interest & Bank Charges
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12 Depreciation
13 Brand/Trade Mark usage fee/charges
14 Business Development and Sales Promotion Expenses
15 Information Technology Expenses
16 Goods and Services Tax (GST)
17 Others (to be specified)®

TOTAL

In India

Outside India

Notes:

(a) lItems of expenses in excess of one percent of the total premiums (less reinsurance) or
Rs.5,00,000 whichever is higher, shall be shown as a separate line item.

(b) Separate disclosure to be made for segment/sub-segment which contributes more than 10
percent of the total gross direct premium

(c) Expenses paid for various outsourcing activities/arrangements are to be booked under
relevant line item on the basis of nature of services availed and not to be shown as "Outsourcing
Expense"

SCHEDULE 5

Share Capital (Amount in Rs. Lakhs)

Particulars Current Year Previous
Year

1 Authorised Capital

Equity Shares of Rs..... each

Preference Shares of Rs..... each

2 Issued Capital

Equity Shares of Rs. .....each

Preference Shares of Rs..... each

3 Subscribed Capital

Equity Shares of Rs....... each

Preference Shares of Rs..... each

4 Called-up Capital

Equity Shares of Rs. .....each

Less : Calls unpaid

Add : Equity Shares forfeited (Amount originally
paid up)

Less : Par Value of Equity Shares bought back

Less : Preliminary Expenses

Expenses including commission or brokerage on

Underwriting or subscription of shares

Preference Shares of Rs..... each

TOTAL

Notes:

(a) Particulars of the different classes of capital should be separately stated.

(b) The amount capitalised on account of issue of bonus shares should be disclosed.

(c) In case any part of the capital is held by a holding company, the same should be separately

disclosed.
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SCHEDULE 5A

Pattern of Shareholding

[As certified by the Management]

Shareholder Current Year | Previous Year

Number of % of Number of Shares % of
Shares Ho Ho
Idi Idi

ng ng

Promoters

Indian

Foreign

Investors®

Indian

Foreign

Others *
Indian
Foreign

TOTAL

" Investors as defined under relevant regulations
2 Others may include ESOPs

SCHEDULE 6
Reserves and Surplus (Amount in Rs. Lakhs)
Particulars Current Previous Year
Year
1 Capital Reserve
2 Capital Redemption Reserve
3 Share Premium
4 Revaluation Reserve
5 General Reserves
Less: Amount utilized for Buy-back
Less: Amount utilized for issue of Bonus
shares
6 Catastrophe Reserve
7 Other Reserves (to be specified)
8 Balance of Profit in Profit & Loss Account
TOTAL

Notes:
(a) Additions to and deductions from the reserves should be disclosed under each of the specified
heads.
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SCHEDULE 6A

Head Office Account Schedule

Particulars Current Year

Previous
Year

Opening Balance of Assigned capital

Add: Addition during the year

Closing Balance of Assigned Capital*

TOTAL

Note: *Represents irreversible fixed amount funded by Head Office as per terms of registration and
no amount/balance shall be transferred out of the Country without approval of the Competent

Authority.
SCHEDULE 7
Borrowings (Amount in Rs. Lakhs)
Particulars Current Year Previous Year

1 Debentures/ Bonds
2 Banks
3 Financial Institutions
4 Others (to be

specified)

TOTAL

Notes:

a) The extent to which the borrowings are secured shall be separately disclosed stating the

nature of the security under each sub-head.

b) Amounts due within 12 months from the date of Balance Sheet should be shown separately

c) Debentures include NCDs issued as per relevant regulations.

Disclosure For Secured Borrowings (Refer Note a)

(Amount in Rs. Lakhs)
Source / Amount Amount of Nature of
SI. No. . s )
instrument borrowed security security
1
2
3
4
5
SCHEDULE 8 AND 8A
Investment schedule (Amount in Rs. Lakhs)
Particulars SCH-8 SCH-8A
Shareholders Policyholders Total
Current | Previous | Current | Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year Year Year
Long Term
Investments
1 | Government securities
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and Government
guaranteed bonds
including Treasury Bills

Other Approved
Securities

Other Investments

(a) Shares

(aa) Equity

(bb) Preference

(b) Mutual Funds

(c) Derivative
Instruments

(d) Debentures/
Bonds

(e) Other Securities
(to be specified)

() Subsidiaries

(g) Investment
Properties-Real Estate

Investments in
Infrastructure and
Housing

Other than Approved
Investments

Short Term
Investments

Government securities
and Government
guaranteed bonds
including Treasury Bills

Other Approved
Securities

Other Investments

(a) Shares

(aa) Equity

(bb) Preference

(b) Mutual Funds

(c) Derivative
Instruments

(d) Debentures/
Bonds

(e) Other Securities
(to be specified)

() Subsidiaries

(g) Investment
Properties-Real Estate

Investments in
Infrastructure and
Housing

Other than Approved
Investments

TOTAL

GRNAD TOTAL
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Notes:
(a) Investments in subsidiary/holding companies, joint ventures and associates shall be separately
disclosed, at cost.

() Holding company and subsidiary shall be construed as defined in the Company Act 2013:

(i) Joint Venture is a contractual arrangement whereby two or more parties undertake an
economic activity, which is subject to joint control.

(ii) Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of power to govern the financial and
operating policies of an economic activity to obtain benefits from it.

(iv) Associate is an enterprise in which the company has significant influence and which is
neither a subsidiary nor a joint venture of the company.

(v) Significant influence (for the purpose of this schedule) - means participation in the financial
and operating policy decisions of a company, but not control of those policies. Significant
influence may be exercised in several ways, for example, by representation on the board of
directors, participation in the policymaking process, material inter-company transactions,
interchange of managerial personnel or dependence on technical information. Significant
influence may be gained by share ownership, statute or agreement. As regards share
ownership, if an investor holds, directly or indirectly through subsidiaries, 20 percent or
more of the voting power of the investee, it is presumed that the investor does have
significant influence, unless it can be clearly demonstrated that this is not the
case. Conversely, if the investor holds, directly or indirectly through subsidiaries, less than
20 percent of the voting power of the investee, it is presumed that the investor does not
have significant influence, unless such influence is clearly demonstrated. A substantial or
majority ownership by another investor does not necessarily preclude an investor from
having significant influence.

(b) Investments made out of Catastrophe reserve should be shown separately.

(c) Debt securities will be considered as “held to maturity” securities and will be measured at
historical cost subject to amortisation.

(d) Investment Property means a property [land or building or part of a building or both] held to
earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both, rather than for use in services or for
administrative purposes.

(e) Investments maturing within twelve months from balance sheet date and investments made
with the specific intention to dispose of within twelve months from balance sheet date shall be
classified as short-term investments

(f) Investment regulations, as amended from time to time, to be referred

(g) Aggregate amount of company's investments other than listed equity securities and derivative
instruments and also the market value thereof shall be disclosed as specified below

Adgregate value of Investments other than Listed Equity Securities and Derivative Instruments
(Amount in Rs. Lakhs)

Particulars Shareholders Policyholders Total

Current | Previous | Current | Previous Current Previous
Year Year Year Year Year Year

Long Term Investments:

Book Value

market Value

Short Term Investments:

Book Value

market Value
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SCHEDULE 9
Loans (Amount in Rs. Lakhs)
Particulars Current Year Previous Year
1 Security-Wise Classification
Secured
(a) On mortgage of property
(aa) In India
(bb) Outside India
(b) On Shares, Bonds, Govt. Securities
(c) Others (to be specified)
Unsecured
TOTAL
2 Borrower-Wise Classification
(a) Central and State Governments
(b) Banks and Financial Institutions
(c) Subsidiaries
(d) Industrial Undertakings
(e) Companies
(f) Others (to be specified)
TOTAL
3 Performance-Wise Classification
(a) Loans classified as standard
(aa) InIndia
(bb) Outside India
(b) Non-performing loans less provisions
(aa) InIndia
(bb) Outside India
TOTAL
4 Maturity-Wise Classification
(a) Short Term
(b) Long Term
TOTAL
Notes:

(@) Short-term loans shall include those, which are repayable within 12 months from the date
of balance sheet. Long term loans shall be the loans other than short-term loans.

(b) The nature of the security in case of all long term secured loans shall be specified in each
case. Secured loans for the purposes of this schedule, means loans secured wholly or partly
against an asset of the company.

(c) Loans considered doubtful and the amount of provision created against such loans shall be
disclosed.

(d) Provisions against non-performing loans shall be shown as below:

Provisions against Non-performing Loans

(Amount in Rs. Lakhs)

Non-Performing Loans

Loan Amount Provision

Sub-standard

Doubtful

Loss

Total
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SCHEDULE 10

Fixed Assets (Amount in Rs. Lakhs)
Particulars Cost/ Gross Block Depreciation Net Block
Up to Current Previous
) . . ) For The On Sales/ To
Opening | Additions | Deductions | Closing I\F:Ztr Period Adjustments Date Year Year

Goodwill

Intangibles (specify)

Land-Freehold

Leasehold Property

Buildings

Furniture & Fittings

Information
Technology
Equipment

Vehicles

Office Equipment

Others (Specify
nature)

TOTAL

Work in progress

Grand Total

Previous Year

Note: Assets included in land, property and building above exclude Investment Properties as defined in note (e) to Schedule 8
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SCHEDULE 11

Cash and Bank Balances

(Amount in Rs. Lakhs)

Particulars

Current
Year

Previous
Year

(A=Y

Cash (including cheques , drafts and stamps)

2 Bank Balances

(a) Deposit Accounts

(aa) Short-term (due within 12 months)

(bb) Others

(b) Current Accounts

(c) Others (to be specified)

3 Money at Call and Short Notice

(a) With Banks

(b) With other Institutions

4 Others (to be specified)

TOTAL

and 3 above

Balances with non-scheduled banks included in 2

CASH & BANK BALANCES

In India

Outside India

* Cheques on hand amount to Rs.
Note:

(in Lakh) Previous Year : Rs.

(in Lakh)

(@) Bank balance may include remittances in transit. If so, the nature and amount should be

separately stated.

SCHEDULE 12

Advances and other assets

(Amount in Rs. Lakhs)

Particulars

Current Year

Previous Year

Advances

1 Reserve deposits with ceding
companies

Application money for investments

Prepayments

Advances to Directors/Officers

g~ lw|N

Advance tax paid and taxes deducted
at source (Net of provision for
taxation)

o

Goods & Service tax credit

7. Others (to be specified)

h____
(ii)

TOTAL (A)

Other Assets

=

Income accrued on investments

2 Outstanding Premiums

Less : Provisions for doubtful ,if any

Agents’ Balances

Foreign Agencies Balances

gbhlw

Due from other entities carrying on
Insurance business (including
reinsurers)

Less : Provisions for doubtful, if any

6 Due from subsidiaries/ holding
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7 Investments held for Unclaimed
Amount of Policyholders
8 Interest on investments held for
Unclaimed Amount of Policyholders
9 Others (to be specified)
(i)
(i)
10 Current Account of Head Office*
TOTAL (B)
TOTAL (A+B)

* in case of branches of foreign re-insurers and Lloyd’s India only

Notes:

(8) The items under the above heads shall not be shown net of provisions for doubtful amounts.
The amount of provision against each head should be shown separately.

(b) The term ‘officer’ should conform to the definition of that term as given under the Companies
Act.

SCHEDULE 13

Current liabilities (Amount in Rs. Lakhs)

Particulars Current Year Previous Year

1 Agents’ Balances

2 | Balances due to other insurance
companies

3 | Deposits held on re-insurance ceded

4 Premiums received in advance

(a) For Long term policies ™

(b) for Other Policies

5 Unallocated Premium
6 Sundry creditors
7 Due to subsidiaries/ holding company
8 Claims Outstanding
9 Due to Officers/ Directors
10 Unclaimed Amount of policyholders
11 Income accrued on Unclaimed
amounts
12 Interest payable on debentures/bonds
13 Goods and Service tax Liabilities
14 Others (to be specified)

(i
(ii)

15 Current Account of Head Office*

TOTAL

* in case of branches of foreign re-insurers and Lloyd’s India only
Note :

1. Long term policies are policies with more than one year tenure
2. Details of unclaimed amounts and Investment Income to be submitted as below

Details of unclaimed amounts and Investment Income thereon
(Amount in Rs. Lakhs)
Particulars Current Year Previous Year
Opening Balance
Add: Amount transferred to unclaimed
amount
Add: Cheques issued out of the
unclaimed amount but not
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encashed by the policyholders
(To be included only when the
cheques are stale)

Add: Investment Income

Less: Amount paid during the year

Less: Transferred to SCWF

Closing Balance of Unclaimed Amount

SCHEDULE 14

Provisions

(Amount in Rs. Lakhs)

Particulars

Current
Year

Previous Year

=Y

Reserve for unearned premium reserve

N

Reserve for Premium Deficiency

For taxation (less advance tax paid and taxes
deducted at source)

N

For Employee Benefits

Others (to be specified)
(a)
(b)

TOTAL
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SCHEDULE 15

Miscellaneous Expenditure

(To the extent not written off or adjusted) (Amountin Rs. Lakhs)
Particulars Current Previous Year
Year
1 Discount Allowed in issue of shares/
debentures
2 Others (to be specified)
TOTAL
Notes:
(&) No item shall be included under the head “Miscellaneous Expenditure” and carried forward
unless:
1. some benefit from the expenditure can reasonably be expected to be received in future,
and

2. the amount of such benefit is reasonably determinable.
(b) The amount to be carried forward in respect of any item included under the head
“Miscellaneous Expenditure” shall not exceed the expected future revenue/other benefits
related to the expenditure.

Part Ill: AUDITOR'S REPORT

The report of the auditors on the financial statements of every insurer shall deal with the matters
specified herein:
1.
(1) That they have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of their
knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of their audit and whether they
have found them satisfactory;

(2) Whether proper books of account have been maintained by the insurer so far as appears
from an examination of those books;

(3) Whether proper returns, audited or unaudited, from branches and other offices have been
received and whether they were adequate for the purpose of audit;

(4) Whether the Balance sheet, Revenue account, Profit and Loss account and the Receipts
and Payments Account dealt with by the report are in agreement with the books of
account and returns;

(5) Whether the actuarial valuation of liabilities is duly certified by the appointed actuary
including to the effect that the assumptions for such valuation are in accordance with the
guidelines and norms, if any, issued.

2. The auditors shall express their opinion on:

1)

(i) Whether the balance sheet gives a true and fair view of the insurer's affairs as at the
end of the financial year/period;

(i) Whether the revenue account gives a true and fair view of the surplus or the deficit for
the financial year/period;

(iii) Whether the profit and loss account gives a true and fair view of the profit or loss for
the financial year/period;

(iv) Whether the receipts and payments account gives a true and fair view of the receipts
and payments for the financial year/period,;

(2) The financial statements stated at (1) above are prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Insurance Act, 1938 (4 of 1938), the Insurance Regulatory and
Development Authority Act, 1999 (41 of 1999) and the Companies Act, 2013, to the
extent applicable and in the manner so required.

(3) Investments have been valued in accordance with the provisions of the Act and these
regulations.

(4) The accounting policies selected by the insurer are appropriate and are in compliance
with the applicable accounting standards and with the accounting principles, as
prescribed in these regulations or any order or direction issued in this behalf.
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3. The auditors shall further certify that:

(1) they have reviewed the management report and there is no apparent mistake or material
inconsistencies with the financial statements;

(2) the insurer has complied with the terms and conditions of the registration stipulated by the
Authority.

A certificate signed by the auditors [which shall be in addition to any other certificate or report

which is required by law to be given with respect to the balance sheet] certifying that-

(1) they have verified the cash balances and the securities relating to the insurer's loans,
reversions and life interests (in the case of life insurers) and investments;

(2) to what extent, if any, they have verified the investments and transactions relating to any
trusts undertaken by the insurer as trustee; and

(3) no part of the assets of the policyholders' funds has been directly or indirectly applied in
contravention of the provisions of the Insurance Act, 1938 (4 of 1938) relating to the
application and investments of the policyholders' funds.
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1)
(2)
3)

(4)

()
(6)

(7)

(8)

SCHEDULE Il - INVESTMENT FUNCTIONS
Part-I
Definitions:

"Approved Investments" means Investments made as per clause 2(1) and 2 (2) of the
Schedule Il of these regulations.
“Assets” means assets in India, held by an Insurer in accordance with the provisions of
Section 31 of the Act.
“Financial Derivatives” means a derivative as defined under clause (ac) of section 2 of the
Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956, and includes a contract which derives its value
from interest rates of underlying debt securities and such other derivative contracts as may be
stipulated by the Competent Authority, from time to time.
“Group” means: two or more individuals, association of individuals, firms, trusts, trustees or
bodies corporate, or any combination thereof, which exercises, or is established to be in a
position to exercise, significant influence and / or control, directly or indirectly, over any
associate as defined in Accounting Standard (AS), body corporate, firm or trust, or use of
common brand names, Associated persons, as may be stipulated by the Competent
Authority, from time to time.
Explanation: Use of common brand names in conjunction with other parameters of significant
influence and / or control, whether direct or indirect shall be reckoned for determination for
inclusion as forming part of the group or otherwise.
“Housing Finance Company” shall have the meaning assigned to it by the RBI, as amended
from time to time.
“Infrastructure facility” means, the ‘Harmonized Master list of Infrastructure sub-sectors’ as
per Gazette Notification Dt. October 11, 2022 of Department of Economic Affairs, as
amended from time to time.
“Investment Assets” mean all investments made out of:
(i) in the case of Life Insurer
(a) shareholders’ funds representing solvency margin, non-unit reserves of unit linked
insurance business, participating and non-participating funds of policyholders, funds
of variable insurance products including One Year Renewable Pure Group Term
Assurance Business (OYRGTA) at their carrying value;
(b) policyholders’ funds of Pension, Annuity business and Group business including
funds of variable insurance products at their carrying value;
(c) policyholders’ unit reserves of unit linked insurance business including funds of
variable insurance products at their market value as per guidelines issued under
these regulations, from time to time;

(ii) in the case of General Insurer including an insurer carrying on business of re-
insurance or health insurance or in case of a branch of a foreign company engaged in
the business of re-insurance, funds maintained in its head office account,
shareholders’ funds representing solvency margin and policyholders’ funds at their
carrying value as shown in its balance sheet prepared in accordance with these
regulations;

Money Market Instruments
Money Market Instruments shall comprise of Short term investments with maturity not more
than one year comprising of the following instruments:
(i) Certificate of deposit rated by a credit rating agency registered under SEBI (Credit
Rating Agencies) Regulations, 1999;
(i) Commercial paper rated by a credit rating agency registered under SEBI (Credit
Rating Agencies) Regulations, 1999;
(i) Reverse Repo;
(iv) Treasury Bills (including Cash Management Bills);
(v) Call, Notice, Term Money;
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(vi) Tri-party Repos (TREPS)
(vii) Any other instrument as may be specified by the Competent Authority;

PART II

2. Approved Investments

(1) No insurer shall invest or keep invested any part of its Controlled Fund, as defined under Sec
27A | Assets as defined under Sec 27 (2) of the Act, read together with Sec 27E of the Act,
otherwise than in approved securities, as per Section 2(3) of Insurance Act, 1938, as amended
from time to time and in any of the following approved investments, namely:

)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

In

@

(ii)

(i)

debentures secured by a first charge on any immovable property, plant or equipment of
any company which has paid interest in full without any default;

debentures secured by a first charge on any immovable property, plant or equipment of
any company where either the book value or the market value, whichever is less, of such
property, plant or equipment is more than three times the value of such debentures;

first debentures secured by a floating charge on all its assets of any company which has
paid dividends on its equity shares for at least 2 financial years out of immediately
preceding 3 consecutive financial years;

preference shares of any company which has paid dividends on its equity shares for at
least 2 financial years out of immediately preceding 3 consecutive financial years;

equity shares of any listed and actively traded company on which not less than ten
percent dividends have been paid for at least 2 financial years out of immediately
preceding 3 consecutive financial years;

immovable property situated in India, provided that the property is free of all
encumbrances;

loans on policies of life insurance within their surrender values issued by him or by an
insurer whose business he has acquired and in respect of which business he has
assumed liability;

Fixed Deposits with banks included for the time being in the Second Schedule to the
Reserve Bank of India Act,1934(2 of 1934); and

such other investments as the Authority may, by naotification in the Official Gazette, declare
to be Approved Investments.

addition, the following investments shall be deemed as Approved Investments

All rated debentures (including bonds) and other rated & secured debt instruments as per
Note appended to Clauses 3 to 8. Equity shares, preference shares and debt instruments
issued by All India Financial Institutions recognized as such by Reserve Bank of India —
investments shall be made in terms of investment policy guidelines, benchmarks and
exposure norms, limits approved by the Board of Directors of the insurer.

Bonds or debentures issued by companies, rated not less than AA or its equivalent and Al
or its equivalent ratings for short term bonds, debentures, certificate of deposits and
commercial papers by a credit rating agency, registered under SEBI (Credit Rating
Agencies) Regulations1999.

Subject to norms and limits approved by the Board of Directors of the insurer’s deposits
[including fixed deposits as per Clause 2(1)(viii) with banks (e.g. in current account, call
deposits, notice deposits, certificate of deposits etc.) included for the time being in the
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®3)

(4)

4.

Second Schedule to Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934(20f 1934) and deposits with primary
dealers duly recognized by Reserve Bank of India as such.

(iv) Tri Party Repo created with the Tri-party Agent who is approved by RBI and exposure to
Gilt, G Sec, overnight, ultra-short term and liquid mutual fund forming part of Approved
Investments as per Mutual Fund Guidelines issued under these regulations and money
market instrument/investment.

(v) Asset Backed Securities/Pass through Certificates(PTCs) with underlying Housing loans or
having infrastructure assets as underlying as defined under “infrastructure facility” in
clause 1(6) of the Schedule- Il to regulation 6(3) of these regulations.

(vi) Commercial papers issued by All India Financial Institutions recognized as such by
Reserve Bank of India having a credit rating of A1 by a credit rating agency registered
under SEBI (Credit Rating Agencies) Regulations1999.

(vii) Money Market instruments as defined in clause 1(8) of the Schedule- 11l to Regulation 6(3)
of these regulations.

Explanation: All conditions mentioned in the ‘note’ appended to Clauses 3 to 8 shall be
complied with.

The board of the insurer, to comply with the provisions of Section 27A (2) (ii) of the Act, may
delegate to Investment Committee, for investments already made and the continuance of such
investments from controlled fund / assets, in otherwise than in an approved investment, and in All
India Financial Institutions recognized as such by RBI for investments carrying a rating of less
than AA and being part of Approved Investment. The investment committee shall be responsible
for the details, analysis and review of non-performing assets of investments on a quarterly
periodicity.

Unless specifically permitted by the Authority, no investment shall be made in any entity not
formed under laws relating to companies in India and in company formed under section 8 of the
Companies Act,2013 or erstwhile Section 25 of the Companies Act,1956.

Regulation of Investments—Life Insurer:

A life insurer, for the purpose of these regulations, shall invest and at all times keep invested, the
Investment Assets forming part of the Controlled Fund as under;

(1) All funds (excluding Shareholders’ funds held beyond solvency margin, held in a separate
custody account) of Life insurance business and One Year Renewable Pure Group Term
Assurance Business (OYRGTA), and non-unit reserves of all categories of Unit linked life
insurance business, as per clause 4;

(2) all funds of Pension, Annuity and Group Business as per clause 5; and
(3) the unit reserves portion of all categories of Unit linked funds, as per clause 6.

Without prejudice to Sections 10 (2AA), 27 or 27A of the Act and any provisions of these
regulations, every insurer carrying on the business of Life Insurance, shall invest and at all times
keep invested its Investment Assets as defined in clause 3(1) (other than funds relating to Pension
& General Annuity and Group Business and unit reserves of all categories of Unit Linked
Business) in the following manner:
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No

Type of Investment

Percentage to funds as under
clause 3(1)

(i)

Central Government Securities

Not less than 25%

(ii)

Central Government Securities, State Government
Securities or Other Approved Securities

Not less than 50% (incl (i)above)

(iil)

Approved Investments as specified in clause 2(1) and
(2) to these regulations and Other Investments as
specified in Section 27A (2) of the Act and, (all taken
together) subject to Exposure / Prudential Norms as
specified in clause-8:

Not exceeding 50%

(iv)

Other Investments as specified in Section 27A (2) of
the Act, subject to Exposure / Prudential Norms as
specified in clause-8.

Not exceeding 15%

v)

Investment in housing and infrastructure by way of
subscription or purchase of:
A. Investment in Housing
a. Bonds / debentures of National Housing Bank &
HUDCO

b. Bonds [/ debentures of Housing Finance
Companies either duly accredited by National
Housing Bank, for house building activities, or duly
guaranteed by Government or carrying current
rating of not less than ‘AA’ by a credit rating
agency registered under SEBI (Credit Rating
Agencies) Regulations, 1999 and equity shares of
any actively traded Housing Finance Company/
HUDCO on which not less than ten percent
dividends have been paid for at least 2 Financial
years out of immediately preceding 3 consecutive
Financial years.

c. Asset Backed Securities with underlying housing
loans, satisfying the norms specified n the
guidelines issued under these regulations from
time to time.

B. Investment in Infrastructure
Explanation: Subscription or purchase of Bonds /
Debentures, Equity and Asset Backed Securities
with underlying infrastructure assets would qualify
for the purpose of this requirement.
‘Infrastructure facility’ shall have the meaning as
given in clause 1(6) as amended from time to time.

Note: Investments made under category (i) and (ii)
above may be considered as investment in housing
and infrastructure, provided the respective
government issues such a security specifically to
meet the needs of any of the sectors specified as
‘infrastructure facility’.

Total Investment in housing and
infrastructure (i.e.,) investment in
categories (i), (i), (iii) and
(iv) above taken together shall not be
less than 15% of the fund under clause
3(2).

5.

Without prejudice to Sections 10 (2AA), 27 or 27A of the Act and any provisions of these

regulations every insurer carrying on Pension, Annuity and Group Business shall invest and at all




[T H—aTE 4] AT &1 TSI ITET00 295

times keep invested its Investment Assets of Pension, Annuity and Group business in the
following manner:

No Type of Investment Percentage to funds
under clause 3(2)
0] Central Government Securities Not less than 20%
(ii) Central Government Securities, State Government Not less than 40%(incl (i)
Securities or OtherApproved Securities above)
(iii) Balance to be invested in Approved Investments, as specified | Not exceeding 60%

in clause 2(1)and (2), subject to Exposure / Prudential norms
as specified in clause 8.

Note: For the purposes of this regulation no investment falling under ‘Other Investments’ as

1)

(@)

3)

(4)

specified under Section 27A (2) of the Act shall be made.
Unit Linked Insurance Business

Without prejudice to Sections 10 (2AA), 27 or 27A of the Act and any provisions of these
regulations every insurer shall invest and at all times keep invested its segregated fund(s)
under clause 3(3) (with underlying securities at custodian level) of Unit linked business as per
pattern of investment offered to and subscribed to by the policy-holders where the units are
linked to categories of assets which are both marketable and readily realizable within the
approved pattern as per the product regulations.

However, the investment in Approved Investments shall not be less than 75% of such fund(s)
in each such segregated fund”.

All prudential and exposure norms under clause 8, shall be applicable at the level of individual
segregated fund at SFIN level.

Insurer shall, as per circular / guidelines issued, from time to time, disclose on their website,
the minimum information required for the benefit of policyholders.

7. Regulation of Investments - General Insurer including an insurer carrying on business of
re-insurance or health insurance.
Without prejudice to Sections 10 (2AA), 27, or 27B of the Act and any provisions of these
regulations, an insurer carrying on the business of General Insurance including an insurer
carrying on business of re-insurance or health insurance shall invest and at all times keep
invested its investment assets in the manner set out below:

No | Type of Investment Percentage of Investment

Assets

(i) | Central Government Securities Not less than 20%

(i) | Central Government Securities, State Government Securities| Not less than 30%(incl (i)
orOther Approved Securities. above)

(i) | Approved Investments as specified in clause 2 (1) and (2) and| Not exceeding 70%
Other Investments as specified in Section 27A (2),(all taken
together) subject to Exposure / Prudential Norms as specified in
clause 8.

(iv) | Other investments as specified in Section 27A (2), subject to| Not more than 15%
Exposure / Prudential Norms as specified in clause 8.

(v) | Loans to State Government for Housing and Fire Fighting
equipment, by way of subscription or purchase of:
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No

Type of Investment

Percentage of Investment
Assets

A.

a.

B.

d.

Investments in Housing
Bonds / debentures of National Housing Bank & HUDCO

Bonds / debentures of Housing Finance Companies either
duly accredited by National Housing Bank, for house
building activities, or duly guaranteed by Government or
carrying current rating of not less than ‘AA’ by a credit
rating agency registered under SEBI (Credit Rating
Agencies) Regulations, 1999 and equity shares of any
actively traded Housing Finance Company/HUDCO on
which not less than ten percent dividends have been paid
for at least 2 Financial years out of immediately preceding 3
consecutive Financial years.

Asset Backed Securities with underlying Housing loans,
satisfying the norms specified in the Guidelines issued
under these regulations from time to time.

Investment in Infrastructure
Explanation:  Subscription or purchase of Bonds/
Debentures, Equity and Asset Backed Securities with
underlying infrastructure assets would qualify for the
purpose of this requirement.

‘Infrastructure facility’ shall have the meaning as given in
Clause 1(6) as amended from time to time.

Note: Investments made under category (i) and (ii) above may
be considered as investment in housing or infrastructure, as the
case may be, provided the respective government issues such
a security specifically to meet the needs of any of the sectors
specified as ‘infrastructure facility’.

Total Investment in housing
and infrastructure (i.e.,)
investment in categories (i),
(ii), (iii) and (iv) above taken
together shall not be less
than 15% of the Investment
Assets

“Note-For the purpose of Clauses 3to 7

0

Applicability of Pattern of Investment

Pattern of Investment will not be applicable for Shareholders’ funds held in business beyond
required solvency margin, and not taken in calculation of solvency margin. Such excess shall

be:

(@)

(b)
(©)
(d)
()

(In

Made after fully complying with investment in Central Government Securities, State
Government and Other Approved Securities and in Housing & Infrastructure
Investments from funds representing solvency margin.

Such excess of Shareholder's funds, held beyond Solvency Margin requirement,
shall be held in a separate custody account with identified scrips.

Such excess funds shall be determined only after Actuarial Valuation, certified by
Appointed Actuary and such valuation is filed with the Authority.

Such transfer made between quarters, shall be certified by the Concurrent Auditor
to have complied with points (a), (b) and (c) above.

Exposure Norms of ‘investee company’, ‘group’, ‘promoter group’ and ‘industry
sector’ shall be applicable to both funds representing solvency margin (FRSM) and
funds held in excess of required solvency margin.

All investments in assets or instruments, which are capable of being rated as per

market practice, shall be made on the basis of credit rating of such assets or
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()

(V)

(V)

(V)

(VII)

instruments. No approved investment shall be made in instruments, if such
instruments are capable of being rated, but are not rated.

The rating should be done by a credit rating agency registered under SEBI (Credit
Rating Agencies) Regulations,1999.

Infrastructure Investments rated not less than A along with Expected Loss Rating of
EL1 would be considered as approved investment.

The rating of a debt instrument issued by All India Financial Institutions recognized as
such by RBI shall be of ‘AA’ or equivalent rating. In case investments of this grade
are not available to meet the requirements of the investing insurance company, and
Investment Committee of the investing insurance company is fully satisfied about the
same, then, for the reasons to be recorded in the Investment Committee’s minutes,
the Investment Committee may approve investments in instruments carrying current
rating of not less than ‘A+’ or equivalent as rated by a credit rating agency, registered
under SEBI (Credit Rating Agencies) Regulations,1999,would be considered as
‘Approved Investments’.

Approved Investments under Clauses 4,5,6 and 7 which are downgraded below the
minimum rating prescribed or not continuing to satisfy dividend criteria should be
automatically re-classified under ‘Other Investments’ and specifically identified under
relevant category.

(@) Not less than 75% of investment in debt instruments (including Central
Government Securities, State Government Securities or Other Approved Securities)in
the case of life insurer and not less than 65% of investment in debt instruments
(including Central Government Securities, State Government Securities or Other
Approved Securities)in the case of General Insurer including an insurer carrying on
business of re-insurance or health insurance — shall be in sovereign debt, AAA or
equivalent rating for long term and sovereign debt, A1+ or equivalent for short term
instruments. This shall apply at segregated fund(s)in case of Unit linked business.

Note: In calculating the 75% in the case of Life insurers and 65% in the case of General
Insurer including an insurer carrying on business of re-insurance or health insurance, of
investment in ‘Debt’ instruments, investment in a) Reverse Repo with corporate bond
underlying (b)Bank Fixed Deposit (c)Investment in Promoter Group Mutual Fund(s) and
un-rated Mutual funds, shall not be considered both in numerator and denominator.

(b)Not more than 5% of funds under clause 3(1) and clause 3(3) in debt instruments

(including Central Government Securities, State Government Securities or Other
Approved Securities) in the case of life insurer and not more than 8% of investment in
debt instruments (including Central Government Securities, State Government
Securities or Other Approved Securities)in the case of General Insurer including an
insurer carrying on business of re-insurance or health insurance—shall have a rating of
A or below or equivalent rating for long term.

(c) No investment can be made in other investments out of funds under clause 3(2).

(d)

Investments in debt instruments rated AA — (AA minus) or below for long term and
below Al or equivalent for short term debt instruments and Infrastructure Debt
Investments rated below A or EL1 shall form part of Other Investments.

(VII) Notwithstanding the above, it is emphasized that rating should not replace appropriate

risk analysis and management on the part of the Insurer. The Insurer should conduct risk
analysis commensurate with the complexity of the product(s) and the materiality of their
holding or could also refrain from such investments.
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8. Exposure/Prudential Norms:

Without prejudice to anything contained in Sections 10(2AA),27,27A,27B and27C of the Act every
insurer shall limit its investment of controlled funds/all assets as per the following exposure norms:

(1) Exposure norms for:
(i) Life Insurance business:

(a) all funds of Life insurance business and One Year Renewable pure Group Term
Assurance Business(OYRGTA) and non-unit reserves of all categories of Unit
linked life insurance business;

(b) all funds of Pension, Annuity and Group Business as per clause 5; and

(c) the unit reserves portion of all categories of Unit linked funds, as per clause 6,
Life, Pension, Annuity and Group business and each segregated fund within Unit
Linked Insurance business (except for promoter group exposure).

(i) General insurance business
(i) Re-insurance business
(iv) Health insurance business

For both Approved Investments as per clause 2(1) and 2(2) and Other Investments as
permitted under Section 27A (2) shall be as under.

(2) The maximum exposure limit for a single ‘investee’ company (equity, debt and other investments
taken together) from all investment assets under point (1(i)(a),1(i)(b), 1(i)(c) all taken together),
1(ii), 1(iii) and 1(iv) mentioned above, shall not exceed the lower of the following;

(@) An amount of 10% of investment assets as under clause 1(7)(i),

clause 1(7)(ii))

excluding fair value change of investment assets under clause 1(7) except clause 1(7)(i)(c).
(b) An aggregate of amount calculated under point (a) and (b) of the following table:

Type of Investment | Limit for ‘Investee’ Company Limit for Limit for Industry
the entire Sector to which
Group of Investee Company
the belongs
Investee
Company
1) 2) 3) 4
a. Investment  in | 10% * of the Paid-up Equity | Not more | Investment by the
‘Equity’,  Preference | Share capital than15% of | insurer in any industrial
Shares,  Convertible the amount | sector should not
Debentures or under point | exceed 15% of the
1(i)(a) or | amount under point
10% of the amount underl(i)(a) 1(i)(b) 1()(@) or 1(i)(b) or
or 1(i)(b) or 1(i)(c) [segregated orl(i)(c) or | 1(i)(c) or 1(ii) or 1(iii) or
fund] above considered | 1(ii) or (i) | 1(iv)
separately in the case of Life | or 1(iv)
insurers /amount under 1(ii) or Note: Industrial Sector
1(iii) or 1(iv) in the case of | Exposure to | shall be classified in
General Insurer including an | Investments the lines of National
insurer carrying on business of | made in | Industrial Classification
re-insurance or health insurance | companies (Al Economic

belonging to
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whichever is lower

Promoter
Group  shall
be made as
per Point (VII)
under notes
to clause 8

b. Investment in Debt
(incl. CPs) / Loans
and any other
permitted Investments
as per Act /Regulation
other than item ‘a’
above.

10% * of the Paid-up Share
capital, Free reserves
(excluding revaluation reserve)
and Debentures /Bonds (incl.
CPs ) of the’ Investee’ company

or

10% of the amount under 1(i)(a)
or 1(i)(b) or 1(i)(c) [segregated
fund] above considered
separately in the case of Life
insurers /amount under 1(ii) or
1(iii) or 1(iv) in the case of
General Insurer including an
insurer carrying on business of
re-insurance or health insurance

Whichever is lower.

Activities) - 2008 [NIC]
for all sectors, except
housing and
infrastructure sector.

Exposure shall be
calculated at Division
level from A to R. For
Financial and
Insurance Activities
sector exposure shall
be at Section level.

Exposure to
‘infrastructure
‘investments are subject
to Note: Il, lll and IV
mentioned below.

* In the case of insurers having investment assets within the meaning of clause 1(7) (i) and
clause 1(7)(ii) of the under mentioned size, the (*) marked limit in the above table for investment in
equity, preference shares, convertible debentures, debt, loans or any other permitted investment

under these regulations, shall stand substituted asunder:

Investment assets

Limit for ‘investee’ company

Equity

Debt

Rs. 2,50,000 Crores
or more

15% of Paid up Equity Share Capital

15% of paid up share capital, free
reserves (excluding revaluation
reserve)& debentures/ bonds

Rs.50,000 Crores but
less than
Rs.2,50,000 Crores

12% of Paid up Equity Share Capital

12% of paid up share capital, free
reserves (excluding revaluation
reserve)&debentures/ bonds

Less than Rs.50,000
Crores

10% of Paid up Equity Share Capital

10% of paid up share capital, free
reserves (excluding revaluation
reserve)&debentures/ bonds

Note:

() Industry sector norms shall not apply for investments made in:
() ‘Infrastructure facility’ sector as defined under clause 1(6). NIC classification shall not
apply to investments made in ‘Infrastructure facility’.

(ii) NIC classification shall not apply to investments made in ‘Housing Sector’.
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(In

(1)

(V)

(V)

(V1)

Investments in IDF-NBFCs (Infrastructure Debt Fund), shall be reckoned for investments in
Infrastructure subject to the following conditions:

(i) IDF-NBFC is registered with RBI

(i) Debt securities shall have residual tenure of not less than 5 years (at the time of
investment).

(i) Minimum Credit Rating of AA or its equivalent by a Credit Rating Agency registered
with SEBI to be eligible for approved investments.

(iv) The exposure limits for investments in IDF-NBFCs is as per the note (lIl) below.

Exposure to a public limited ‘Infrastructure investee company and Infrastructure Finance
Company (NBFC-IFC registered with RBI) will be:

(i) 20%ofPaid up Equity Share Capital in case of equity (or)

(i) 20%ofPaid up Equity Share Capital plus free reserves (excluding revaluation reserve)
plus debentures/bonds taken together, in the case of debt (or)

(ii) Amount under clause 8(2)(a) whichever is lower.

(iv) The20%mentioned above, can be further increased by an additional 5%, in case of
debt instruments alone, with the prior approval of Board of Insurer.

(v) The outstanding tenure of debt instruments, beyond the exposure prescribed in the
above table in this regulation, in an infrastructure Investee Company, should not be
less than 5 years at the time of investment.

(vi) In case of Equity investment, dividend track record as per these regulations, in the
case of primary issuance of a wholly owned subsidiary of a Corporate/ PSU shall
apply to the holding company.

(vii) All investments made in an ‘infrastructure investee company’ shall be subject to
group/promoter group exposure norms.

An insurer can, at the time of investing, subject to group / promoter group exposure norms,
invest a maximum of 20%of the project cost (as decided by a competent body) of an Public
Limited Special Purpose Vehicle (SPV) engaged in infrastructure sector (or) amount under
clause 8(2)(a), whichever is lower, as a part of Approved Investments provided:

(i) such investment is in Debt;

(i) the parent company guarantees the entire debt extended and the interest payment of
SPV;

(i) the principal or interest, if in default and if not paid within 90 days of the due date, such
debt shall be classified under other investments;

(iv) the latest instrument of the parent company (ies) has (have) rating of not less than AA,

(v) such guarantee of the parent company (ies) should not exceed 20% of net worth of
parent company (ies) including the existing guarantees, if any, given;

(vi) the net worth of the parent company (ies), if unlisted, shall not be less than Rs. 500
crores or where the parent company (ies) is listed on stock exchanges having
nationwide terminals, the net worth shall not be less than Rs. 250 Crores.

(vii) Investment Committee should at least on a half-yearly periodicity evaluate the risk of
such investments and take necessary corrective actions where the parent company
(ies)is floating more than one SPV;

Investment in securitized assets (Mortgaged Backed Securities (MBS) / Asset Backed
Securities (ABS) / Security Receipts (SR) / Pass Through Certificates (PTC)) both under
approved (with minimum credit rating of AAA) and other investment (with credit rating below
AAA) category shall not exceed 10% of Investment Assets in case of Life Insurance
companies and 5% of Investment Asset in the case of General Insurance companies.
Approved Investment in MBS / ABS with underlying Housing or Infrastructure Assets shall not
exceed 10% of investment assets in the case of Life insurance companies and not more than
5% of investment assets in the case of General insurance companies. Any MBS / ABS with
underlying housing or infrastructure assets, if downgraded below AAA or equivalent, shall be
reclassified as Other Investments;

Investment Property within the meaning of Accounting Standards, and covered under clause
2(1)(vi) shall not exceed, at the time of investment, 5% of (a) Investment Assets in the case
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(Vi)

(VIII)

(1X)

(X)

(X1)

(XII)

of general insurer and (b) 5% of Investment Assets of life funds in the case of life insurer.
Immovable property, held as ‘investment property’ shall not be for ‘self-use’. Immovable
property, for self-use, shall be purchased only out of shareholders’ funds, and shall comply
with circular/ guidelines issued’

Subject to exposure limits mentioned in the table above, an insurer shall not have
investments of more than 5% in aggregate of its investment assets in all companies
belonging to the promoters’ group. Investment made in all companies belonging to the
promoters’ group shall not be made by way of private placement (except QIPs of
BSE100/NSE100 companies and Central Public Sector Enterprises) or in unlisted
instruments (equity, debt, certificate of deposits and fixed deposits held in a Scheduled
Commercial Bank), except for companies formed by Insurers under Note XII to clause 8;

The exposure limit for financial and insurance activities (as per Section K of NIC
classification — 2008, as amended from time to time) shall stand at 30% of investment
assets for all insurers. Investment in Housing Financing Companies and Infrastructure
Financing Companies (except investment in Bonds / debentures of HUDCO, NHB and
bonds issued by Housing Finance Companies having a rating of not less than AA,
investment in equity shares of any actively traded Housing Finance Company on which not
less than ten percent dividends have been paid for at least 2 Financial years out of
immediately preceding 3 consecutive Financial years and investment in Debt, Equity in
dedicated infrastructure financing entities forming part of Infrastructure sector) shall form
part of exposure to financial and insurance activities (as per Section K of NIC classification—
2008);

Where an investment is in partly paid-up shares, the uncalled liability on such shares shall
be added to the amount invested for the purpose of computing exposure norms;

Notwithstanding anything contained in clause 8(2)where new shares are issued to the
existing shareholders by a company the existing shares of which are covered by clause
2(1)(v) and the insurer is already a shareholder, the insurer may subscribe to such new
shares, provided that the proportion of new shares subscribed by him does not exceed the
proportion which the paid-up amount on the shares held by him immediately before such
subscription bears to the total paid-up capital of the company at the time of such
subscription;

Investment in fixed deposit and certificate of deposit of a Scheduled Bank, in case of life
insurers, would be deemed as exposure to financial and insurance activities (as per Section
K of NIC classification - 2008). No investment in deposits including FDs and CDs in financial
institutions falling under Promoter Group shall be made. Investment in FDs shall not exceed
either 3% of controlled fund or not more than 5% of respective fund size [Pension & General
Annuity Fund and Unit linked fund(s) at SFIN level], whichever is lower, in the case of Life
Insurers and 15% of Investment Assets as per clause 1(7)(ii) in the case of General Insurer
including an insurer carrying on business of re-insurance or health insurance;

Note: Fixed Deposits as permitted under this Regulation kept as ASBA (Application
Supported by Blocked Amount) deposit, including FDs with Banks falling under the promoter
group of the Insurer, or otherwise, shall be excluded in computation of limits mentioned
above. FDs of Banks under Promoter Group, earmarked for complying with ASBA
requirement, will be part of exposure to Promoter Group;

An insurer shall not out of the controlled fund / assets invest or keep invested in the shares or
debentures of any one company more than the exposure prescribed in clause 8 above,
provided that nothing in this regulation shall apply to any investment made with the previous
approval of the Authority by an insurer, being a company with a view to forming a subsidiary
company carrying on insurance / re-insurance business.
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(XIII) The debt exposure, in Housing Finance Companies, rated not less than AA+, shall be up to

10.

11.

12.

20% of paid-up share capital, free reserves (excluding revaluation reserve) and debentures /
bonds (incl. CPs) or amount under clause 8(2)(i) whichever is lower. The 20% limit mentioned
herein can be further increased by an additional 5%with the prior approval of Board of Insurer.
All exposure norms applicable to group, promoter group shall be applicable to all investments
made in a Housing Finance Company.

PART Ill
Returns to be submitted by an Insurer:

Every insurer shall submit to the Authority returns (electronic mode) within such time, at such
intervals in the manner as specified in ANNEXURE INV-III of Schedule Il of these regulations.

Power to call for additional information:

The Competent Authority may, by general or special order, require from the insurers such other
information in such manner, intervals and time limit as may be specified therein in the interest of
policy holders and issue such directions to the insurers as it thinks fit.

Duty to Report extraordinary events affecting the investment portfolio:

Every insurer shall report to the Authority forthwith, the effect or the probable effect of any event
coming to its knowledge, which could have material adverse impact on the investment portfolio
and consequently on the security of policy-holder benefits or expectations.

Provisions on Investment Management
D) Constitution of Investment Committee:

Every insurer shall constitute an Investment Committee with a composition as mentioned
in the Corporate Governance regulations and Circulars issued thereon by the Authority
from time to time. The decisions taken by the Investment Committee shall be recorded
and be open to inspection by the officers of the Authority.

(2)  Investment Policy

(i)  Every Insurer shall draw up, an Investment Policy (IP) (fund wise IP in the case of
Unit Linked Insurance Business) and place the same before its Board of Directors for
its approval.

(i)  Every insurer shall have a model code of conduct to prevent insider / personal trading
of Officers involved in various levels of Investment Operations in compliance with
SEBI (Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulation, 1992 as amended from time to time
and place the same before its Board of Directors for its approval.

(i)  While framing the Investment Policy, the Board shall ensure compliance with the
following:

(&) Issues relating to liquidity, prudential norms, exposure limits, stop loss limits
including securities trading, management of all investment risks, management of
assets liabilities mismatch, Scope of Internal or Concurrent audit of Investments,
criteria for empanelment and review of investment brokers, investment statistics
and all other internal controls of investment operations, the provisions of the
Insurance Act, 1938 and these regulations.

(b) Ensuring adequate return on policyholders and shareholders’ funds consistent
with the protection, safety and liquidity of such fund(s).
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(iv) The investment policy of Life, General Insurer including an insurer carrying on
business of re-insurance or health insurance, as approved by the Board shall be
implemented by the investment committee. The Board shall review on a quarterly
basis the monitoring of fund wise and in respect of each product (both participating
and non-participating products in the case of life insurers) the following minimum:

(a) Life Insurers:

i. new business scale planned versus actual at the end of the period to
maturity
ii. expenses projected versus actual

iii. persistency / renewal premium streams projected versus actual
iv. claims - projected versus actual

v. actual yield versus projected yield or returns

vi. action plan and follow up status

(b) General Insurer including an insurer carrying on business of re-insurance or
health insurance (at line of business level):

i. gross level of premium income projected vs actual along with reasons for
negative growth if any

ii. steps to correct the business achieved as planned in case of under
achievement of gross written premium

iii. underwriting results planned vs achieved along with reasons for negative
deviations

iv. claims outgo projected versus actual - major reasons for increase /
decrease in loss ratio and corrective steps planned for future

v. expenses including acquisition cost planned vs actuals- in case of excess
over permitted limits, reasons for such excess along with plan to comply
limits

vi. overall incremental investments projected vs actual - reason for deviation
from the planned accretion and steps planned to correct the trend if the
same is negative

(v) The Board shall review the investment policy and its implementation on a half-yearly

basis or at such short intervals as it may decide and make such modification to the
investment policy as is necessary to bring it in line with the investment provisions laid
down in the Act and Regulations made there under, keeping in mind protection of
policyholders’ interest and pattern of investment laid down in these regulations or in
terms of the agreement entered into with the policy holders in the case of unit linked
insurance business.

(3) Investment Operations

(i)

(ii)

The funds of the insurer shall be invested and continued to be invested in equity shares,
equity related instruments and debt instruments rated as per Note below clause 3 to 7
by a credit rating agency, registered under SEBI (Credit Rating Agencies) Regulations,
1999. The Board shall lay down norms for investing in ‘Other Investments’ as specified
in section 27A(2)of the InsuranceAct,1938 bythe investment committee, taking into
account the safety and liquidity of the policyholders’ funds and protection of their
interest.

To ensure proper internal control of investment functions and operations the insurer
shall clearly segregate the functions and operations of front, mid and back office (as
provided in the Guidance note on Internal /Concurrent Audit of Investment functions of
Insurance Companies issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India) and no
function falling under Front, Mid and Back Office Investment function(s), shall be
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outsourced. Also, the primary data server of the computer application used for
investment management shall remain within the country.

(i) The Board of the Insurer shall appoint a Custodian to carry out the custodial service for
its Investments, who shall not be an entity under its promoter ‘Group’ unless permitted
otherwise by the Competent Authority.

(4) Risk Management Systems and its Review

(i) The Board shall implement the Investment Risk Management Systems and Process,
mandated by the Authority. The implementation shall be certified by a Chartered
Accountant firm, as per the procedure laid down in the “Guidance note on Review and
Certification of Investment Risk Management Systems and Process of Insurance
Companies”, issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, as amended
from time to time.

(i) The Investment Risk Management Systems and Process shall be reviewed once in two
financial years or such shorter frequency as decided by the Board of the Insurer (the
gap between two such audits should not be more than two years), by a Chartered
Accountant firm and file the certificate issued by such Chartered Accountant, with the
Authority along with the first quarter returns.

(iii) The appointment of Chartered Accountant firm to certify implementation and review of
Investment Risk Management Systems and Process shall be as per the circular issued
under these regulations.

(5) Audit and Reporting to Management

(i) Every insurer shall constitute an Audit Committee of the Board with a composition as
mentioned in the Corporate Governance regulations and Circulars issued thereon by
the Authority from time to time. The Chairperson of the Audit Committee shall not be
the Chairperson of Investment Committee.

(i) The Insurer shall have the investment transactions covering both Shareholders and
Policyholders funds be audited through Internal or Concurrent Auditor as per the
circular issued under this regulation.

(i) The quarterly internal / concurrent audit report, covering investments of both
shareholders as well as policyholders, shall be as per the “Guidance note on
Internal/Concurrent Audit of Investment functions of Insurance Companies” issued by
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, as amended from time to time.

(iv) The Details of Investment Policy, implementation status of Investment Risk
Management Systems and Process or its review shall be made available to the internal
or concurrent auditor. The auditor shall comment on implementation status, review and
its impact on the investment operations, systems and process in their report to be
placed before the Board’s Audit Committee.

(6) Category of Investments

Every Insurer shall invest its controlled fund as defined under Section 27A / all assets as
defined under Section 27(2) of the Insurance Act, 1938 as amended from time to time, only
within the exhaustive category of investments listed in the guidelines issued by the Competent
Authority.

13. Dealing in Financial Derivatives

Every Insurer carrying on the business of life insurance or general insurance or health insurance
business may deal in financial derivatives only to the extent permitted and in accordance with the
guidelines issued by the Competent Authority in this regard from time to time.

14.Miscellaneous

The Board of the Authority may, by any general or special order, modify or change the application
of clauses 3 to 9 to any insurer either on its own or on an application made to it.
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ANNEXURE INV-I|
LIFE INSURERS
(See Clause 310 6)
A. Processing of Unit Linked Business Application and Declaration of NAV

Every Unit linked segregated fund(s), shall be identified by its Segregated Fund Identification
Number(SFIN) and shall follow the guidelines issued by the Competent Authority.

1. All applications received for premium payment, switches, redemption, surrender, maturity claim
etc., should be time stamped and dated.

2. Applications for “premium payment”

a. for applications received, with local cheques, cash or demand draft payable at par at the
place where the premium is received, before cut-off time (3.00 pm) on a business day, the
applicable NAV would be the closing NAV of the same day.

b. for applications received, along with local cheques, cash or demand draft payable at par at
the place where the premium is received, after cut-off time (3.00 pm) on a business day, the
applicable NAV would be the closing NAV of the next business day.

c. For premiums received with an outstation cheque or demand draft, the closing NAV of the
day on which the dheque/ demand draft is realized shall be applied.

3. Applications for “other than” premium payment

a. for applications received before the cut-off time (3.00pm) on a business day, the applicable
NAV would be the closing NAV of the same day.

b. for applications received, after the cut-off time (3.00 pm) on a business day, the applicable
NAV would be the closing NAV of the next business day.

4. Daily disclosure/reconciliation of Product and Fund information

a. Every insurer doing Unit linked business shall reconcile, through the system, the premium
received (net of charges and benefits paid) under each product (Unique Identification
Number — UIN) with value of all the segregated fund(s)(Segregated Fund Identification
Number—SFIN)net of fund management charges, held under a single UIN, on a day to day
basis, as per Form DO1.

b. The insurer, through a portal, shall enable the policyholder to know, through a secured login
(i) the value of policy wise units held by him, as per Form D02and (ii) fund wise NAV (SFIN
wise) on both the Insurer’s website and life council website on the same day.

Disclosure format

No Format Description Frequency
01 |Form DO1 Daily reconciliation of ULIP | End of the Day (not to be filed with Authority)
portfolio
02| Form D02 Statement of Product Value | Enable through secured log into individual
policy holder
03 Portfolio Disclosure The minimum information, as per
guidelines/circular issued, on a monthly basis
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C. The internal / concurrent Auditor shall report on the automated system and process to
handle the UIN wise reconciliation (as in point ‘a’ above) and value of policy wise units held
by policyholder and fund wise NAV, on a quarterly basis.
5. Applicable NAV for the applications received on the last business day of the Quarter.

10.

11.

a. for applications received on the last business day of the quarter UP TO 3.00 pm shall be
processed with NAV of the last business day (irrespective of the payment instrument is local
or outstation)

b. for applications received AFTER 3.00pm on the last business day, the same shall fall into
the next quarter and NAV of the immediate next business day would be applicable.

C. The insurer shall declare NAV for the last business day of a quarter end, even if it is a non-
business day.

For allotment of units, the applicable NAV shall be as per the date of commencement of policy for
new policy contracts and date of receipt of premium for renewals.

a. For allotment of units to a new policy contract, the NAV shall be applicable as at the date of
commencement of the policy contract. The premium in such case shall have to be received
on or before the date of commencement of policy contract.

b. For renewals of existing policy contract, the NAV shall be applicable as at the date of
renewal where the date of receipt of premiums on or before due date and as at the date of
receipt of premium where the premium is received after the due date of renewal.

C. For revivals, the date of revival shall be the reference date for application of NAV through
allotment of units.

d. The date of receipt of premium for reasons such as top-up or any other provision for
payment of premium apart from regular payment schedule as per respective product
conditions shall be the reference date for application of NAV.

The Insurer’s Policy Admin System (PAS) shall be ‘automated’ for tracking “policy-wise’,
information of discontinued policies along with the information of the particular ULIP fund to
which the same pertains.

Asset allocation and exposure norms for a segregated fund shall not apply for either the first six
months from the date of its launch or the segregated fund reaches the size of Rs.5 Crores, for
the first time, whichever is earlier. On expiry of the sixth month, every such segregated fund,
shall comply with all exposure norms under Clause 8. Where in case of a segregated fund, has
gone below Rs.5 Crores, the insurer may provide a free switch, after informing the policyholder,
to another fund with similar fund objective / risk profile with either same or lower fund
management charges.

Fund Management Charges (FMC) charged on the segregated fund (SFIN), where investment is
made in Mutual Funds, Exchange Traded Funds, shall be the FMC as per the respective product
conditions of the segregated fund (SFIN) reduced by FMC charged by the respective Mutual
Fund/ETF. This provision shall not be applicable for either the first six months from the date of
launch of the segregated fund or the segregated fund reaches the size of Rs.5 Crores, for the
first time, whichever is earlier.

In the case of discontinued policy fund, investment in treasury bills will be treated as part of
Central Government Securities.

All Insurers shall file a certificate, issued by Internal /Concurrent Auditor for compliance of the
following:
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a. Compliance to all exposure norms at the level of each segregated fund, on a quarterly basis.

b. Confirmation on quarterly basis that Fund Management Charges (FMC) charged on the
segregated fund (SFIN), where investment is made in Mutual Funds, Exchange Traded
Funds, shall be the FMC as per the respective product conditions of the segregated fund
(SFIN) reduced by FMC charged by the respective Mutual Fund/ETF.

C. Each of the directions issued at point 5 above, regarding the applicable NAV for applications
received on the last business day.

d. The Statutory Auditors shall also confirm point ‘¢’ above, in the Annual Accounts.

Note:

1.

Business day shall mean days other than holidays where stock exchanges (excluding Muhurat
trading day) with national wide terminals are open for trade (other than day on which exchanges
are open for testing) or any day declared by the Competent Authority as business day.

The insurer shall invest only in such investments for which the day-to-day Valuations are
available and readily realisable. No investment can be made in any Fund of Funds or a fund for
which NAV is not available on a day-to-day basis.

B. Fund Management

1.

In the case of (a) Life fund, (b) Pension, Annuity & Group funds, the insurer shall maintain
separate sub-custody account with identifiable securities for participating and non-participating
funds.

Every insurer shall have a separate fund manager for debt and equity up to a fund size (for both
shareholder and policyholder funds taken together) of Rs.10000Crores. When the fund size, for
the first time, is Rs.10000 Crores, every fund [(a) Life fund (b) Pension, Annuity & Group fund (c)
Unit linked segregated fund(s)] shall have manager. No fund manager can be common between
(a) Life fund, Pension & Group fund and (b) Unit linked fund(s).
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ANNEXURE INV-II

(SeeClause-7)

General Insurer including an insurer carrying on business of re-insurance or health insurance

A.

Applicability of Pattern of Investment

Where an Insurer, hold the entire investment assets, as per clause 1(7) for and behalf of the
Policyholders, the pattern of investment shall apply to the entire investment assets (both shareholder and
policyholder’s funds taken together) and the investment assets can be maintained in a single custody
account.

“Policyholders’ Funds” means the sum of (1) Estimated liability for Outstanding Claims including Incurred
but not Reported (IBNR) & Incurred but not Enough Reported (IBNER) (2) Unexpired Risk Reserve
(URR) (3) Catastrophe Reserve (4) Premium Deficiency (5) Other liabilities net off Other Assets as at the
Balance Sheet date.

Note: Other Liabilities comprise of (i) Premium received in advance (ii) Unallocated premium (iii) Balance
due to other Insurance Companies (iv) Due to others members of Insurance Pools, if applicable (v)
Sundry creditors (due to Policyholders);

Note: Other Assets comprise of (i) Outstanding premium (ii) Due from other entities carrying on Insurance
business including Re-insurers (iv) Balance with Insurance Pools, if applicable.

“Shareholders’ Funds” means Share Capital plus all Reserves and Surplus (except Revaluation Reserve
and fair value change account) net of accumulated losses and miscellaneous expenditure to the extent
not written off as at the Balance Sheet date, represented by investments of funds held in business
beyond solvency margin.

Miscellaneous

The mandatory minimum investment in Housing and Infrastructure as specified under Clause-7, will not
apply for Health Insurers.
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ANNEXURE INV-III

All insurers are advised to furnish the returns to the Authority as specified below. However, the periodicity of
return is half-yearly for branches of foreign reinsurers. In case there is no information applicable for a
particular point the insurer should indicate 'Not Applicable’ or ‘Nil’, as the case may be, rather than deleting

the said point from the Returns filed with the Authority.

No Form Description Periodicity of Time limit for Verified / Certified
Return submission by
1 Form 1 Statement of Quarterly Within 45 days of Principal Officer /
Investment and the end of the Chief of Investment /
Income on Quarter Chief of (Finance)
Investment
2 Form 2 (Part A, | Statement of Quarterly Within 45 days of Principal Officer /
B, C) Downgraded the end of the Chief of Investment /
Investments, Quarter Chief of (Finance)
Details of Rated
Instruments
3 Form 3A (Part | Statement of Quarterly Within 45 days of Principal Officer /
A, B, C, D,E) Investments the end of the Chief of Investment /
Assets (Life Quarter Chief of (Finance)
Insurers)
4 Form 3B (Part |Statement of Quarterly Within 45 days of Principal Officer /
A, B) Investment the end of the Chief of Investment /
Assets (General Quarter Chief of (Finance)
Insurer including
an insurer
carrying on
business of re-
insurance or
health insurance)
5 Form 4 (Part Internal / Quarterly Within 45 days of Internal / Concurrent
B) Concurrent the end of the Auditor appointed
Auditor's Quarter under this regulation
Certificate on
Investment Risk
Management
Systems -
Implementation
Status
6 Form 4A (Part | Statement of Quarterly Within 45 days of Principal Officer /
A, B, C,D) Investment the end of the Chief of Investment /
Subject to Quarter Chief of (Finance)
Exposure Norms
— Investee
Company,
Group, Promoter
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No Form Description Periodicity of Time limit for Verified / Certified
Return submission by

Group, Industry
Sector

7 Form 5 Statement of Quarterly Within 45 days of Principal Officer /
Investment the end of the Chief of Investment /
Reconciliation Quarter Chief of (Finance)

8 Form 6 Certificate under | Quarterly Within 45 days of Chairman, Director 1,
Sec 27A (5) the end of the Director 2, Principal

Quarter Officer

9 Form 7 Statement of Quarterly Within 45 days of Principal Officer /
Non-Performing the end of the Chief of Investment /
Assets Quarter Chief of (Finance)

Note:

1. The Internal / Concurrent Audit Report of the previous quarter with comments of Audit Committee of

the Board, on ‘very serious’, ‘serious’ points (as per the Guidance note on Internal / Concurrent Audit
of Investment functions of Insurance Companies, issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of
India) in the report, and status of implementation of Audit committee recommendation shall be filed
with the Authority along with current quarter returns.

All returns for the quarter ending March shall be filed within the period stipulated above based on
provisional figures and later re-submitted with Audited figures within 15 days of adoption of accounts
by the Board of Directors.
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FORM - 1

(Read with clause 9 of Part Ill of Schedule IlI)

Name of the Insurer:

Registration Number:

Statement as on: Name of the Fund
Statement of Investment and Income on Investment

Periodicity of Submission: Quarterly

No.| Category |Category Current Quarter Year to Date (current year) Year to Date (previous
of Code year)®
Investment Invest|Income|Gross| Net |Invest| Income on |Gross| Net [Invest|Income|Gross| Net

ment on Yield |Yield| ment |Investment| Yield |Yield| ment on Yield |Yield
(Rs.)t | Invest- | (%)t | (%)? | (Rs.)t (Rs.) (%)t | (%)2 | (Rs.)! | Invest-| (%) | (%)?
ment ment
(Rs.) (Rs.)

Rs Crore

TOTAL === ===

CERTIFICATION

Certified that the information given herein are correct, complete and nothing has been concealed or
suppressed, to the best of my knowledge and belief.

Signature

Date: Full Name

Authorised Signatory

Note: Category of Investment (COI) shall be as per Guidelines, as amended from time to time

1. Based on daily simple Average of Investments

2. Yield netted for Tax

3. In the previous year column, the figures of the corresponding Year to date of the previous financial year
shall be shown

4. FORM-1 shall be prepared in respect of each fund. In case of ULIP FORM 1 shall be prepared at
Segregated Fund (SFIN) level and also at consolidated level.

5. YTD Income on investment shall be reconciled with figures in P&L and Revenue account
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FORM - 2

(Read with clause 9 of Part Ill of Schedule IlI)
Name of the Insurer:

Registration Number:

Statement as on:

Statement of Down Graded Investments Periodicity of Submission: Quarterly

PART - A

Name of Fund

Rs Crore
No| Nameofthe | COI| Amount| Dateof | Rating| Original| Current| Date of last | Remarks
Security Purchase | Agency| Grade | Grade | Downgrade
A. | During the
Quarter *

B. | As on Date 2

CERTIFICATION

Certified that the information given herein are correct, complete and nothing has been concealed or
suppressed, to the best of my knowledge and belief.

DateFull Name and Designation

Note:

Signature

Authorised Signatory

1 Provide details of Down Graded Investments during the Quarter.
2 Investments currently upgraded, listed as Down Graded during earlier Quarter shall be deleted from the

Cumulative listing.

3 FORM-2 shall be prepared in respect of each fund. In case of ULIP FORM 2 shall be prepared at
Segregated Fund (SFIN) level and also at consolidated level.
4  Category of Investment (COIl) shall be as per Guidelines issued.
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FORM - 2
(Read with clause 9 of Part Ill of Schedule IlI)
Name of the Insurer:
Registration No:
INVESTMENT ASSETS - RATING PROFILE
Name of the Fund:

PART - B

Rs.Crore

No

Type of
Investments

Investments in
Sovereign
instruments

AAA or
Equivalent

AA+ or AA

AA- or lower
upto A+ or
Equivalent

A or lower
than A or
Equivalent

Unrated

NPA

Equity and
other
Instruments

Total
BV

BV %to |BV BV BV BV

Inv.
Asset
s

% to
Inv.
Assets

% to
Inv.
Assets

BV [%to Inv.
Assets

BV |%to
Inv.
Assets

% to
Inv.
Assets

% to
Inv.
Assets

BV |%to Inv.
Assets

@) (b) (©) (d) (e) ® @) (h) (0]

Central Govt
Securities

State Govt Sec. or
Other Approved
Securities

ii (A) Housing Sector

(1) Debt
instruments

(2) Loans

(3) Others (Specify)

(8)
Infrastructure
Sector

(1) Debt instruments

(2) Equity
instruments

(3) Loans

(4) Others (Specify)

(C)Approved
Investments

(1) Debt
instruments

(2) Equity
instruments

(3) Loans

(4) Investment
Property —
Immovable

(5) Mutual
Fund

(6) Money
Market

(7) Net current
assets

(8) Others
(Specify)

Other
Investments

(1) Debt
instruments

(2) Equity
instruments

(3) Loans

(4) Investment
Property -
Immovable

(5) Mutual
Fund

(6) Others
(specify)

Investment
Assets
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Investment in
'Debt’
instruments

Book Value (Life, Pension Fund
and General Insurers)

Market Value (for
ULIP Funds)

%

Investments in
Sovereign
instruments

APPROVED
INVESTMENTS

AAA

AA+ upto AA or
Equivalent

MM, Loans,
Others
- Approved Invt.

OTHER
INVESTMENTS

AA A, lower than
A or Equivalent

Unrated, Loans,

Others - Other
Invt.

arwNRE

o

Total Debt
Investments
(Column [a]
to [g])

Certification
Certified that the information given herein are correct and complete to the best of my knowledge. Also
certified that the various investments made and covered in the return are within the categories provided in
Investment Guidelines as amended from time to time.

Signature:

Full name:
Authorised Signatory

Note:
The figures in Col (i) must match (for each type of investment) with Form 3A (Part A)/Form 3B.
Non-Performing investment assets shall be separately shown irrespective of the rating
For Linked business values of Investments shall be at Market Value.
Equity shall be as permitted under these regulations as amended from time to time.
FORM - 2 (Part B) shall be prepared in respect of each fund. In case of ULIP Form 2 shall be
prepared at Segregated Fund (SFIN) level and also at consolidated level.
Category of Investment (COI) shall be as per Guidelines, as amended from time to time.
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FORM - 2

(Read with clause 9 of Part Ill of Schedule IlI)

Name of the Insurer: PART - C
Registration No:

INVESTMENT ASSETS &HOUSING ANDINFRA INVESTMENTS - RATING PROFILE
Name of the Fund

SECTION - 1

INVESTMENT ASSETS Rs Crore % to Inv. Assets

Central Govt. Sec + Other Approved Securities

TOTAL (1)

Approved Investments

AAA or upto AA or Equivalent

Equity - Approved Invt

MM, Loans, Others - Approved Invt

TOTAL (2)

Other Investments

AA-, A, lower than A or Equivalent

Equity - Other Invt

Unrated, NPA, Loans, Others - Other Invt

TOTAL (3)

TOTAL FUND (1+2+3)

SECTION =2

HOUSING AND INFRASTRUCTURE
INVESTMENTS

Approved Investments

AAA or upto AA or Equivalent

Equities-Approved

MM, Loans, Others-Approved Invt

TOTAL (i)

Other Investments

AA- A, lower than A or Equivalent

Equities-Other Investments

Loans, NPAs, Others - Other Invt

TOTAL (i)

Total Infra Investment (i + ii)

Certification

Certified that the information given herein are correct and complete to the best of my knowledge. Also
certified that the various investments made and covered in the return are within the categories provided in
Investment Guidelines as amended from time to time.

Signature:
Full name:
Authorised Signatory

Note::
The figures must match (for each type of investment) with Form 3A (Part A)/Form 3B
FORM - 2 (Part C) shall be prepared in respect of life fund.
Category of Investment (COI) shall be as per Guidelines issued.
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FORM - 3A

(Read with clause 9 of Part Ill of Schedule IlI)

Name of the Insurer:

Registration Number:

Statement as on:

PART - A

Statement of Investment Assets (Life Insurers) (Business within India)

Periodicity of Submission: Quarterly

Section |
No PARTICULARS SCH Amount
1 |Investments (Sharehoders) 8
Investments (Policyholders) 8A
Investments (Linked 8B
Liabilities)
2 |Loans 9
3 |Fixed Assets 10
4 | Current Assets
a. Cash & Bank Balance 11
b. Advances & Other 12
Assets
5 | Current Liabilities
a. Current Liabilities 13
b. Provisions 14
c. Misc. Exp not Written Off 15
d. Debit Balance of P&L Alc
Application of Funds as 0
per Balance Sheet
Less: Other Assets SCH Amount
1 Loans (if any) 9
2  Fixed Assets (if any) 10
3 Cash & Bank Balance 11
(if any)
4  Advances & Other 12
Assets (if any)
5 Current Liabilities 13
6  Provisions 14
7  Misc. Exp not Written Off 15
8 Investments held
outside India
9 Debit Balance of P&L Alc

TOTAL (B)
Investment Assets (A-B)

Reconciliation of Investment
Assets

Total Investment Assets (as per
Balance Sheet)

Balance Sheet Value of:

A. Life Fund

B. Pension & General Annuity and
Group Business

C. Unit Linked Funds

Rs. Crore
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Section IIA
NON - LINKED BUSINESS
A. LIFE FUND % as SH PH Book |Actual| FVC | Total |Market
per [Balance| FR| UL- |PA|NON| Value % Amo | Fund | Value
Reg SM| Non [R | PA |(SH+P | (g) | unt | ()=(f | ()
+ | Unit R H) [(f) (h) +h)
Res 0
@ [®] © (@ © | 6= |%
[a+b+c
+d+e]
1|Central Govt. Sec Not
Less
than
25%
2|Central Govt Sec, State Govt| Not
Sec or Other Approved| Less
Securities (incl (1) above) than
50%
3|Investment
subject to
Exposure
Norms
a. Infrastructure/ Not
Social/ Housing Less
Sector than
i) Approved 15%
Investments
ii) Other
Investments
b. i) Approved Not
Investments excee
ii) Other ding
Investments 35%
TOTAL LIFE FUND 100%
Section Il B Housing and Infrastructure Reconciliation
A: LIFE FUND | % As per SH PH Book Value ACTUAL | FVC | Total Fund |Market
Reg. Balance [FRSM'| UL [PAR|NON-PAR (SH+PH) % Amount Value
Non
Unit
Res
@ () [() | (@) (e) (F)=(atb+c+d+e) |(9)=(F-a)] (h) (H=(+f+h) | ()
3 a.(ii) + 3 b.(ii) Not
above exceeding
15%
Total Housing| Not Less
& Infrastructure| than 15%
From1,2&3
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B. PENSION & GENERAL % as per Reg PH Book | Act | FVC | Total | Market
ANNUITY AND GROUP PAR| NON| Value | ual | Amo | Fund | Value
BUSINESS e % | unt

R
@ (b) ©=1] @] (| O=(c| (@
(ath) +e)

1| Central Govt. Not Less than

Sec 20%
2| Central Govt Sec, State Govt Not Less than

Sec or Other Approved 40%

Securities (incl (1) above)
3| Balance in Not Exceeding

Approved 60%

investment
TOTAL PENSION, GENERAL ANNUITY FUND 100%

LINKED BUSINESS
C. LINKED FUNDS % as per Reg PH Total Fund | Actual %
PAR NON
PAR
() (b) (c)=(atb) (d)
1| Approved Investments Not Less than
75%
2| Other Investments Not More than
25%
100

TOTAL LINKED INSURANCE FUND

CERTIFICATION:

Certified that the information given herein are correct, complete and nothing has been concealed or

suppressed, to the best of my knowledge and belief.

Signature:
Date: Full name:
Authorised Signatory
Note:
1 (+) FRSM refers to 'Funds representing Solvency Margin'.
2 Funds beyond Solvency Margin shall have a separate Custody Account.
3 Other Investments shall be as permitted as per Sec 27A (2) of Insurance Act, 1938 as amended from
time to time.
4 Pattern of Investment is applicable to both Shareholders funds representing solvency margin and
policyholders funds.
5 Exposure Norms shall apply to Funds held beyond Solvency Margin, held in a separate Custody
Account.

6 Category of Investment (COI) shall be as per Guidelines, as amended from time to time.
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FORM 3A

(Read with clause 9 of Part Ill of Schedule IlI)

Unit Linked Insurance Business PART - B

Name of the Insurer:

Registration Number: Link to Item 'C' of FORM 3A (Part A)
Periodicity of Submission: Quarterly

Statement as on:

Rs. Crore
PARTICULARS SFIN 1 SFIN 2 SFIN 'n’ Total of All
Funds
Opening Balance (Market Value)
Add: Inflow during the Quarter
Increase / (Decrease) Value of Inv [Net]
Less: Outflow during the Quarter
TOTAL INVESTIBLE FUNDS (MKT VALUE)
INVESTMENT OF UNIT FUND SFIN 1 SFIN 2 SFIN 'n' Total of All
Funds
Actual % Actual % Actual % Actual %
Inv. Actual Inv. Actual Inv. Actual Inv. Actual

Approved Investments
(>=75%)

Central Govt. Securities

State Govt.Securities

Other Approved Securities

Corporate Bonds

Infrastructure Bonds

Equity

Money Market Investments

Mutual funds

Deposit with Banks

Sub Total (A)

Current Assets:

Accrued Interest

Dividend Receivable

Bank Balance

Receivable for Sale of Investments

Other Current Assets (for Investments)

Less: Current Liabilities

Payable for Investments

Fund Mgmt Charges Payable
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Other Current Liabilities (for

Investments)
Sub Total (B)
Other Investments (<=25%)
Corporate Bonds
Infrastructure Bonds
Equity
Mutual funds
Others
Sub Total ©
Total (A+B+C)
Fund Carried Forward (as per LB 2)
Sighature:
Date : Full name:
Authorised Signatory
Note
1. The aggregate of all the above Segregated Unit-Funds should reconcile with item C of FORM 3A (Part
A), for both Par & Non Par Business.
2. Details of total expenditure reported in the Actuarial Return “Statement of Net Assets Values for the
Segregated Funds maintained by the insurer for its Unit Linked Business” shall be reconciled with
FORM 3A (Part B).
3. Other Investments' are as permitted under Sec 27A(2) of Insurance Act,1938 as amended from time
to time.
4, Category of Investment (COI) shall be as per Guidelines issued.
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FORM - 3A

(Read with clause 9 of Part Ill of Schedule IIl)

Name of the Insurer:

Registration Number: PART - C
Link to FORM 3A (Part B)

Statement for the period:

Periodicity of Submission: Quarterly

Statement of NAV of Segregated Funds

Rs.Crore
No| Fund |SFIN|Date of |Par/Non | Assets |[NAV| NAV |Previous 2nd 3rd 4th Return/| 3 Year | Highest
Name Launch| Par Under | as |as on | Qtr NAV |Previous | Previous | Previous| Yield |Rolling| NAV
Manage | per | the Qtr NAV | Qtr NAV | Qtr NAV CAGR | Since
ment on|LB 2|above inception
the date*
above
date
1 |Segregate
d Fund 1
2 |Segregate
d Fund 2
3 |[Segregate
d Fund n
Total

CERTIFICATION

Certified that the performance of all segregated funds have been placed and reviewed by the Board. All
information given herein are correct, complete and nothing has been concealed or suppressed, to the best of
my knowledge and belief.

DATE : Signature:

Full name:

Authorised Signatory

Note:
1. * NAV should reflect the published NAV on the reporting date.
2. NAV should be upto 4 decimal.

3. Category of Investment (COI) shall be as per Guidelines issued.
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FORM - 3A

(Read with clause 9 of Part Ill of Schedule Ill)

Name of the Insurer:

Registration Number:

Statement as on:

Statement of Accretion of Funds

(Business within India)

Periodicity of Submission : Quarterly

PART -D

Link to FORM 3A (Part A)

Rs.Crore
No Category of Investments POI| Opening| %to Net % to TOTAL| % to
Balance| Total| Accretion Total Total
(A) for the | Accretion (1+2)
Qtr.
1) (2) (1+2)
A | LIFE FUND
1 | Central Govt. Sec Not less than
25%
2 | Central Govt Sec, State Govt Sec or Not less than
Other Approved Securities (incl (1) 50%
above)
3 | Investment subject to Exposure
Norms
a. Housing & Infrastructure Not less than
15%
1. Approved Investments
2. Other Investments
b. (i) Approved Investments Not exceeding
35%
(ii) Other Investments (Not to exceed
15%)
Total (A)
No Category of Investments POI| Opening| % to Net % to TOTAL| %to
Balance | Total| Accretion Total Total
(B) for the Accretion (1+2)
Qtr.
1) 2 (1+2)
B PENSION & GENERAL
ANNUNITY AND GROUP
BUSINESS
1 Central Govt. Sec Not less than
20%
2 Central Govt Sec, State Govt Not less than
Sec or Other Approved 40%
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No Category of Investments POI| Opening| %to Net % to TOTAL| %to
Balance | Total| Accretion Total Total
(B) for the Accretion (1+2)
Qtr.
1) 2 (1+2)
Securities (incl (1) above)
3 Balance in Approved investment | Not exceeding
60%
Total (B)
No Category of Investments POI| Opening| % to Net % to TOTAL| % to
Balance | Total| Accretion Total Total
© for the Accretion (1+2)
Qtr.
1) (2 (1+2)
C | LINKED FUNDS
1 Approved Investments Not less than
75%
2 Other Investments Not more than
25%
Total (C) 100%

CERTIFICATION

Certified that the information given herein are correct, complete and nothing has been concealed or
suppressed, to the best of my knowledge and belief.

Date:

Note:

Sighature:

Full name:

Authorised Signatory

Category of Investment (COI) shall be as per Guidelines issued.




324 THE GAZETTE OF INDIA : EXTRAORDINARY [PART I1I—SEC.4]

FORM - 3A

(Read with clause 9 of Part Ill of Schedule Ill) PART - E

Name of the Insurer:

Registration Number:

Statement as on:

Statement of Investment Details of ULIP Products to Segregated Funds

(Business within India) Rs. Crore

Periodicity of Submission : Quarterly

INVESTMENT DETAILS OF "ULIP" PRODUCTS [UIN]TO SEGREGATED FUNDS [SFIN]

Inflow UIN1 UIN2 UIN n Total UIN '1'
to
"
Premium
Others (Specify)
TOTAL (A)
Outflow
Commission
Charges
Claims
Others
TOTAL (B)
Total C = (A-B)
Policy Funds at "C" above allotted to
SFIN 1
SFIN 2
SFIN n
TOTAL (D)
Difference (if any) E = (C-D)

CERTIFICATION

Certified that the information given herein are correct, complete and nothing has been concealed or
suppressed, to the best of my knowledge and belief.

Date:
Signature:
Full name:
Authorised Signatory
Note:
1. UIN represents the Unique product number as per "file and use' approved under ULIP products.
2. SFIN represents the Segregated Fund Identification Number as approved by the Product Approval

Committee.
3. Category of Investment (COI) shall be as per Guidelines issued.
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FORM - 3B

(Read with clause 9 of Part lll of Schedule I1ll) Name of the Insurer:

Registration Number:

Statement as on:

PART - A

Statement of Investment Assets (General Insurer including an insurer carrying on business of re-
insurance or health insurance) (Business within India)

Rs.Crore
Periodicity of Submission: Quarterly Section |
No PARTICULARS SCH ++ AMOUNT
1 Investments(Shareholders) 8
Investments(Policyholders) 8A
2 Loans 9
3 Fixed Assets 10
4 Current Assets
a. Cash & Bank Balance 11
b. Advances & Other Assets 12
5 Current Liabilities
a. Current Liabilities 13
b. Provisions 14
c. Misc. Exp not Written Off 15
d. Debit Balance of P&L Alc
Application of Funds as per Balance Sheet Total (A) 0
Less: Other Assets SCH ++ Amount
1 Loans (if any) 9
2 Fixed Assets (if any) 10
3 Cash & Bank Balance (if any) 11
4 Advances & Other Assets (if any) 12
5 Current Liabilities 13
6 Provisions 14
7 Misc. Exp not Written Off 15
8 Investments held outside India
9 Debit Balance of P&L Alc
Total TOTAL(B) 0
‘Investment Assets’ (A-B) 0

As per FORM 3B
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Section Il

No

'Investment’
represented as

Reg. SH

% Balance

FRSM"

PH Book
Value
(SH +

PH)

%
Actual

FvC
Amount

Market
Value

(h)

Total

@)

(b)

(at+b+c)

e =(d-
a)
%

(®)

(9)=(d+f)

Central Govt.
Securities

Not less than
20%

Central Govt
Sec, State Govt

Not less than
30%

Sec or Other
Approved
Securities (incl
(1) above)

3 Investment
subject to
Exposure
Norms

Not less than
15%

a. Housing /
Infra & Loans to
SG for

Housing and
FFE

1.Approved
Investments

2. Other
Investments

b. Approved
Investments

Not exceeding
55%

c. Other
Investments

Investment Assets 100%

Housing and Infrastructure Sector Investments Reconciliation

SH
Balance

PH ACTUAL

%

FvC
Amount

Market
Value

Book Value Total

(SH+PH)

Investment
represented

% As per
Reg.

FRSM*

As @) (b) | (c) | d=(a+b+c) | (e)=(d-

a)%

) | ©@=@+) | (h)

3a(2 +3c
above

Not
exceeding
15%

Total Housing| Not Less
& than 15%
Infrastructure
From1,2&3
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Certification:

Certified that the information given herein are correct, complete and nothing has been concealed or
suppressed, to the best of my knowledge and belief.

Date: Signature:
Full name:

Authorised Signatory

Note: 1. (+) FRSM refers 'Funds representing Solvency Margin'

2. Other Investments' are as permitted under 27A(2) of Insurance Act 1938 as amended from
time to time.

3. Pattern of Investment is applicable to both Shareholders funds representing solvency margin
and policyholders funds.

4. Exposure Norms shall apply to Funds held beyond Solvency Margin, held in a separate
Custody Account.

5. SCH (++) refers to Schedules to Balance Sheet, prepared as per these regulations.

6. Category of Investment (COI) shall be as per Guidelines issued.
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FORM - 3B

(Read with clause 9 of Part Ill of Schedule Ill)

Name of the Insurer: PART - B

Registration Number:

Statement as on:

Statement of Accretion of Assets Rs. Crore
(Business within India)

Periodicity of Submission : Quarterly

No | Category of Investments | COIl| Opening % to Net % to TOTAL | % to
Balance | Opening | Accretion Total Total
Balance | for the Qtr. | Accrual
(A) (B) (A+B)
1 Central Govt. Securities

2 Central Govt Sec, State
Govt Sec or Other
Approved Securities (incl
(i) above)

3 Investment subject to
Exposure Norms

a. Housing & Loans to SG
for Housing and FFE

1. Approved Investments

2. Other Investments

b. Infrastructure
Investments

1. Approved Investments

2. Other Investments

c. Approved Investments

d. Other Investments (not
exceeding 15%)

Total

Certification:

Certified that the information given herein are correct, complete and nothing has been concealed or
suppressed, to the best of my knowledge and belief.

Date: Signature:

Full name:
Authorised Signatory
Note:

a. Total (A+B), fund wise should tally with figures shown in Form 3B (Part A)
b. Category of Investment (COI) shall be as per Guidelines issued.
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FORM - 4
(Read with clause 9 of Part PART B
Il of Schedule Il1)
Name of the Insurer:
Registration Number:
Statement as on:
INTERNAL / CONCURRENT AUDITOR'S CERTIFICATE ON INVESTMENT RISK MANAGEMENT
SYSTEMS - IMPLEMENTATION STATUS
No| Annexure Audit Audit Severity of Action(s) MMM/YYYY | Proof provided Remarks &
Ref Objective| Observation Non taken for Committed (or) Comments of Audit
Compliance | Compliance by the demonstrated | Committee of the
Insurer’s by the Insurer, Board on non-
Board to to the Auditor compliance of
IRDAI for to comply with ‘time frame’
complying the communicated to
with the Requirement IRDAI on
requirement implementing
Systems &
Processes
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9
A | ISSUES OF PREVIOUS QUARTER(S)
B ISSUES TO BE COMPLIED IN CURRENT QUARTER
CERTIFICATE

We certify that all issues, to be reported to IRDAI on implementation of Investment Risk Management Systems
and Process, for the Quarter and pending issues of previous Quarter(s) [as committed to IRDAI], and as listed
in the Chartered Accountant’s Certificate have been covered in the above table.

Chartered Accountants
(Internal / Concurrent Auditor)
Place:
Date:

Note:

1. No. (under Col. 1 in above table) shall be as per the Annexure(s) to the Certificate issued by the
Chartered Accountant appointed to certify implementation of Investment Risk Management Systems
and Process.

2. If all the issues have been complied with and no issues to be reported, a NIL statement should be
filed.
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FORM - 4A

(Read with clause 9 of Part Ill of Schedule IIl)

Name of the Insurer:

Registration Number:

Statement as on:

PART A

Total Investment Assets for the quarter as per FORM 3A/3B:

EXPOSURE NORMS COMPLIANCE - INVESTEE COMPANY

[ ]

Rs. Crore
No| Investee | Whether Equity Debt + Others Equity + Debt + Deviation Amount
Company | (Equity/ Others
Debt) Eligibility | Actual Eligibility | Actual Eligibility | Actual | Equity| (Debt+| Equity +
Limit as Limit as Limit as Others) Debt +
per Clause| per Clause per Clause| Others
8 of 8 of 8 of
Regulation Regulation Regulation
6(3) 6(3) 6(3)

CERTIFICATION

Certified that the information given herein are correct, complete and nothing has been concealed or
suppressed, to the best of my knowledge and belief.

Signature:
Date: Full name:
Authorised Signatory
Note:
1. Above table shall be compiled separately for Life, Pension & General Annuity and Group Business
and Individually for each Segregated Fund (SFIN) AND at Assets under Management Level.
2. Only (-ve) deviations are to be reported.

Exposure would be on the basis of Book Value for Non-unit linked funds & on Market Value for Unit
linked Funds.
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FORM - 4A
(Read with clause 9 of Part Ill of Schedule IIl))
Name of the Insurer: PART B

Registration Number:

Total Investment Assets for the quarter as per FORM 3A/3B:

Statement as on:

Rs. Crore
EXPOSURE NORMS COMPLIANCE- PROMOTER GROUP
No | Name of Group| Eligibility Limit as Actual Investment Actual Deviation
Company per Clause 8 of Investments
Regulation 6(3) (Cumulative)
a b C d e f=c-e

CERTIFICATION

Certified that the information given herein are correct, complete and nothing has been concealed or

suppressed, to the best of my knowledge and belief.

Signature:

Date: Full name:

Authorised Signatory

Note:
1. Above table shall be compiled in aggregate of its total investments.
2. Exposure would be on the basis of Book Value for Non-unit linked funds & on Market Value for Unit

linked Funds.
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FORM - 4A

(Read with clause 9 of Part Ill of Schedule Ill)) PART C
Name of the Insurer:

Registration Number:

Statement as on: Rs. Crore

Total Investment Assets as per FORM 3A/3B:

EXPOSURE NORMS COMPLIANCE- GROUP

No Name of Group Company Eligibility Limit as Actual Investments Deviation
per Clause 8 of
Regulation 6(3)
a b c d e=c-d
Total

CERTIFICATION

Certified that the information given herein are correct, complete and nothing has been concealed or
suppressed, to the best of my knowledge and belief.

Signature:

Date: Full name:

Authorised Signatory

Note:

1. Above table shall be compiled separately for Life, Pension & General Anniuty and Group Business
and Individually for each Segregated Fund (SFIN) AND at Assets under Management Level its total
investment assets.

2. Exposure would be on the basis of Book Value for Non-unit linked funds & on Market Value for Unit

linked Funds.
3. The Total of Column 'd' should reconcile with Total Investment Assets as per FORM 3A.
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FORM - 4A

(Read with clause 9 of Part Ill of Schedule Ill)) PART D

Name of the Insurer:

Registration Number:

Statement as on: Rs.Crore
Total Investment Assets as per FORM 3A/3B: S

EXPOSURE TO INDUSTRY SECTOR

No | Name of Industry Sector (as Eligibility Limit Actual Investments Deviation
per regulations) as per Clause 8
of Regulation
6(3)
a b C d e=c-d
Total

CERTIFICATION

Certified that the information given herein are correct, complete and nothing has been concealed or
suppressed, to the best of my knowledge and belief.

Signature:

Date: Full name:

Chief of Finance

Note:

1. Above table shall be compiled separately for Life, Pension & General Annuity and Group Business and
Individually for each Segregated Fund (SFIN) AND at Assets under Management Level its total investment
assets.

2. Exposure would be on the basis of Book Value for Non-unit linked funds & on Market Value for Unit linked
Funds.

3. The Total of Column 'd' should reconcile with Investment Assets as per FORM 3A.
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FORM -5

(Read with clause 9 of Part Ill of Schedule Ill))
Name of the Insurer:

Registration Number:
Statement as on:

Statement of Investment Reconciliation

(Business within India)

Periodicity of Submission: Quarterly

Name of the Fund:

Rs.Crore

No

Category of
Investments

Col

Opening
Balance

Purchase for
the Period

Sale for the
Period

Adjustments

Closing Balance

Face | Book
Value| Value

Face | Book
Value| Value

Face | Book
Value| Value

Face
Value

Book
Value

Book
Value

Makret
Value

Face
Value

% to
Total
(1+2+3)

Central
Securities

Govt.

Total
1)

Central Govt.
Sec, State
Govt. Sec or
Other
Approved Sec.

Total
[1+2]

Investments
subject to
Exposure
Norms

(a) Housing &
Loans to State
Govt for

Housing / FFE

1. Approved
Investments

2. Other
Investments

Total
[3(@)]

(b) Infrastructure
Investments

1. Approved
Investments

2.0ther
Investments

Total
[3(b)]

(c) Approved
Investments

Total
[B3(e)]

(d) Other
Investments

Total
(3(d))

Total [3 (a+b+c+d)]
Total (1+2+3)




[T H—aTE 4] RIS KIS EENS SIS 335

CERTIFICATION

Certified that the information given herein are correct, complete and nothing has been concealed or
suppressed, to the best of my knowledge and belief. Also, certified that all Cash Market transactions executed
on the Stock Exchange are made only on Delivery basis.

Date: Signature

Full Name & Designation
Authorised Signatory

NOTE:

1. Individual Categories under each of the above Major heads should be listed with Category Code.

2. FORM-5 shall be prepared in respect of each fund. In case of ULIP Form 5 shall be prepared at
Segregated Fund (SFIN) level and also at consolidated level.

3. Each sub-total of FORM-5 shall be linked to its corresponding head in PART-A of FORM-3A / FORM-3B.

4. 'Other Investments' are as permitted under Sec 27A(2) of the Insurance Act,1938 as amended from time
to time.

5. The '% to Total' Column, in the case of Non-Linked funds shall be computed on Book Value and in the
Case of Linked Funds it shall to Market Value.
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FORM - 6
(Read with clause 9 of Part Il of Schedule I11))
Name of the Insurer:
Registration Number:
Statement as on:

Certificate under Section 27A (5) of Insurance Act, 1938

Periodicity of Submission: Quarterly

Name of the Fund:

Rs. Crore

No

Investment Particulars

Under the Custody of

Bank / Custody
(Rs)

Self (Rs)

Others (Rs)

Total
(Rs)

Share
Holders

Policy
Holders

Share
Holders

Policy
Holders

Share
Holders

Policy
Holders

SH +
PH

1 Central Govt. Securities

2 Central Govt Securities,
State Govt Securities or
Other Approved
Securities

3 | Investment subject to
Exposure Norms

a. Housing & Loans to
State Govt. for Housing &
FFE

1. Approved Investments

2. Other Investments

b. Infrastructure
Investments

1. Approved Investments

2. Other Investments

c. Approved Investments

d. Other Investments

TOTAL

CERTIFICATE

We certify that the above mentioned securities are held free of any encumbrance, charge, hypothecation, or

lien as on the above date.

Signature: Signature:
Full name: Full name:
Chairman: Director 1:
Signature:
Full name:

Principal Officer:

Note

Signature:

Full name:

Director 2:

1. Custodian should certify that he is not disqualified under SEBI (Custodian of securities) Regulations,
1996 as amended from time to time.
2. In the case of Life Insurance Business, FORM-6 shall be prepared in respect of each fund and in
aggregate for Segregated Funds.
3. The values under certificate should be adjusted for Purchase / Sale of investments purchased and
awaiting settlement. A reconciliation to this effect should be attached to the Certificate.
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FORM 7 Name of the Fund |:|

(Read with clause 9 of Part Ill of Schedule Ill))

DETAILS OF NON-PERFORMING ASSETS
Name of the Insurer:
Registration No:

(Rs. Crore)
NO PARTICULARS Bonds / Loans Other Debt All Other Assets TOTAL
Debentures instruments
YTD Prev. YTD Prev. Prev. Prev. FY Prev.

(Ason| FY(As| (Ason| FY(As| YTD (As| FY(As| YTD (As| (Ason | YTD (As| FY (As
date) on 31 date) on 31 | ondate) on31 | ondate) 31Mar | ondate) on 31
Mar Mar Mar —) Mar

) ) ) )

1 Investments Assets
(As per Form 5)

2 Gross NPA

3 % of Gross NPA on
Investment Assets
(2/1)

4 Provision made on
NPA

5 Provision as a % of
NPA (4/2)

6 Provision on
Standard
Assets

7 Net Investment
Assets (1-4)

8 Net NPA (2-4)

9 % of Net NPA to Net
Investment Assets
(817)

10 Write off made
during the period

Nookrwd

Certification

Certified that the information given herein are correct and complete to the best of my knowledge. Also certified
that the various investments made and covered in the return are within the exhaustive categories provided in
Investment Guidelines as amended from time to time.

Signature:
Full name:
Chief of Finance

Note:

The above statement, in the case of 'Life' Insurers shall be prepared 'fund-wise' Viz. Life Fund, Pension &
Group Fund, ULIP Fund and at Assets Under Management level also.

Total Investment Assets should reconcile with figures shown in Form 3A / 3B.

Gross NPA is investments classified as NPA, before any provisions.

Provision made on the 'Standard Assets' shall be as per Circular issued, as amended from time to time.

Net Investment assets is net of 'provisions'.

Net NPA is gross NPAs less provisions.

Write off as approved by the Board.
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Name of the Insurer: FORM - DO1
Registration No: Report Date [ ]
DAILY RECONCILIATION OF ULIP PORTFOLIO
Unique | Name of Segregated Name of the Life / Group Policy Admin System
Identity [the Product Fund Fund Opening | Opening |Net Amount| Netunits | Closing Closing
Number Identification Unit Units (as |collected or| allotted or |unit capital|units (as at
(UIN) Number (SFIN) Capital (as|of the start| redeemed | redeemed | (as at the | the end of
at the start|of the day)| (net of for the day | end of the | the day)
of the day)| (Number |charges) for| (Number of day) (Number of
(Amount in| of Units) the day Units) [(Amountin| Units)
Rs) (Amount in Rs)
Rs)
() (b) (c) (d) =@+ | {=(b)+
(c) (d)
X A XYz Fund Name 1
Y B
z C
Sub total
L D ABC Fund Name 'n’
M E
Sub total
Investment Management System
SFI|Name| Opening | Opening |Additional|/Additional|lnvestment] FMC Closing | Closing |NAV per
N |ofthe| fund |units (as fund Units |income for| charges fund |Units (as| Unit
Fund (Value (as| atthe Value |created or| the day |deducted|Value (as| atthe |declared
at the | start of |created or|[redeemed|(including| for the |at the end| end of
start of | the day) [redeemed| forthe |unrealised| day of the |the day)
the day) | (Number | for the day gain/loss) day) |(Number
of Units) day of units)
(@) (h) 0] ) (k) 0] (m)="|(n)=(h) [(0) = (m)
@)+@)+k)-|  +() /()
0]
Fund
1
Fund
2
Fund
"
NOTES:

1. Opening units as per Life / Group Policy Admin System of previous NAV day [refer (b)] shall reconcile
with Opening Units as per Investment Management System [refer (h)].

2.

Addittional fund or Units created or redeemed for the day in Investment Management System [refer (i)

and (j)] shall reconcile with Net Amount or Units collected or redeemed as per Life / Group Policy Admin
System [refer (c) and (d)].

with Closing Units as per Investment Management System [refer (n)]

website.

System with a maximum time lag of 1 working day i.e T+1.

Closing units as per Life / Group Policy Admin System of previous NAV day [refer (f)] shall reconcile
NAV per unit declared [refer (O)] must reconcile with NAV per unit uploaded on Life Insurance council's

The unit movements of day "T" in Life/Group Admin System shall flow into Investment Management
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FORM - D02
XYZ Life Insurance Company Limited
Statement of Product Value
Registration No: [ ]
Policyholder ID Login Dt | DD/MM/YYYY
Name of Policyholder
Address:
PART - A
Product UIN | Premium | Premium | Funds Units as per| Value per | Product
incl. Top- |Allocation |Allocated Policy Unit (Rs)
up (Rs) | Charge (Rs) Admin Value (Rs)
(Rs) System
(PAS) (A]
ZXY Premium Plus
PART -B Rs.

Particulars SFIN SFIN E SFIN
Name of the Fund Fund X Fund Y Total

Units (as per Investment Management System)

Percentage of Allocation (as on Login Dt)

Funds Allocated
Switch In
Switch Out
Withdrawals

Charges

Allocation Charges

Switch charge

Policy Administration charge

Mortality charges

Other charges (specify)

GST

Total amount invested in Segregated funds

Current NAV

Fund value as on Login Dt:

%

%

%

(B]
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PART - C (Product Statistics)

Insurance Cover over the interim reporting period from dd/mm/yyyy
to dd/mm/yyyy

Total Premium Paid from inception

Total Risk premium from inception, for insurance cover

Total Charges and deductions other than Mortality including
Allocation charges till Login Dt. (including Service Charges)

Difference between (A) (B) (unrealised Gain / Loss)

Portfolio value on Net Investment as per Benefit Illustration at the
lower rate as prescribed in the regulations

Portfolio value on Net Investment as per Benefit lllustration at the
upper rate prescribed in the regulations

NOTE:

1. Product Portfolio value would be aggregate of all fund values in a product.

2. Product value per unit would be arrived at post dividing aggregate fund value by initial units

3. Consolidated Product Value would be a derived by aggregating the product values and dividing the

same by consolidated initial units.
Product Value would be in addition to all the existing disclosures and calculations.
Current prescribed practices shall continue.

ok
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SCHEDULE IV: LOANS AND ADVANCES BY INSURANCE COMPANIES
1. Definitions:

(1) “Officer” means an officer defined in Section 2 (59) of the Companies Act, 2013 but does not include
non-whole-time director;
(2) “Full time Employees” means all employees of the insurer and includes Officers of the insurer.

2. Loans or Temporary Advances:

i. No insurer shall grant any loans or temporary advances to any officer who is not a whole-time
Director either on hypothecation of property or on personal security or otherwise except as provided
under Section 29 (1) of the Act.

ii. No insurer shall grant any loans or temporary advances to its full-time Employees either on
hypothecation of property or on personal security or otherwise, except as provided under Section 29
(1) of the Act;

Provided that an Insurer may grant the loans or temporary advances to its full time Employees only
for the following purposes:

() Loan for purchasing of car and / or two wheeler;

(ii) Loan for purchasing of personal computer and for other electronic devices;
(iii) Loan for purchasing of furniture;

(iv) Loan for constructing/acquiring a house for personal use;

(V) Loans for education of the children of the employees

(vi) Advance for Festival;

(vil) Any other purpose as may be specified in the policy in this regard approved by the Board of
the Insurer.

Provided further that the aggregate of all loans taken together by a full time employee shall not
exceed rupees one crore and shall be linked to the fixed remuneration of the employees.

3. Board Approved Policy:

Every Insurer who grants loans or temporary advances to its employees shall have in place a scheme
duly approved by its Board of Directors for the grant of the above said loans or temporary advances.

4. Terms and Conditions:

The loans or temporary advances stated in clause 2 of Schedule-IV of these regulations shall be
subject to the following conditions:

(i) The loans and advances shall form part of the compensation /remuneration package in accordance
with the compensation / remuneration policy approved by the Board of Directors or by the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee of the Board to which powers have been so delegated, as
the case may be.
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(ii) The terms and conditions of such loans or advances shall be such as may be approved by the Board
or by the Nomination and Remuneration Committee of the Board to which such powers have been
delegated.

Provided that the interest rate charged on loan or temporary advances to whole-time Directors and

other officers cannot be lower than the rate charged on loans or temporary advances to the insurer’s
own employees.

(i) All such loans and advances shall not be admissible for Available Solvency Margin.
SCHEDULE - V: INSPECTION AND SUPPLY OF RETURNS
1. Inspection and Supply of Returns:
(1) Any person seeking inspection of any return or a copy of any return under Section 20 (1) of the Act,
shall make an application to the Authority in such manner as may be specified by the Competent

Authority.

(2) The fee shall be charged at the following rates: Rupees One Hundred Only (Rs. 100/-) for each page
or part thereof in physical form and Rupees Seventy-Five (Rs. 75/-) per page in electronic form.

2. Supply of a copy of Memorandum and articles of association by the insurer:
(1) A policyholder of an insurer seeking a copy of memorandum and articles of association under Section
20 (3) of the Act, shall make an application in such manner as may be specified by the Competent

Authority.

(2) The insurer shall furnish a copy of the memorandum and articles of association within such time
period as may be specified by the Competent Authority.

(3) The fee shall be charged at the following rates: Rupees One Hundred Only (Rs. 100/-) for each page
or part thereof in physical form and Rupees Seventy-Five (Rs. 75/-) per page in electronic form
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Annexure Actl- 1
Form H
(See clause 2(2) of Part 11l (B) of Schedule- 1)
Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Actuarial, Finance and Investment
Functions of Insurers) Regulations, 2024
Summary of Valuation as at 31st MARCH

Name of the Insurer: Form Code: Date of Registration:

Registration Number:

Item Type Category of Business Mathematical Reserves (inclusive of
No. cost of bonuses allocated)
1) (2) (3)
Business within India:
01 Non-Linked Business
02 Linked Business
03 Par VIP-Non Linked Business
04 VIP-Linked Business
05 TOTAL (total of the items (1) to (4))
06 Non-Linked Business
07 Linked Business
08 Non-Par VIP-Non Linked Business
09 VIP-Linked Business
10 TOTAL (total of the items (6) to (9)
11 Grand TOTAL (total of the items (5) and (10))
Total Business:
12 Non-Linked Business
13 Linked Business
14 Par VIP-Non Linked Business
15 VIP-Linked Business
16 TOTAL (total of the items (12) to (15))
17 Non-Linked Business
18 Linked Business
19 Non-Par VIP-Non Linked Business
20 VIP-Linked Business
21 TOTAL (total of the items (17) to (20))
22 Grand TOTAL (total of the items (16) and (21))
Note:

1 Allfigures should be in thousands
2 Mathematical reserves in Col (3) shall be furnished inclusive of cost of bonuses allocated
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Annexure Actl- 1 (Continued)
Form NLB
(See clause 2(2) of Part Il (B) of Schedule- I)
Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Actuarial, Finance and Investment Functions of Insurers) Regulations, 2024

Summary and Valuation of polices as at 31* March ...............

Name of the Insurer: Date of Registration: Form Code
Classification: Registration Number: Classification Code:

Type: Type Code:

ltem| Sub Policy Particulars Valuation Details

No. | Class

Descri
ption

Number of policies
Number of Lives
Sum assured on Death / Rider
Sum Assured on Maturity
Vested Bonus
Annuity pa
Others, if any
Annualized Premium
All Benefits
Death, maturity, guaranteed add-ons. Etc.)
Annuity
Vested Bonus
Future Bonus
Cost of Bonus Allocated
Terminal Bonus
Expenses and Commission
Futare PrermmuIms
Mathematical Reserve (before Adjustment)
Negative Reserve adjustment
Surrender Value Deficiency Reserve
Adjusted Mathematical Reserve

(OENY) @@ G | € (] ®6 |9 10 (12)|(13)|(14)| (15) |(16) | (17) [(18)[(19) |(20)| (21) | (22)

—~
=
[N

~

INDIVI

DUAL

BUSIN
ESS

01| Life |Before
Reinsu
Busines|rance

02 After
Reinsu
rance

03|Pensio|Before
n |[Reinsu
rance
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04

After
Reinsu
rance

05

Gener
al
Annuit

Before
Reinsu
rance

06

y

After
Reinsu
rance

07|

Health

Before
Reinsu
rance

08

After
Reinsu
rance

GROU
P
BUSIN
ESS

Life
Busine
Ss

Premi
ums
Guara
nteed
for
one
year:

09

Before
Reinsu
rance

10

After
Reinsu
rance

Premi
ums
Guara
nteed
for
not
more
than
one
year:

11

Before
Reinsu
rance

12

After

Reinsu
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rance

13|Pensio|Before
n |[Reinsu
rance

14 After
Reinsu
rance

15| Gener |Before

al |Reinsu
Annuitrance
y
16 After
Reinsu
rance

17|Health [Before
Reinsu
rance

18 After
Reinsu
rance

TOTA
L
BUSIN
ESS

19| Totals [Before

Reinsu
rance
20 After

Reinsu
rance

Notes:

1 All figures should be in thousands

2 Col (19) = Col (11) + Col (12) +Col (13) +Col (14) + Col (15) + Col (16) +Col (17) - Col (18)

3 Col (22) = Col (19) + Col (20) + Col (21)
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Annexure Actl- 1 (Continued)
Form LB
(See clause 2(2) of Part lll (B) of Schedule- 1)
Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Actuarial, Finance and Investment Functions of Insurers) Regulations, 2024

Summary and Valuation of polices as at 31st March..................

Name of the Insurer: Date of Registration: Form Code:
Classification: Registration Number: Classification Code:
Type: Type Code:
Category: Category Code:
Iltem | Sub-Class|Descript Policy Particulars Valuation Details
No. ion
= 2 a =
5 : sl g |¢g
c L o} = @
8 0 3 = a g i3]
= ] f =] %) S 2 [%) [ (%] <] = = 4
L > o} o |2 | 2| ¢ = [} =) S o Q
] 5 5 c © g S c = c q>) < [a X% S
8 - 2 [} c ) = =) CDE o = ™ P ]
- © = m o) = s] = O m s S 352 ]
S] Ny = > | o | Q@ e S) 3 — o S S0 Q
. [} = Bl o | 5| 0 o 38 o o} 3 N o
© a o E ) S | 9 S = — c K >0 -
g |E| 5 |E|s|2|E| 3 |S*| 8| ¢ | & | 5% | E
E 3 jﬁ = |0 | % 3 > = o % o S Pt
s 2 S 3 £
g g 2| 8§ |3
z = z
(Y @ ©)) @ |G ©® | O 6 O @ a1 12| 13| 14| @@€5 | (@16 @an
INDIVID
UAL
BUSIN
ESS
Life With
Business | Guaran
tees:
01 Before
Reinsur
ance
02 After
Reinsur
ance
Without
Guarant
ees:
03 Before
Reinsur
ance
04 After
Reinsur

ance
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Pension |With
Guarant
ees:

05 Before
Re
insuranc
e

06 After
Reinsur
ance

Without
Guarant
ees:

07 Before
Reinsur
ance

08 After
Reinsur
ance

General With
Annuity | Guaran
tees:

09 Before
Reinsur
ance

10 After
Reinsur
ance

Without
Guaran
tees:

11 Before
Reinsur
ance

12 After
Reinsur
ance

Health With
Guaran
tees:

13 Before
Reinsur
ance

14 After
Reinsur
ance

Without
Guaran
tees:

15 Before
Reinsur
ance

16 After
Reinsur
ance

GROUP
BUSIN
ESS
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Life \With
Business | Guaran
tees:

17 Before
Reinsur
ance

18 After
Reinsur
ance

Without
Guaran
tees:

19 Before
Reinsur
ance

20 After
Reinsur
ance

Pension |With
Guaran
tees:

21 Before
Reinsur
ance

22 After
Reinsur
ance

Without
Guaran
tees:

23 Before
Reinsur
ance

24 After
Reinsur
ance

General |With
Annuity Guaran
tees:

25 Before
Reinsur
ance

26 After
Reinsur
ance

Without
Guaran
tees:

27 Before
Reinsur
ance

28 After
Reinsur
ance

Health With
Guaran
tees:

29 Before
Reinsur
ance
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30 After
Reinsur
ance

Without
Guaran
tees:

31 Before
Reinsur
ance

32 After
Reinsur
ance
TOTAL
BUSIN
ESS
TOTALS  |With
Guaran
tees:

33 Before
Reinsur
ance
34 After
Reinsur
ance
Without
Guaran
tees:

35 Before
Reinsur
ance

36 After
Reinsur
ance

Notes:

1  Allfigures should be in thousands

2 Col (14) = Col (11) + Col (12) + Col (13)
3 Col (17) = Col (14) + Col (15) + Col (16)
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Annexure Actl- 1 (Continued)

Form VIPNLB
(See clause 2(2) of Part Ill (B) of Schedule- 1)

Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Actuarial, Finance and Investment Functions of Insurers) Regulations,
2024
Summary and Valuation of polices as at 31st MARCH

Name of the Insurer: Date of Registration: Form Code:
Classification: Registration Number: Classification Code:
Type: Type Code:
Category: Category Code:
Policy Particulars Valuation Details
. EYS =1 .
o SLU g [0} O
z € iy Bl |8 |eo 5] B, |8
@ = |2 IS 2 co| @ ‘S S
D (%] £ | s .9 Q 2] E|IE|ITS S| 2 -.g Y g
o SR =8| g|2lo |E5 219/ 2| 2 |g|l3|8¢g|T| @8 | &
o |G| o |c|E|d&|c|oe|BS S |c|Z| o |o|E|TE|l | g | x
Item| Sub - a || 0|58 «|NS|2c|2| 8|S o |O|c|eB| © 03 c
Description - 6| ¢ 02T |IgE|IC5|3S| 2 (0| Q| 2 S>3 2 S 9 =
NO| Class 050333;‘235@0)58@:?80‘3?3 Eo:g
) 5|2 <c|o|le2| 58 2151 Q2| = |89 >
2 (€| 2|38 |5|2c|S5|%|8|2|2| E|g|2l€ |&€| 5 |3
(%) e 5 =
S 123|<|>| |° 5| [>T S| & |g|2|s | g B g
z 2| e T 3 @ 5 g 2| o =
e =2 GC) 8 s>:<. = g ::5 <
5|9 o w Q "
7] = Pz
<
(1) 2 3) @ G 6) (M) ®) Q) (10) (11)[12)[ (13)[14)| (15)| (16)[17)(18)| (19) (20) (21) (22
INDIVIDUAL
BUSINESS
01|Life Before Reinsurance
02|"YS'"€SS"After Reinsurance
03|Pension | Before Reinsurance
04 After Reinsurance
05|General | Before Reinsurance
06AnnUIty After Reinsurance
07|Health Before Reinsurance
08| After Reinsurance
GROUP BUSINESS
Life Premiums
Business| Guaranteed for one year:
09 Before Reinsurance
10 After Reinsurance
Premiums Guaranteed
for not more than one year:
11 Before Reinsurance
12 After Reinsurance
13| Pension | Before Reinsurance
14 After Reinsurance
15|General | Before Reinsurance
16Annuny After Reinsurance
17|Health Before Reinsurance
18 After Reinsurance
TOTAL BUSINESS
19(Totals Before Reinsurance
20| After Reinsurance

Notes:

1  Allfigures should be in thousands
2 Col (19) = Col (11) + Col (12) +Co | (13) +Col (14) + Col (15)+ Col(16) + Col (17) - Col (18)
3 Col (22) = Col (19) +Col (20) + Col (21)
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Annexure Actl- 1 (Continued)
Form VIPLB
(See clause 2(2) of Part Il (B) of Schedule- 1)

Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Actuarial, Finance and Investment Functions of Insurers)
Regulations, 2024

Particulars of the policies and valuation details as at 31st March..................

Name of the Insurer: Date of Registration: Form Code:
Classification: Registration Number: Classification Code:
Type: Type Code:
Category: Category Code:
Item| Sub- Description Policy Particulars Valuation Details
No. Class
0 (%) = = = 0 = () = o %2} (O] O E|O >0 (%]
) ) QO = = = [y [ [}
s|2l28l ¢ |5 | 2| 3|23 E%%’%Ec—?%g >
= | Jd|Z o © c S > o > Q| Sc|le S>>0 )
S |ls|=<2| o o g Z o5 | P | Taolod|C 89 0
= |2 1% > | 2 | a |5 |Is|5|cs2|x28FF &
© |o|c = o S 3 S22 | = | o o 28 -
B Q [ =] = (7] o = = 8 B = < I3} [o]
€ |m = = 7] 3] o8 = © £ °
£ S o = < o o O Q
e =z 5 = © > c a g (?) =
2 s 3 2 | & &8¢ x [z
a e = S |zQ s
2 a
(%]
<
@) (&) 3 @G 6 | O 6 | © Q)| 32 (13)) 14 | (15 | (16 | (17)
INDIVIDUAL
BUSINESS
Life With
Business | Guarantees:
01 Before
Reinsurance
02 After
Reinsurance
Without
Guarantees:
03 Before
Reinsurance
04 After

Reinsurance

Pension [With
Guarantees:

05 Before
Reinsurance

06 After
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07

08

Reinsurance

Without

Guarantees:

Before
Reinsurance

After
Reinsurance

General
Annuity

09

10

11

12

With

Guarantees:

Before
Reinsurance

After
Reinsurance

Without

Guarantees:

Before
Reinsurance

After
Reinsurance

Health

13

14

15

16

With

Guarantees:

Before
Reinsurance

After
Reinsurance

Without

Guarantees:

Before
Reinsurance

After
Reinsurance

GROUP
BUSINESS

Life
Business

17

18

19

20

With

Guarantees:

Before
Reinsurance

After
Reinsurance

Without

Guarantees:

Before
Reinsurance

After
Reinsurance

Pension

21

22

With

Guarantees:

Before
Reinsurance

After
Reinsurance

Without

Guarantees:
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23

24

Before
Reinsurance

After
Reinsurance

General
Annuity

25

26

27

28

With

Guarantees:

Before
Reinsurance

After
Reinsurance

Without

Guarantees:

Before
Reinsurance

After
Reinsurance

Health

29

30

31

32

With

Guarantees:

Before
Reinsurance

After
Reinsurance

Without

Guarantees:

Before
Reinsurance

After
Reinsurance

TOTAL
BUSINESS

TOTALS

With

Guarantees:

33

Before
Reinsurance

34

After
Reinsurance

Without

Guarantees:

35

Before
Reinsurance

36

After
Reinsurance

Notes:

1 All figures should be in thousands
2 Col (14) = Col (11) + Col (12) + Col (13)
3 Col (17) = Col (14) + Col (15) + Col (16)
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Annexure Actl- 2

Form IA (Non-Participating)
(See clause 2(2) of Part Il (B) of Schedule- 1)
Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Actuarial, Finance and Investment
Functions of Insurers) Regulations, 2024
Valuation Results as at 31st March................

Name of the Insurer: Date of Registration: Form Code
Classification: Registration Number: Classification Code:
Type: Type Code:
Item No. Description Balance of Mathematical reserves Surplus
Fund shown in (excluding cost of
Balance Sheet bonuses
allocated)
1) (2) 3) (4) )
01 Business within India:

Non-Linked

a Non-par Polices - Life

b Non-par Polices - Pensions

c Non-par Polices - Annuity

d Non-par Polices — Health

Linked

e Non-par Polices — Life

f Non-par Polices - Pensions

g Non-par Polices - Annuity

h Non-par Polices — Health

VIP

i Non-par Polices - Life

j Non-par Polices - Pensions
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02 Totals - Policyholder Funds
- within India
03 Total Business
Non-Linked

a Non-par Polices - Life

b Non-par Polices - Pensions

c Non-par Polices - Annuity

d Non-par Polices - Health

Linked

e Non-par Polices - Life

f Non-par Polices - Pensions

g Non-par Polices - Annuity

h Non-par Polices - Health

VIP

i Non-par Polices - Life

j Non-par Polices - Pensions

04 Totals - Policyholder Funds

Notes:

1 All figures should be in thousands

2 Col (5) =Col (3) - Col (4)
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Annexure Actl- 3
Form IA (Participating)
(See clause 2(2) of Part 11l (B) of Schedule- 1)
Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Actuarial, Finance and Investment Functions of
Insurers) Regulations, 2024

Valuation Results as at 31st March.............

Name of the Insurer:

Classification:

Type:

Date of Registration:
Registration Number:

Type Code:

Form Code
Classification Code:

Item No.

Description

Balance of Fund shown
in Balance Sheet

Mathematical reserves
Mathematical reserves

Surplus

(excluding cost of bonuses
allocated)

1) (2) 3 4 ®)

1 Business within
India:

Non-Linked

Life

Pensions

Annuity

o0 |T|D

Health

Non-Linked VIP

Life

Pensions

Annuity

o0 |T|D

Health

Linked

Life

Pensions

Annuity

o0 |T|D

Health

Linked VIP

Life

Pensions

Annuity

o0 |T|D

Health

2 Totals -
Policyholder Funds
- within India

3 Total Business

Non-Linked

Life

T |

Pensions

Annuity

o0

Health

Non-Linked VIP

a Life

b Pensions
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Annuity

o0

Health

Linked

Life

Pensions

Annuity

o0 |T|D

Health

Linked VIP

Life

Pensions

Annuity

o0 |T|D

Health

4 Totals -
Policyholder Funds

Notes:
1 All figures should be in thousands
2 Col (5) = Col (3) - Col (4)

Annexure Actl- 4
Form |
(See clause 2(2) of Part Ill (B) of Schedule- 1)

Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Actuarial, Finance and Investment Functions of
Insurers) Regulations, 2024

Valuation Results as at 31° March................
Name of the Insurer: Date of Registration: Form Code

Classification: Registration Number: Classification Code:

Balance of Fund | Mathematical reserves

Item No. Description shown in Balance |(excluding cost of| Surplus
Sheet bonuses allocated)
1) (2) 3) (4) ©)
01 Business within India:

a Participating Policies

Non-participating Polices

02 Totals - _Po_licyh(_)lder
Funds - within India
03 Total Business
a Participating Policies
Non-participating Polices
04 Totals - Policyholder

Funds
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Note:
1 All figures should be in thousands
2 Col (5) =Col (3) - Col (4)

3 The figures shown in column (3) includes surplus in the policyholder fund; it is the Balance Sheet position
of assets prior to any transfer being made out to the shareholder fund.

4 The figures shown in (3) and the Surplus shown in (5) also includes shareholder transfer to the
policyholder fund in order to meet the deficits in some segments.

5 The figures shown in column (3) for Par business does not include the amount of interim and terminal
bonus paid to the policyholder during the inter valuation period amounting Rs. X.

Annexure Actl- 5
FORM IRDAI-ASSETS-AA
(See clause 2(2) of Part Il (B) of Schedule- 1)

Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Actuarial, Finance and Investment Functions of
Insurers) Regulations, 2024

Statement of Assets as at 31st MARCH................

Name of the Insurer: Date of Registration: Form Code:
Classification: Registration Number: Classification Code:
Form AA
Particulars (Amount in 000’s) Policyholders | Shareholders Total
A/C A/C

Investments
Investments Shareholder' SCH8 ............ (A)
Policyholders' SCH-8A ............ (B)
Assets held to cover linked liabilities SCH-8B ......... (C)

Total Investments as per BS# (D)=(A)+(B)+(C)

Inadmissible Investment assets™* ......... (E)

Fixed assets

Fixed assets as perBS .......... (F)

Inadmissible Fixed assets™* ............... (G)

Current Assets

Cash & Bank Balances as per BS............... (H)
Advances and Other assets as perBS ............... (N
Total Current Assets as perBS ............... @=H)+

Inadmissible Current assets™* ............... (K)
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Current Liabilities & Provisions

Current Liabilities as per BS............... (L)

Provisions as perBS ............... (M)

Total Current Liabilities & Provisions ............... (N) = (L) +
(M)

Policy Loans

Policy and Other Admissible Loans as per BS.......... (0)

Fair Value Change Account subject to minimum of zero
....... (P)

Total Assets as per BS (Q) =(D)+(F)+ @) -(N)
+(0)

Total Inadmissible assets (R)=(E) + (G) + (K) + (P)

Total Admissible assets for Solvency -—— (Q) - (R)

Note: Policyholders’ asset (SCH 8A) should include assets backing General Fund liabilities of linked business.
However, SCH 8B will include only assets backing unit liabilities and policy account

*** |nadmissible assets as per clause 1 of Part Ill A of Schedule | of these regulations.

# 'BS' indicates 'Balance Sheet'
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Annexure Actl- 6

Form KT-1

(See clause 2(2) of Part lll (B) of Schedule- 1)

Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Actuarial, Finance and Investment Functions of Insurers) Regulations, 2024

Required Solvency Margin based on Mathematical Reserves and Sum at Risk as at 31st March

Name of the Insurer:

Form Code:

Classification:

Classification Code:

Date of Registration:

Registration Number:

Iltem |Description Mathematical
No. Reservesbefore
Reinsurance

Mathematical
Reserves after
Reinsurance

K1

Sum at Risk
before
Reinsurance

Sum at Risk
after
Reinsurance

K2

First
Factor

Second
Factor

Required
Solvency
Margin

) @ (©)

(©)

®)

(6)

@)

®)

(©)

(10)

(11)

01 Non-
Participating

Non-Linked

Division / sub-
class / group by

Linked

Division / sub-
class / group by

VIP Non-Linked

Division / sub-
class / group by

VIP Linked

Division / sub-
class / group by

Total - Non-
Participating

02 Participating

Non-Linked

Division / sub-
class / group by
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Linked

Division / sub-
class / group by

VIP Non-Linked

Division / sub-
class / group by

VIP Linked

Division / sub-
class / group by

Total
Participating

Total

(1) K1 = 0.85 or (Mathematical Reserves after Reinsurance / Mathematical Reserves before reinsurance),

whichever is higher.

(2) K2 =0.5or (Sum at Risk after reinsurance /Sum at risk before reinsurance), whichever is higher

(3) Col. (11) =[ Col. (3) x Cal. (5) x Col. (9)] + [Col. (6) x Col. (8) x Col. (10)]

(4) In the computation of the total sum at risk, ignore the contracts for which the sum at risk is a negative

figure or does not exist
(5) The first and second factor are x% and y% respectively

(6) K1 and K2 shall be calculated separately for each row.

Required Solvency Margin (RSM) Factors

First Factor

Second Factor

1.Type: Non-Participating

1.1. Category: Non-Linked:

1.1.1. Division- Individual

1.1.1.1. Sub-Class- Life Business

1.1.1.1.a. Other than term 3.00% 0.30%
1.1.1.1.b. Pure Term 3.00% 0.10%
1.1.1.1.c. Term with ROP 3.00% 0.10%
1.1.1.2. Sub-Class- General Annuity 3.00% 0.00%
1.1.1.3. Sub-Class-Pension 3.00% 0.30%
1.1.1.4. Sub-Class- Health 3.00% 0.00%
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1.1.2. Division: Group Business:

1.1.2.1. Sub-class: Life Business :

1.1.2.1.a. Premiums guaranteed for not more than one year 1.00% 0.10%
1.1.2.1.b. Premiums guaranteed for more than one year 1.00% 0.10%
1.1.2.1.c. Fund Based Non Participating 1.00% 0.10%
1.1.2.1.d Pradhan Mantri Jeevan Jyoti Bima Yojana (PMJJBY) 1.00% 0.05%
1.1.2.2. Sub-class: General Annuity 3.00% 0.00%
1.1.2.3. Sub-class: Pension 3.00% 0.10%
1.1.2.4. Sub-Class- Health 3.00% 0.00%
1.2. Category: Linked :

1.2.1. Division- Individual

1.2.1.1. Sub-Class- Life Business

1.2.1.1.a. with guarantees 1.80% 0.20%
1.2.1.1.b. without guarantees 0.60% 0.20%
1.1.2.2. Sub-class: General Annuity

1.2.1.2.a. with guarantees 1.80% 0.20%
1.2.1.2.b. without guarantees 0.60% 0.20%
1.2.1.3. Sub-Class- Pension

1.2.1.3.a. With guarantees 1.80% 0.20%
1.2.1.3.b. without guarantees 0.60% 0.20%
1.2.1.4. Sub-Class- Health

1.2.1.4. a. With guarantees 1.80% 0.00%
1.2.1.4. b. without guarantees 0.60% 0.00%
1.2.2. Division: Group Business:

1.2.2.1. Sub-Class- Life Business

1.2.2.1.a. with guarantees 1.80% 0.20%
1.2.2.1.b. without guarantees 0.60% 0.20%
1.2.2.2. Sub-Class- General Annuity

1.2.2.2.a. with guarantees 1.80% 0.20%
1.2.2.2.b without guarantees 0.60% 0.20%
1.2.2.3. Sub-Class- Pension

1.2.2.3.a. With guarantees 1.80% 0.20%
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1.2.2.3.b. without guarantees 0.60% 0.20%
1.2.2.4. Sub-Class- Health

1.2.2.4.a. With guarantees 1.80% 0.00%
1.2.2.4.b. without guarantees 0.60% 0.00%
2. Type: Participating

2.1. Category: Non-Linked:

2.1.1. Division- Individual

2.1.1.1. Sub-Class- Life Business 3.00% 0.30%
2.1.1.2. Sub-Class- General Annuity 3.00% 0.00%
2.1.1.3. Sub-Class- Pension 3.00% 0.10%
2.1.1.4. Sub-Class- Health 3.00% 0.00%
2.1.2. Division: Group Business:

2.1.2.1. Sub-class: Life Business :

2.1.2.1.a. Premiums guaranteed for not more than one year 1.00% 0.10%
2.1.2.1.b. Premiums guaranteed for more than one year 1.00% 0.10%
2.1.2.1.c. Fund Based Participating 1.00% 0.10%
2.1.2.2. Sub-class: General Annuity 3.00% 0.00%
2.1.2.3. Sub-class: Pension 3.00% 0.10%
2.1.2.4. Sub-Class- Health 3.00% 0.00%
2.2. Category: Linked :

2.2.1. Division- Individual

2.2.1.1. Sub-Class- Life Business

2.2.1.1.a. with guarantees 1.80% 0.20%
2.2.1.1.b. without guarantees 0.60% 0.20%
2.2.1.2. Sub-Class- General Annuity

2.2.1.2.a. with guarantees 1.80% 0.20%
2.2.1.2.b. without guarantees 0.60% 0.20%
2.2.1.3. Sub-Class- Pension

2.2.1.3.a. With guarantees 1.80% 0.20%
2.2.1.3.b. without guarantees 0.60% 0.20%

2.2.1.4. Sub-Class- Health
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2.2.1.4.a. With guarantees 1.80% 0.00%
2.2.1.4.b. without guarantees 0.60% 0.00%
2.2.2. Division: Group Business:
2.2.2.1. Sub-Class- Life Business
2.2.2.1.a. with guarantees 1.80% 0.20%
2.2.2.1.b. without guarantees 0.60% 0.20%
2.2.2.2. Sub-Class- General Annuity
2.2.2.2.a. with guarantees 1.80% 0.20%
2.2.2.2.b. without guarantees 0.60% 0.20%
2.2.2.3. Sub-Class- Pension
2.2.2.3.a. With guarantees 1.80% 0.20%
2.2.2.3.b. without guarantees 0.60% 0.20%
2.2.2.4. Sub-Class- Health
2.2.2.4. a. With guarantees 1.80% 0.00%
2.2.2.4. b. without guarantees 0.60% 0.00%

Notes:

(1)The Factors Applicable to the Adjustments shall be as per the nature of the Base products
(2)The Factors Applicable to the Riders shall be as per the following table:

Riders

First Factor

Second Factor

For Health Insurance Rider

3.00%

0.00%

For Other than Health Insurance Rider

3.00%

0.10%
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Annexure Actl- 7
Form KT-2
(See clause 2(2) of Part 1l (B) of Schedule- 1)

Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Actuarial, Finance and
Investment Functions of Insurers) Regulations, 2024

Required Solvency Margin based on Assets of Policyholders' Funds as at 31st

March...............
Name of the Insurer: Date of Registration: Form Code:
Classification: Registration Number: Classification Code:
Iltem No. | Category of Asset Notes Amount Third Factor % | Required Solvency
(see Notes Margin
below) Rs.
@ 2). 3) 4) ®)
_Non-Mandated
investments
Corporate Bonds
01 AAA or Equivalent
02 AA or Equivalent
03 A or Equivalent
04 BBB or Equivalent
05 BB or Equivalent
06 B or Equivalent
07 Lower than B
08 Unrated
Mortgages
09 Residential
10 Commercial
Real Estate
11 Residential
12 Commercial
Preference
Shares
13 Listed Preference
Shares
14 Unlisted
Preference
Shares
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Equity
15 Listed Ordinary
Shares
16 Unlisted Ordinary
Shares
17 Total
Note:
(1) Column (5) = Column (3) X Column (4)
(2) Column (4) = zero until further intimation from the Authority

3)

The table should show the amount (in column (3)) which is Balance Sheet Value in
respect of the above mentioned category of asset (where the Balance Sheet is
prepared in accordance with Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India

(Actuarial, Finance and Investment Functions of Insurers) Regulations, 2024

Annexure Actl- 8

(See clause 2(2)

Form KT-3
of Part lll (B) of Schedule- 1)

Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Actuarial, Finance and
Investment Functions of Insurers) Regulations, 2024

Available Solvency Margin and Solvency Ratio as at 31°' March

Name of the Insurer:

Form Code:

Classification:

Classification Code:

Date of Registration:

Registration Number:

Item Description Notes No... Adjusted Value
@ @ ®3) 4
01 |Available Assets in Policyholders' Fund: 2
Deduct:
02 | Mathematical Reserves 3
03 | Other Liabilities 4
04 |Excess in Policyholders' funds
(01-02-03)
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05 | Available Assets in Shareholders Fund: 5
Deduct:
06 | Other Liabilities of shareholders’ fund 4

07 |Excess in Shareholders' funds (05-06)

08 | Total ASM (04)+(07)

09 |Total RSM 6

10 | Solvency Ratio (ASM/RSM)

Certification:

by e, the Appointed Actuary, certify that the above statements have been prepared
in accordance with the section 64VA of the Insurance Act, 1938, as amended from time to time; and
the amounts mentioned therein are true and fair to the best of my knowledge.

Place:

Date:

Name and Signature of Appointed Actuary Name and Signature of CEO

Notes:
1. All figures shall be in thousands;

2. Item No. 01 shall be the amount of the Total Admissible assets for Solvency as mentioned in
Form IRDAI-Assets- AA under Policyholders A/C;

3. Item No. 02 shall be the amount of Mathematical Reserves as mentioned in Form H;
4. ltem Nos. 03 and 06 shall be the amount of other liabilities as mentioned in the Balance Sheet;

5. Items No. 05 shall be the amount of the Total Admissible assets for Solvency as mentioned in
Form IRDAI-Assets- AA under Shareholders A/C;

6. Items No. 09 shall be the sum total of the Required Solvency Margins arrived in the manner as
specified under Form KT-1 and KT-2 of Part Il (B) of Schedule-I of these regulations.
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Annexure Actl- 9
Form S
(See clause 2(2) of Part 1l (B) of Schedule- 1)

Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Actuarial, Finance and
Investment Functions of Insurers) Regulations, 2024

Composition and Distribution of Surplus as at 31° March............

Name of the Insurer: Date of Registration: Form Code
Classification: Registration Number: Classification Code:
Type: Type

Code:

Category: Category Code:

Composition of surplus

Life Pension | General Health Total
Annuity

01 | Surplus emerged during the year

02| Interim bonus paid during the
inter valuation period

03| Terminal Bonus paid during the
inter valuation period.

04 | Loyalty Additions or other forms
of bonuses, if any, paid during the
inter-valuation period

05 | Sums transferred from
shareholders fund during the inter
valuation period

06 | Amount of surplus, from
policyholders' funds, brought
forward from preceding valuation

07| Total Surplus[2] (Sum of items 1
to 6)
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Distribution of surplus

Life Pension General | Health Total
Annuity

01 To Interim Bonuses paid

02 To Terminal Bonuses

03 To Loyalty Additions or any other
forms of bonuses, if any

04 Among policyholders with
immediate participation

05 Among policyholders with
deferred participation

06 Among policyholders in the
discounted bonus class or Cash
Bonus

07 To every reserve fund or other
fund or account

08 As carried forward un-
appropriated

09 To the shareholders’ funds (any
such sums passed through the
accounts  during the inter
valuation period to be separately
stated)

10 Total Surplus allocated (Sum of
items 1to0 9)
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Annexure Actl- 10

FORM IRDAI-GI-TA

(See clause 5 of Part IV of Schedule- 1)

Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Actuarial, Finance and
Investment Functions of Insurers) Regulations, 2024
STATEMENT OF ADMISSIBLE ASSETS as at 31° March............

Name of Insurer:
Registration Number:
Date of registration:

Classification: Business within India/ Total Business

(All amounts in Rupees of Lakhs)

Particulars

Policyholders
AIC

Shareholders
A/C

Total

Investments

Investments Shareholder' SCH 8 (Al)

Policyholders' SCH 8A (A2)

Total Investments as per BS(A) = (Al) + (A2)

Inadmissible investment assets * --- (B)

Fixed assets

Fixed assets as per BS (C)

Inadmissible Fixed assets’ -------- (D)

Current Assets

Cash & Bank Balances as per BS (E)

Advances and Other assets as per BS (F)

Total Current Assets as per BS (G)=(E)

+ (F)
Inadmissible Current assets’ ------- (H)
Loans
Loans as per BS ()

Fair Value Change Account subject to
minimum of zero (J)

Total Assets as per BS (K)y=(A) +(C) +
(G) + (I) (Excluding current liabilities and
provisions)

Total Inadmissible assets (L) = (B) + (D) + (H)
+ (J)

Total Admissible assets for Solvency (K) - (L)
(Excluding current liabilities and provisions)

We certify that the statement has been prepared in accordance with Part IV of Schedule | of these

regulations.
Name and Signature of Appointed Actuary
Name and Signature of Statutory Auditor

Name and Signature of Chief Executive Officer
Place
Date
Note:

1. Inadmissible assets shall be the assets which are placed with zero value as per Part IV of

Schedule | of these regulations
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Annexure Actl-11
FORM IRDAI-GI-TR
(See clause 5 of Part IV of Schedule-l)

Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Actuarial, Finance and
Investment Functions of Insurers) Regulations, 2024

STATEMENT OF LIABILITIES as at 31° March.............

Name of Insurer:
Registration Number:
Date of registration:

Classification: Business within India/ Total Business:

(All amounts in Rupees of Lakhs)

Reserve Gross Net
Reserve Reserve

Unearned Premium Reserves (UPR) .... (a)

Premium Deficiency Reserves (PDR)....(b)

Unexpired Risk Reserves (URR)....(c) = (a) +(b)

Outstanding Claim Reserves (other than IBNR reserve)....(d)

IBNR Reserves.... (e)

Total Reserves for Technical Liabilities ....(f)= (c)+(d)+(e)

Certification
(1) Certification by the Statutory Auditor:

| certify that the above statement represents the liabilities of the insurer which have been determined
in the manner prescribed in the Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Actuarial,
Finance and Investment Functions of Insurers) Regulations, 2024 and amounts of such liabilities are
fair and reasonable. | also further certify that the outstanding claims reserves that are estimated using
statistical methods, PDR and IBNR reserves in the statement above have been determined by the
Appointed Actuary and his/her certificate is furnished below.

Qualifications, if any (in regard to the determination of liabilities):

Place:
Date:

Name and Signature of the Statutory Auditor

(2) Certification by the Appointed Actuary:

| certify that, | have checked the data to the best of my ability and | am satisfied that the data is
consistent, reliable and complete. | also further certify that the outstanding claims reserves that are



[T H—aTE 4] RIS KIS EENS SIS 373

estimated using statistical methods, PDR and IBNR reserves in the statement above have been
determined using actuarial principles and in the manner prescribed in the Insurance Regulatory and
Development Authority of India (Actuarial, Finance and Investment Functions of Insurers)
Regulations, 2024. These reserves, estimated as on the 31* day of March of .......... (year of
investigation) represent, in my opinion, a fair reflection of the expected future experience.

Qualifications, if any:
Name of the Insurer:

Place:
Date:

Name and Signature of the Appointed Actuary
(3) Certification by the Principal officer:
| certify that

(&) Full and accurate particulars of every policy and claim have been furnished to the Appointed
Actuary: <name of the actuary> for the purpose of the determination of Technical Reserves as
on the 31* Day of March of 20XX.

(b) The data provided to the Appointed Actuary reconciles with the Audited Financials as at 31%
Day of March 20XX.

(c) The Appointed Actuary has been made aware of all the information pertaining to underwriting,
claims and reinsurance policies and practices followed by the Insurer.

Qualifications, if any:
Name of the Insurer:
Place:

Date:
Name and Signature of the Principal Officer

(4) Certification by the Chief Financial Officer:

| certify that the UPR has been determined as per the clause 4 of Part Il of Schedule Il of Insurance
Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Actuarial, Finance and Investment Functions of
Insurers) Regulations, 2024.

Qualifications, if any (in regard to determination of UPR):
Name of the Insurer:

Place:
Date:

Name and Signature of the Chief Financial Officer
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Annexure Actl- 12

FORM IRDAI-GI-SM

(See clause 5 of Part IV of Schedule-l)

Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Actuarial, Finance and Investment
Functions of Insurers) Regulations, 2024

Name of Insurer:

STATEMENT OF SOLVENCY MARGIN as at 31° March

Registration Number:
Date of registration:
Classification: Business within India / Total Business:

TABLE - |

TABLE IA: REQUIRED SOLVENCY MARGIN BASED ON NET PREMIUM AND NET INCURRED

CLAIMS
(Al amounts in Rupees of Lakhs)
Item | Line of Gross Net Gross | Net RSM1 |RSM2 |RSM Factor |Factor B
No. Business Premiums Premiums Incurr | Incurred A
ed claims
claims
@) (2 3 4 (5) (6) (1 (8 9 (10) (11)

01 |Fire 0.50 0.50
02 |Marine Cargo 0.60 0.60
03 |Marine — Other 0.50 0.50

than Marine

Cargo
04 |Motor 0.75 0.75
05 |Engineering 0.50 0.50
06 |Aviation 0.50 0.50
07 |Liability 0.75 0.75
08 |Health 0.75 0.75
09 |Miscellaneous 0.70 0.70
10 |Crop Insurance 0.50 0.50

Total

NOTES:

(3) = Gross Written Premium including Inward Reinsurance
(4) = Net Written Premium
(5) = Gross Incurred Claims including impact of Gross IBNR

(6) = Net Incurred Claims including impact of Net IBNR

(3) and (4) are calculated as ‘Trailing 12 Months’ Data’ from the valuation date
(5) and (6) are calculated as Maximum of ‘Trailing 12 Months Data’ and ‘Trailing 36 Months Data

divided by 3’ from the valuation date
(7) RSM 1 in the above table means Required Solvency Margin based on net premiums, and shall be
determined as Twenty Percent (20%) of the amount which is the higher of the Gross Premiums

multiplied by a Factor A as specified in the Table IA and the Net Premiums.

(8) RSM 2 in the above table means Required Solvency Margin based on net incurred claims and
shall be determined as Thirty Percent (30%) of the amount which is the higher of the Gross Incurred
Claims multiplied by a Factor B as specified in the Table above and the Net Incurred Claims.
(9) RSM means Required Solvency Margin and shall be the higher of the amounts of RSM 1 and RSM

2 for each LOB separately.
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Annexure Actl- 12 (Continued)

TABLE IB: AVAILABLE SOLVENCY MARGIN AND SOLVENCY RATIO

Name of Insurer:

Registration Number:
Date of registration:
Classification: Business within India / Total Business

(Al amounts in Rupees of Lakhs)

1) 2 3)
ITEM NO. DESCRIPTION AMOUNT
Policyholder’s Funds
(A) Available assets(as per Form IRDAI-GI-TA)
Deduct:
(B) Current Liabilities as per BS
© Provisions as per BS
(D) Other Liabilities
(E) Excess in Policyholder’s funds (A)-(B)-(C)-(D)
Shareholder’s Funds
(F) Available Assets
Deduct:
(G) Other Liabilities
(H) Excess in Shareholder’s funds (F-G)
() Total ASM (E+H)
@) Total RSM
(K) SOLVENCY RATIO (Total ASM/ Total RSM)

Certification:

|, the Statutory Auditor, hereby certify that the above statements have been prepared in
accordance with the Section 64VA of the Insurance Act, 1938, and the amounts mentioned
therein are true to the best of my knowledge.

Place
Date:

Name and Signature of the Statutory Auditor

Counter signature by

Principal Officer: Appointed Actuary Chief Financial Officer
NOTES:
1. Item A shall be the amount of the Adjusted Value of Assets in respect of policyholders' funds
as mentioned in FORM IRDAI-GI-TA.
2. Item B shall be the amount of Total Liabilities as mentioned in FORM IRDAI-GI-TR.
3. Item C shall be the amount of other liabilities arising in respect of policyholders' funds and as
mentioned in the Balance Sheet.
4. ltem F shall be the amount of the adjusted value of the Total Assets in respect of

shareholders' funds as mentioned in FORM IRDAI- GI-TA.

5. Item G shall be the amount of other liabilities arising in respect of shareholders' funds and as
mentioned in the Balance Sheet.
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Annexure Actl-13
FORM IRDAI-RI-TA
(See clause 5 of Part V of Schedule 1)

Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Actuarial, Finance and Investment
Functions of Insurers) Regulations, 2024

STATEMENT OF ADMISSIBLE ASSETS as at 31° March..........

Name of reinsurer:
Registration Number:
Date of registration:

Classification: Business within India/ Total Business:

(Al amounts in Rupees of Lakhs)

Particulars Policyholders Shareholders Total
AlC A/C

Investments

Investments Shareholder' SCH 8

Policyholders' SCH 8A

Total Investments as per BS (A)

Inadmissible investment assets” --- (B)

Fixed assets

Fixed assets as per BS( C)

Inadmissible Fixed assets *-------- (D)

Current Assets

Cash & Bank Balances as per BS (BE)

Advances and Other assets as per BS (3]
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Particulars

Policyholders
A/C

Shareholders
AlC

Total

Total Current Assets as per BS (G) = (E) + (F)

Inadmissible Current assets®  (H)

Loans

Loans as per BS ()]

Fair Value Change Account subject to minimum
of zero (J)

Total Assets as per BS (K)=(A) + (C) + (G) +
() (Excluding current liabilities and
provisions as applicable)

Total Inadmissible assets (L) = (B) + (D) + (H) +
Q)

Total Admissible assets for Solvency(K) - (L)
(Excluding current liabilities and provisions)

We certify that the statement has been prepared in accordance with clause 3 of Part V of the

Schedule | of these regulations.

Name and Signature of Appointed Actuary/ Actuary**

Name and Signhature of Statutory Auditor

Name and Signhature of Chief Executive Officer

Place:

Date:

NOTES:

1. Inadmissible assets shall be the assets which are placed with zero value as per Part V of

these regulations.

2. **Signature of the actuary certifying the reports of the FRB
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Annexure Actl-14

FORM IRDAI-RI-SM

(See clause 5 of Part V of Schedule I)

Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Actuarial, Finance and Investment

Functions of Insurers) Regulations, 2024

STATEMENT OF AVAILABLE SOLVENCY MARGIN AND SOLVENCY RATIO

as at 31st March..........

Name of reinsurer:

Registration Number:

Date of registration:

Classification: Business within India/ Total Business:

(All amounts in Rupees of Lakhs)

ITEM NO. | DESCRIPTION AMOUNTS
Policyholder's funds

(A) Available Assets (as per form 'Form IRDAI-RI-TA")
Deduct:

(B) Current Liabilities as per Balance Sheet (BS)

(®) Provisions as per BS

(D) Mathematical Reserves as per BS

(E) Other Liabilities as per BS

(@) Excess in Policyholder's funds (A) - (B) - (C) - (D) - (E)
Shareholder's funds

(G) Available Assets (as per form 'Form IRDAI-RI-TA")

Deduct:

(H)

Other Liabilities as per BS

(1)

Excess in Shareholder's funds (G) - (H)

)

Total ASM  (F) + (D)




[T H—aTE 4] RIS KIS EENS SIS 379

(K) RSM (Life Reinsurance Business)

(L) RSM (General Reinsurance Business)

(M) Total RSM (K) + (L)

(N) SOLVENCY RATIO (Total ASM/ Total RSM)

Certification:

| __, the Statutory Auditor, hereby certify that the above statements have been prepared in

accordance with the Section 64VA of the Insurance Act, 1938, and the amounts mentioned
therein are true to the best of my knowledge.

Place

Date:

Name and Signature of the Statutory Auditor

Counter signature by

Appointed Actuary/Actuary** Chief Financial Officer

Principal Officer/ /Chief Executive Officer:

NOTES:

1
2.
3.
4

**Signature of the actuary certifying the reports of the FRB

Items (B) and (C) are applicable for General Reinsurance business

Item (D) is applicable for Life Reinsurance business

Item (K) shall be determined shall be the sum total of the Required Solvency Margins arrived in
the manner as specified under Form KT-1 and KT-2 of Part Ill (B) of Schedule-I of Insurance
Regulatory and Development Authority of India (Actuarial, Finance and Investment Functions of
Insurers) Regulations, 2024.

Item (L) shall be determined as per clause 2 of Part V of Schedule-I of these regulations
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